
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 

September 3, 2024 
9:30 AM 

Bradford County Courthouse 
945 North Temple Avenue 

Starke, Florida 32091 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Chair to call meeting to order. 
 

2. Public Comments 
 

 Three (3) minutes per speaker; 
 Comments will not be accepted after the meeting begins; 
 State your name and address into the record before addressing the board; 
 Address your questions to the board, not county staff; 
 Refrain from demands for an immediate board response; and 
 No boisterous behavior, personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks. 

 
3. Approval of Consent Agenda 

 
A. Meeting Minutes from 08-06-2024 
B. Emergency Meeting Minutes from 08-09-2024 
C. Law Enforcement Salary Assistance for Fiscally Constrained Counties 
D. LSF PO Agreement 
E. Grant for AK maintenance for 911 Phone Systems 
F. Consider Approval of the Annual Certified budget for Mosquito Control, 24-25 

Fiscal Year 
G. Consider Approval of the Updated Personnel Policies and Procedures 
H. TDC Annual Billboard Rental and Vinyl Installation 
I. TDC Billboard Vinyl 
J. TDC Invoice for Give Away Items to Promote Bradford Co. at Rural Co. Days 

Mar. 19-20, 2024 ($4,105) 
K. TDC Registration for Bradford Co 10X20 Booth at Rural Co Days 
L. CONTRACT BETWEEN BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AND STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
FOR THE OPERATION OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT CONTRACT YEAR 2024-2025 

M. A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONER OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A 
LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

N. Consider Approval of Satisfaction of Mortgage on SHIP Purchase File – Mitola 
M&A 

ACTION 



O. Consider Approval of SHIP Rehabilitation Loan Approval In An Amount Not to 
Exceed $35,000 for SHIP File # 2021-1 

P. Consider Approval of SHIP Rehabilitation Loan Approval In An Amount Not to 
Exceed $35,000 for SHIP File # 2021-2 
 

 
4. Proposal from Meridian Behavioral Healthcare, Inc for use of Opioid Abatement 

Funds remaining from the 23-24 State Fiscal Year to fund a Medication Assisted 
Treatment Program 
 

5. Consider Approval of the Purchase of a 2024 Ram 1500 Tradesman 4X4 Crew  
Cab from Murray Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram for $47,095.48 for the US/IFAS Ag 
Extension Office.  
 

6. UF/IFAS Ag Extension Yearly Presentation 
 

7. Clerk Reports – Denny Thompson, Clerk to the Board and Clerk of the Circuit Court 
 

8. Sheriff Reports – Gordon Smith, Sheriff 
 

A. Code Enforcement – Shed/RV Issue 
 

9. County Manager Reports – County Manager, Scott Kornegay 
 

A. Community Planning Technical Assistance Grant Award 
B. Aquatic Plant Removal – Sampson Lake 

 
10. County Attorney Reports – Rob Bradley 

 
11. Commissioner’s Comments 

 
12. Chair’s Comments 

 
 
 
 
 
NOTICE: 
Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, notice is hereby provided that, if a person decides 
to appeal any decision made by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, 
Florida with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or hearing, he or she will need a 
record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence 
upon which the appeal is to be based. 

Information 

ACTION 

Information 

Information 

ACTION 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  September 3, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_       Meeting minutes from 08-06-2024.  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Clerk’s Office  
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
August 6, 2024 

9:30 A.M.  
Charley E. Johns Conference Center  

1610 N. Temple Avenue  
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  

Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick 
      Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 

Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty  
Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 

 
PRESS PRESENT: None  
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; County Attorney Rob Bradley; Clerk of Court Denny Thompson; Chief Deputy Clerk Rachel Rhoden; 
Finance Director Dana LaFollette; Zoning Director Randy Andrews; Public Works Director Jason Dodds; 
Community Development Director Kelly Canady; Sheriff Gordon Smith; Col. Brad Smith; Capt. Brad Witt; 
Tax Collector Teresa Phillips; Alachua County Extension Director Cindy Sanders; and Assistant Library 
Director Kimberly Crawford.  
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 9:39 A.M.  
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING – RANDY ANDREWS, ZONING DIRECTOR  
A. AN ORDINANCE (Ordinance No. 2024-08) OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE PLAN MAP OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 
OR LESS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN APPLICATION, S240502A, BY THE 
PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE, UNDER THE AMENDMENT 
PROCEDURES ESTABLISHED IN SECTIONS 163.3161 THROUGH 163.3248, 
FLORIDA STATUTES, AS AMENDED; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND 
USE CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 
DWELLING 1 UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) 
TO COMMERCIAL OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; REPEALING 
ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Andrews, who read the ordinance title into the record. Chair Spooner opened the 
public hearing for public comments.  
 
Public Comments: 

• Vyunda Strong 
 
After public comments, the public hearing was closed.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the 
ordinance.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 9 
 
 
 

B. AN ORDINANCE (Ordinance No. 2024-09) OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO THE REZONING 
OF TEN OR MORE CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN 
APPLICATION, Z 24-04, BY THE PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; 
PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 
(A-2) TO COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI) OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE 
UNINCORPORATED AREA OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING 
SEVERABILITY; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Andrews, who read the ordinance title into the record. Chair Spooner opened the 
public hearing; there being no response, the public hearing was closed.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Commissioner Andrews to approve 
the ordinance.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

C. AN ORDINANCE (Ordinance No. 2024-10) OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE PLAN MAP OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT OF 50 
OR LESS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN APPLICATION, S240502B, BY THE 
PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE, UNDER THE AMENDMENT 
PROCEDURES ESTABLISHED IN SECTIONS 163.3161 THROUGH 163.3248, 
FLORIDA STATUTES, AS AMENDED; PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE LAND 
USE CLASSIFICATION FROM AGRICULTURE-2 (LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 
DWELLING 1 UNIT PER 5 ACRES, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED FOR IN POLICY I.2.2) 
TO COMMERCIAL OF CERTAIN LANDS WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; REPEALING 
ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Andrews, who read the ordinance title into the record. Chair Spooner opened the 
public hearing; there being no response, the public hearing was closed.  
 
It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Dougherty to approve the 
ordinance.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

D. AN ORDINANCE (Ordinance No. 2024-11) OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING ATLAS OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS, AS AMENDED; RELATING TO THE REZONING 
OF TEN OR MORE CONTIGUOUS ACRES OF LAND, PURSUANT TO AN 
APPLICATION, Z 24-05, BY THE PROPERTY OWNER OF SAID ACREAGE; 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 9 
 
 
 

PROVIDING FOR CHANGING THE ZONING DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL-2 
(A-2) AND INDUSTRIAL (I) TO COMMERCIAL, INTENSIVE (CI) OF CERTAIN 
LANDS WITHIN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES IN 
CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Mr. Andrews, who read the ordinance title into the record. Chair Spooner opened the 
public hearing; there being no response, the public hearing was closed.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Commissioner Dougherty to approve 
the ordinance.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0 
 

3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
• Carol Mosley  
• Paul Still  
• Bonnie Cannone 
• Kate Ellison  
• Marshall Clayton Rawson 
• Brandon Elixson  
• Vyunda Strong  
• Nansee Markham  

 
4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. MEETING MINUTES FROM 06-20-2024. 
B. MEETING MINUTES FROM 07-02-2024. 
C. CHANGE ORDER NO. 2 FOR SHIP REHAB FILE 2019-7-S, IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$10,637.50. 
D. DEVIATION FROM SHIP LHAP ON SHIP REHAB FILE 2019-7-S. 
E. SHIP REHAB LOAN, NOT TO EXCEED $35,000 FOR SHIP FILE 2020-6-S.  
F. A RESOLUTION (Resolution No. 2024-08) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION OF AN AMENDMENT WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION; PROVIDING FOR THE DESIGNATION OF 
A SIGNATORY FOR SAID AGREEMENT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

G. AVMED RATES FOR 2024-2025. 
H. RFQ 2024-001 FOR CONTINUING CONTRACTS FOR ENGINEERING AND/OR 

SURVEY AND MAPPING SERVICES.  
 
Discussion: 

• Clarification that item 4(G) adopts option 3 renewal.  
 
 
 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 4 of 9 
 
 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Commissioner Andrews to approve 
the consent agenda.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0   
 

5. A RESOLUTION (Resolution No. 2024-09) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
OF BRADFORD COUNTY FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE ANNUAL PROVISION AND 
FUNDING OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND FACILITIES WITHIN THE COUNTY; 
PROVIDING FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE BENEFIT UNIT AND THE IMPOSITION OF FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENTS THEREIN; ESTIMATING THE TOTAL AMOUNT TO BE FUNDED 
THROUGH THE FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; 
ESTABLISHING THE METHOD OF ASSESSING REAL PROPERTY SPECIALLY 
BENEFITED BY THE COUNTY’S PROVISION OF FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES AND 
FACILITIES; DESIGNATING THE COUNTY MANAGER OR DESIGNEE THEREOF AS 
ASSESSMENT COORDINATOR TO PREPARE A PRELIMINARY FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; ESTABLISHING A PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER IMPOSITION 
OF THE FIRE PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25; DIRECTING 
THE PROVISION OF NOTICE IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized County Attorney Rob Bradley who read the resolution title into the record.  
 
Discussion: 

• Comments in favor of levying the fire assessment tax in fiscal year (FY) 24-25.  
• Comments in favor of levying the fire assessment tax in FY 25-26.  
• Comments not in favor of levying any new taxes in the current economic state.  
• Comments confirming that the board can levy the fire assessment tax at any time after adoption of 

resolution.  
• Comments in favor of holding workshops to discuss the fire assessment and fire rescue operations.   
• Comments expressing thanks to Chief Carter and County Manager Kornegay on addressing questions 

about the fire assessment. 
• Comments in favor of funding the fire operations at the 50% assessment rate.  

 
It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Dougherty to approve the 
resolution.  
 
Motion Fails 4-1 (Vice Chair Riddick assenting vote) 
 

6. A RESOLUTION (Res. No. 2024-10) OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA OPPOSING THE PRO-ABORTION AMENDMENT TO 
FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.  

 
Discussion: 

• Comments for and against the resolution.  



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 5 of 9 
 
 
 

It was MOVED by Vice Chair Riddick and SECONDED by Commissioner Dougherty to adopt the 
resolution.  
 
Motion Carries 4-1 (Chair Spooner dissenting vote)  
 

7. CONTRACT AGREEMENT WITH ROADWAY MANAGEMENT TECHNOLOGIES (RMT) 
FOR HARDWARE/SOFTWARE TO PROACTIVELY PROVIDE THE LEVEL OF ROADWAY 
DETERIORATION THROUGHOUT THE COUNTY - $50,000 ANNUALLY – JASON DODDS, 
PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR.  

 
Discussion: 

• Service will be paid for from gas tax revenue.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by to Vice Chair Riddick to approve item 
7. 
 
Motion Carries 5-0   

 
8. PERMISSION TO EXTEND LEASE AND PURCHASE EQUIPMENT – JASON DODDS, 

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR.  
A. EXTEND AN EXPIRED LEASE ON 644 JOHN DEERE LOADER (SERIAL NUMBER 

1DW644KZTKF696199) FOR 2 YEARS AT A COST OF $20,625.92 PER YEAR, WITH A 
BUYOUT OPTION OF $133,929.56 AT THE END OF THE 2-YEAR LEASE 
AGREEMENT.  

B. RETURN EXPIRED LEASE EQUIPMENT – 644 JOHN DEERE LOADER (SERIAL 
NUMBER 1DW644KZCKF696234).  

C. PURCHASE A 2022 JOHN DEERE 2441 COMPACT WHEEL LOADER FOR A COST 
OF $93,700. 

 
Discussion -none  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Thompson and SECONDED by Commissioner Dougherty to approve 
item 8 A-C.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0   
 
Mr. Dodds thanked the sheriff’s office, fire rescue, FPL, Clay Electric, and the community with assisting in 
storm recovery efforts.  
 

9. INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN BOARDS OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
ALACHUA, BRADFORD, COLUMBIA, DIXIE, GILCHRIST, AND UNION REGARDING 
LOCAL WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AREA 26. 

 
Chair Spooner recognized Phillis Marty, Chief Executive Officer of CareerSource North Central Florida to 
present an interlocal agreement for local workforce development – area 26, for board consideration.   



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 6 of 9 
 
 
 

Discussion: 
• One representative represents the interests of each county mentioned in the interlocal agreement.  
• Remarks highlighting the necessity of ensuring the availability of resources at the local HUBS and the 

local office.  
• CareerSource partnership with Communities in Schools (CIS) in Bradford County.  
• In the prior year, Bradford County reimbursed the state for disallowable costs with CareerSource. 

Moving forward, liability insurance will be in place to reduce the risk of disallowed expenses.  
 
Chair Spooner recognized Cindy DeValerio, executive director for Bradford County CIS to present the 
following highlights of the CIS program:  

• Served 110 students, grades 6th through 12th.  
• Offer scholarships: three partial scholarships; five two-year scholarships; and added six new 

scholarships.  
• Program has 5 part-time employees. 
• Fundraising activities, such as monthly bingo games and an annual golf tournament.  
• Life Spring Church provided Christmas support to 21 underprivileged students.  
• Backpack Weekend program benefited 117 students in the district, with 18 of those students coming 

from Bradford County 
• The school district provides in-kind services, such as office space, phones, computers, and internet.  
• The Hanger: a resource room for clothes, work materials, school supplies, shoes, and other items.  
• Partnered with Achievers for Life Club to implement a tobacco-free initiative. 
• All enrolled students received 100% of their diplomas.  
• CIS is able to work with students in a summer youth employment program because of funding provided 

by CareerSource.  
 
Discussion: 

• Positive comments on fundraising events such as Bingo.  
 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Dougherty and SECONDED by Commissioner Andrews to approve 
the agreement as presented.  
 
Motion Carries 5-0   
 

10. CONSIDER FUNDING $8,000 OF AN ESTIMATED $10,000 FOR AQUATIC PLANT 
SHREDDING FOR THE OVERGROWTH IN LAKE SAMPSON WHERE WATER FLOWS 
FROM THE LAKE INTO THE SAMPSON RIVER CANAL. BSWCD (BRADFORD SOIL 
WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT) APPROVED TO FUND $2,000 TOWARDS THE 
ESTIMATED COST.  

 
Chair Spooner recognized Commissioner Andrews who recommended that agenda item 10 be tabled once an 
actual quote is submitted. The board was in consensus to table the agenda item 10. 
 
 
 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 7 of 9 
 
 
 

11. OPIOID ABATEMENT FUNDING ALLOCATION – USE OF UNSPENT FUNDS - $87,271.84  
 
Chair Spooner opened discussion from the board on use of unspent opioid abatement funds.  
 
Discussion:  

• Interest expressed in allocating the unspent opioid abatement funds to Meridian for opioid treatment.  
• Interest expressed to partner with the jail to help inmates and their families who are affected by 

substance abuse.  
 

12. CLERK REPORTS – DENNY THOMPSON  
A. PRESENTATION OF TENTATIVE FISCAL-YEAR (FY) 2024-2025 BUDGET 

SUMMARY. 
 
Clerk Thompson recognized Finance Director Dana LaFollette who presented the board with a tentative budget 
summary for FY 2024-2025, totaling $75,532,884.00 (not including Florida Department of Transportation 
grants). Ms. LaFollette advised that there is enough money in the unrestricted general fund balance of 
$13,885,812 to handle two months' worth of emergency recurring expenses. 
 
Clerk Thompson cautioned the board on county spending.    
 
Discussion -none 
 

13. SHERIFF REPORTS – GORDON SMITH 
 
Sheriff Smith recognized Captain Brad Witt who gave a brief report on impacts to Bradford County from 
Hurricane Debby and efforts made by multiple agencies to respond to said hurricane.  
 
Discussion: 

• Comments expressing gratitude of all agencies responding to Hurricane Debby. 
 

14. COUNTY MANAGER REPORTS – SCOTT KORNEGAY 
A. COMMUNITY RESOURCE PARAMEDICINE PROGRAM UPDATE.  

 
Mr. Kornegay recognized Lt. David Weeks who presented a PowerPoint presentation on the paramedicine 
program highlighting the following:  

- Program statistics 
- Expired drug intake program 
- Memorandums of agreement with The Arc, Meridian, Answers, and Florida Health 
- Community mobile support unit 
- MAT (medicated aided treatment) planning process 
- Future plans for the paramedicine program 

 
Mr. Kornegay reported that the new county website is live and provided positive comments on agency response 
to Hurricane Debby.  
 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 8 of 9 
 
 
 

Discussion – none 
 

15. COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS – ROB BRADLEY  
 
In response to a question made during public comments on how agricultural land is taxed, Mr. Bradley said that 
in order to receive the agricultural designation for assessment purposes, the property owner must apply to the 
property appraiser annually. The property appraiser's office will conduct an on-site inspection to ascertain 
whether the land is eligible for the agriculture designation.  
 

16. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS  
 
Commissioner Andrews 

• Mr. Bradley informed Ms. Andrews that the assessment process is the same for everyone in answer to 
her question about how taxes are calculated for property owners who reside on both public and private 
roads. 

• In response to Ms. Andrews question about why the county cannot work on private roads when the 
property owners pay the same taxes as everyone else, Mr. Bradley explained that the concept is based on 
the fact that the developer did not invest much to develop the property; consequently, the property was 
sold at a reduced price compared to properties that are county maintained. 

 
Commissioner Dougherty  

• Remarks acknowledging Clerk Thompson's earlier recommendation that the county reject developments 
that do not adhere to specific conditions set by the county, or that the buyer of a piece of property needs 
to acknowledge that they are buying onto a private road.  

• Comments on the need to addresses questions and concerns regarding emergency operations before 
imposing a new revenue source.  

 
Vice Chair Riddick  

• Read into the record the resolution adopted by the board opposing the pro-abortion amendment to the 
Florida Constitution.  

 
17. CHAIR’S COMMENTS  
 

 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 12:15 p.m.  
 
 
 
        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 



August 6, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 9 of 9 
 
 
 

 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  September 3, 2024 
    
AGENDA ITEM_       Emergency meeting minutes from 08-09-2024.  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Clerk’s Office  
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
August 9, 2024 

3:30 P.M.  
Gov Charley E. Johns Conference Center 

1601 North Temple Avenue 
Starke, Florida 32091 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Commissioner District 1 – Chair Carolyn Spooner  
      Commissioner District 4 – Vice-Chair Danny Riddick 

Commissioner District 5 – Diane Andrews 
 
BOARD MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:  Commissioner District 2 – Kenny Thompson 

Commissioner District 3 – Joseph C. Dougherty  
 
PRESS PRESENT: Bradford County Telegraph 
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: County Manager Scott Kornegay; Executive Assistant Amanda 
Brown; Finance Director Dana LaFollette; Col. Brad Smith; Sheriff Gordon Smith; Captain Brad Witt; Lt. Weeks; 
Captain Mobley; and Tax Collector Teresa Phillips.  
 
STAFF MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE ON THE PHONE: County Attorney Rich Komando and Fire Rescue 
Chief Ben Carter 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Spooner called the meeting to order at 3:36 P.M.   
 

2. DECLARATION OF NEED FOR EMERGENCY MEETING  
 

A. DUE TO THE CONDITIONS OBSERVED ON NW 112TH AVE, BROOKER, FL 32044, A 
PRIVATELY-OWNED ROAD, AN EMERGENCY MEETING HAS BEEN CALLED BY 
COMMISSIONER ANDREWS TO DISCUSS THE CONDITION OF THE ROAD AFTER 
THE DAMAGE FROM HURRICANE DEBBY AND THE POSSIBILITY OF 
AUTHORIZING REPAIR. 

 
It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Chair Spooner to declare the meeting an 
emergency. (Chair Spooner passed the gavel to Vice-Chair Riddick to second the motion.) 
 
Motion Carries 2-1 (Vice-Chair Riddick dissenting vote) 
 

3. NW 112TH AVE, BROOKER, FL 32044 – REPAIR OF PRIVATE ROAD  
 

A. TO AUTHORIZE EXPENDITURE OF PUBLIC FUNDS FOR USE ON PRIVATE 
PROPERTY, THE BOARD MUST ESTABLISH THAT: 
1. THE ROAD IS IMPASSIBLE; AND 
2. ACTION TAKEN WILL SERVE A PUBLIC BENEFIT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



August 9, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 

Public Comments: Chair spooner opened the meeting for public comments. 
• Jassie Crews 
• Paul Still 
• Brandon Breedlove 
• Jessica Henshaw-Soulsby 
• Mary Bose 
• Carol Mosley 

 
Discussion: after public comments, Chair Spooner opened with discussion from the board and county staff:  

• Repairs should include SW 113th Avenue and C.R. 18.  
• According to Chief Carter and Capt. Mobley, the following vehicles can or cannot access Riverbend: 
 Tanker Truck – no, cannot access  
 Fire Truck – no, cannot access  
 Brush Truck – would be difficult to access 
 Ambulance – would be difficult to access 
 Polaris Ranger MERV – yes, can access  

• Concerns expressed with working on private roads.   
• FEMA reimbursement is not guaranteed even if conditions are met, reimbursement is at 25%, the 

reimbursement process is lengthy. Reimbursement on private properties is questionable.  
• County-owned lime rock material at Keystone Airport was purchased with monies from a DEO jobs 

growth grant. The lime rock cannot be utilized for any other purpose.   
• It was verified that lime rock held by the county is available and may be utilized to fix the private road.  
• County Attorney Rich Komando stated that so long as the board can make the two findings: 1) the road is 

impassable; and 2) action taken will serve a public benefit, he was fine with the residents fixing the private 
road themselves and the county providing the lime rock material.  

• Children waiting for the school bus will benefit from repairs to the intersection of C.R. 18 and S.W. 113th. 
Currently, due to the state of the private road, the children are standing on C.R. 18. 
 

It was MOVED by Commissioner Andrews and SECONDED by Vice Chair Riddick to approve the use of 
public funds on private roads N.W. 112th Avenue and portions of S.W. 113th Avenue at the intersection of 
C.R. 18, providing materials exclusively, and giving residents back any dirt that the county excavates.  
 
Motion Carries 3-0  
 
ADJOURN: There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 4:50 p.m.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



August 9, 2024 
BoCC Meeting Minutes  
 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 

        BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
               
        CAROLYN SPOONER, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
DENNY THOMPSON, CLERK TO THE BOARD 
       
 
MINUTES PREPARED BY:          
     RACHEL RHODEN, CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK 
 
 
 
Minutes approved by the BOCC during a scheduled meeting on:       



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Law Enforcement Salary Assistance for Fiscally Constrained 

Counties  
 
DEPARTMENT:    Bradford County Sheriff’s Office 
 
PURPOSE: Grant award from the Florida Department of Law 

Enforcement to provide financial assistance to the Sheriff’s 
office for salary increases for deputy sheriffs and correctional 
officers employes by the Sheriff’s office or Board of County 
Commissioners. 

 
REVENUE: $703,809.00  
 
  



Agreement for State Financial Assistance Between  
Florida Department of Law Enforcement 

 and   
Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 

 
 

AWARD AGREEMENT 

Award Number: ME002 
 
Project Title:  Law Enforcement Salary Assistance for Fiscally Constrained Counties 

Award Period: 07/01/2024 – 06/30/2025 

Awarded Funds: $703,809.00 

FLAIR Vendor ID: 596000519  
 

CSFA Catalog Number: 71.067  
 

 
This Agreement is entered into by and between the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (herein referred to as 
“FDLE” or “Department”) and Bradford County Board of County Commissioners (herein referred to as “Recipient”) 
on behalf of Bradford County Sheriff’s Office (herein referred to as “Recipient’s Sheriff”) and 

 
WHEREAS the Department has the authority pursuant to Florida law and does hereby agree to provide state 
financial assistance to the Recipient’s Sheriff in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this 
agreement, and 

 
WHEREAS the Department has available funds resulting from a specific appropriation in The General 
Appropriations Act, 2024 Legislature, Section 4, Specific Appropriation 1290, intended to provide funding for costs 
of allowable activities as defined in the agreement, and; 

 
WHEREAS, the Recipient represents that it is fully qualified, possesses the requisite skills, knowledge, qualifications 
and experience to carry out the state project identified herein, and, through the Recipient’s Sheriff, does offer to 
perform such services,   

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
This agreement is subject to the Special Conditions outlined in Appendix A and all applicable state financial assistance 
Standard Conditions provided in Appendix B. 

 
The General Appropriations Act contains the following proviso language and provides information on the legislative 
intent for the use of these funds: 

 
“From the funds in Specific Appropriation 1290, $20,906,784 in recurring funds from the General Revenue 
Fund is provided for salary increases for deputy sheriffs and correctional officers employed by sheriff’s office 
or boards of county commissioners in fiscally constrained counties, as defined in section 218.67(1), Florida 
Statutes, as follows: 

  



Page 2 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Baker County Sheriff's Office $292,754 
Bradford County Sheriff's Office $703,809 
Calhoun County Sheriff's Office $434,740 
Columbia County Sheriff's Office $1,378,388 
Desoto County Sheriff's Office $521,994 
Dixie County Sheriff's Office $690,634 
Franklin County Sheriff's Office $539,122 
Gadsden County Sheriff's Office $657,697 
Gilchrist County Sheriff's Office $486,422 
Glades County Sheriff's Office $384,974 
Gulf County Sheriff's Office $246,637 
Hamilton County Sheriff's Office $271,011 
Hardee County Sheriff's Office $361,259 
Hendry County Sheriff's Office $786,812 
Highlands County Sheriff's Office $1,243,984 
Holmes County Sheriff's Office $835,559 
Jackson County Sheriff's Office $1,303,272 
Jefferson County Sheriff's Office $342,814 
Lafayette County Sheriff's Office $388,927 
Levy County Sheriff's Office $1,085,884 
Liberty County Sheriff's Office $626,077 
Madison County Sheriff's Office $640,569 
Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office $1,082,591 
Putnam County Sheriff's Office $1,481,134 
Suwannee County Sheriff's Office $794,717 
Taylor County Sheriff's Office $379,704 
Union County Sheriff's Office $388,663 
Wakulla County Sheriff's Office $859,538 
Washington County Sheriff's Office $785,234 
Jackson County Board of County Commissioners $803,294 
Gulf County Board of County Commissioners $108,660 

 
Funds shall be distributed in quarterly advances and reconciled at the conclusion of each state fiscal year. 
By October 7, 2024, the sheriff’s offices and boards of county commissioners shall report to the Florida 
Sheriff’s Association how funds were distributed to officers.” 

 
This award is subject to the following special conditions: 

 
S0001 Prior to distribution of any funding under the terms of this agreement, the Recipient’s Sheriff must 

provide to FDLE’s Office of Criminal Justice Grants a Spending Plan which details how salary 
increases funded under this agreement shall be distributed to officers. 

 
S0002 The Recipient’s Sheriff shall provide to the Florida Sheriff’s Association, no later than October 07, 

2024, a report detailing how funds were distributed to officers 
 
S0003 The Recipient’s Sheriff must provide to FDLE’s Office of Criminal Justice Grants, on a quarterly 

basis, a completed “Quarterly Payroll Certification Form.” 
  



Page 3 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Section I: Definitions  
 

Expenditure Tracking: The actual expenditures made using funds extended under this agreement. Expenditures 
made with these funds must be tracked separately from other funds, including other salary dollars, and be easily 
identifiable within the Recipient Sheriff’s payroll system. 
Payroll Register: A ledger report from the Recipient Sheriff’s payroll system detailing the amount of salary and 
benefits paid to each employee impacted under the terms of this agreement. 

 
Proof of Payment: Proof of payment may include pay stubs, payroll registers, and timesheets, and must be 
maintained and made available to the Department upon request and/or during monitoring. 

 
Quarterly Payroll Certification Form: A report certifying payroll amounts paid to each employee whose salary is 
impacted under the terms of this agreement. The Recipient’s Sheriff shall use the Quarterly Payroll Certification 
Form provided by FDLE. The payroll report must provide all information requested, including: 

 
1. The gross amount of salary and benefits paid to each affected employee from funds allocated in the local 

operating budget. 
 

2. The gross amount of salary and benefits paid to each affected employee from funds advanced under the terms 
of this contract which support a salary increase over and above that paid from the agency’s local operating 
budget. 

 
Quarterly Reporting Periods: For purposes of this agreement, Quarterly Reporting Periods are based upon the 
2024-2025 fiscal year for the State of Florida, which begins July 1, 2024 and ends June 30, 2025. 

 
Spending Plan: A document provided by the Recipient’s Sheriff detailing the manner in which the salary increases 
funded under this agreement shall be distributed to officers. 

 
 Section II: Project Overview  

 
The 2024-2025 budget for the State of Florida, passed by the Florida Legislature and signed by Governor Ron 
DeSantis on June 12, 2024, includes an appropriation of $20,906,874 in recurring funds to FDLE to provide “for 
salary increases for deputy sheriffs and correctional officers employed by sheriff’s offices or boards of county 
commissioners in fiscally constrained counties, as defined in section 218.67(1), Florida Statutes.” 

 
The amount provided to each fiscally constrained county is established by the 2024-2025 General Appropriations 
Act and the funds received by FDLE as a result of this appropriation will be passed through to those counties in the 
prescribed amounts. Disbursements will be made in equal, quarterly distributions, provided that contract conditions 
are met. 

 
In accordance with statute, funds advanced under the terms of this agreement must be utilized by the Recipient’s 
Sheriff for salary increases to deputy sheriffs and correctional officers employed by the Sheriff’s Office of the 
Recipient. The Recipient, through its Sheriff’s Office, shall perform all tasks and activities, and provide budget, 
expenditure, performance, and other reports as prescribed herein or required by statute. 

 
The State of Florida's performance and obligation to pay under this agreement is contingent upon an appropriation 
by the Legislature, and subject to any modification in accordance with Chapter 216, Florida Statutes or the Florida 
Constitution. 
 
Expenditures of state financial assistance shall be compliant with laws, rules, and regulations specified in Florida 
Statutes including, but not limited to, the following: 

• The Single Audit Act, Chapter 215.97, Florida Statutes; 
• Agreements Funded with State Financial Assistance, Chapter 215.971, Florida Statutes; and 
• Transparency in Government Spending, Chapter 215.985, Florida Statutes. 

  



Page 4 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Recipient and Recipient’s Sheriff Responsibilities: 
 

Through its Sheriff’s Office, the Recipient shall provide county law enforcement and corrections services on a regular 
and ongoing basis during the 2024-2025 contract period. 

 
The Recipient Sheriff’s Office will strive to maintain adequate staffing levels and services based upon the specific 
needs of the community it serves and in accordance with established policies and procedures. 

 
The Recipient shall provide a copy of the current year’s annual budget for the Sheriff’s Office with the executed copy 
of this agreement. In addition, the Recipient’s Sheriff must provide a copy of the Recipient Sheriff’s spending plan 
for distribution of this funding. No funds will be advanced prior to receipt of these items. Additionally, a copy of the 
2024-2025 budget for the Sheriff’s Office must be provided at the beginning of the Recipient’s fiscal year, but no 
later than November 1, 2024. 

 
Funding provided to the Recipient will not exceed the amount specified in the 2024-2025 General Appropriations 
Act. Allowable costs are limited to salaries and benefits for deputy sheriffs and corrections officers employed by the 
Recipient Sheriff’s Office. 

 
Deliverables: 

 
As stated in the scope and responsibilities above, the Recipient will provide, through its Sheriff’s Office, ongoing law 
enforcement and corrections services, where applicable, to the community it serves. The Recipient’s Sheriff shall 
ensure files are maintained to substantiate the hours of law enforcement and corrections services provided and the 
amounts paid for those services. Expenditures paid under this agreement are intended to provide increases to 
salaries currently paid by Recipient’s Sheriff to deputy sheriffs and corrections officers who provide those services. 
Supporting documentation for the deliverables and use of funds must be made available to FDLE in accordance 
with specifications and deadlines prescribed herein. 

 
For payment purposes, the Recipient will receive a quarterly advance initiated by the Department after its return of 
this executed agreement, Spending Plan, and current Sheriff’s Office budget. 

 
Any state funds provided to the Recipient under this agreement that are determined to be utilized for ineligible 
expenditures, or which remain unspent at the end of the state fiscal year (June 30, 2025), must be returned to the 
Department no later than July 31, 2025. The Department's determination of acceptable expenditures shall be 
conclusive. 

 
Financial Consequences and Other Requirements: 

 
If the Recipient’s Sheriff’s Office fails to provide law enforcement or corrections services as outlined in this 
Agreement, additional distributions of cash will be withheld. Future funding under this program may also be 
jeopardized. 

 
In the event the Recipient’s Sheriff’s Office ceases provision of law enforcement or corrections services during this 
contract period, a final report shall be submitted to the Department which includes the actual salary costs of impacted 
employees from the beginning of this contract through the date the provision of services ceased. The actual costs 
will be compared to the distributions to date, and any state funds in excess of eligible funds expended must be 
refunded to the Department by July 31, 2025. 

 
 Section III: Payments and Financial Reports  

 
Funds will be disbursed to the Recipient based upon the amount specified in the 2024-2025 General Appropriations 
Act for this purpose. Prior to any distribution of funding, the following must be provided to the Department:  
copy of this fully executed contract; and 

 
• A Spending Plan detailing the method of distribution for these salary dollars; and 
• A copy of the current fiscal year budget for the Recipient’s Sheriff. 



Page 5 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Upon execution of this agreement and provision of the required items detailed above, the Recipient shall be eligible 
to receive quarterly payments as outlined in this agreement. Advance payments will be issued in equal, quarterly 
disbursements, no earlier than July 1, 2024. Funding provided under this program is subject to the availability of 
appropriated funds and any modifications or additional requirements that may be imposed by law. 

 
The Recipient and Department agree that quarterly certification reports and payroll registers shall be provided by 
the 15th day of the month following the end of each fiscal year quarter, specifically: 

 
• October 15, 2024 
• January 15, 2025 
• April 15, 2025 
• July 15, 2025 

 
The Recipient may only retain funds up to an amount equal to the actual amount of salary increases paid to deputy 
sheriffs and correctional officers employed by the Sheriff’s Office between July 1, 2024 and June 30, 2025. After 
the close of the 2024-2025 state fiscal year, the amount distributed under this agreement will be compared to the 
actual amount of payroll expenditures as disclosed in the required “Quarterly Payroll Certification Form.” Any state 
funds received in excess of the supplemental salary amount paid, as well as any balance of unobligated funds, 
must be refunded to the Department no later than July 31, 2025 or 31 days after notification by the Department. 

 
Expenditures incurred outside the agreement period (July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025) are not eligible to be paid with 
these funds. 

 
The Recipient and the Recipient’s Sheriff must establish procedures to accept payments during the contract period 
and maintain supporting documentation including payroll registers, general ledgers, paystubs, and timesheets as 
proof of payment for all expenditures made with state funds distributed under the terms of this agreement. 

 
No request for payment shall be made, nor shall any such request be honored, for any activity not covered by this 
agreement; and no monies distributed to the Recipient shall be used for any purpose or to fund any operations 
unrelated to this agreement. 



Page 6 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067 

Administration 

Changes to the following points of contact and chief officials below must be submitted to FDLE Office of Criminal Justice 
Grants in writing.   

Grant Manager Chief Official Contact 
Name   Melissa Hewitt Name  Carolyn Spooner 

Title  Executive Assistant Title  Chair 
Address  PO Box 400 Address  945 N. Temple Avenue 

City/ST/Zip Starke, Florida 32091 City/ST/Zip Starke, Florida 32091 
Phone 904-966-6307 Phone 904-966-6327
Email  melissa_hewitt@bradfordsheriff.org Email  bocc@bradfordcountyfl.gov 

Chief Financial Officer Alternative Point-of-Contact 
Name  Carson Denny Thompson Name  Brad Smith 

Title  Clerk of Court Title  Colonel 
Address  PO Box Drawer B Address  PO Box 400 

City/ST/Zip Starke, Florida 32091 City/ST/Zip Starke, Florida 32091 
Phone 904-966-6281 Phone 904-966-6303
Email  denny_thompson@bradfordcountyfl.gov Email  brad_smilh@bradfordsheriff.org 

Grant Manager: This individual serves as the primary point-of-contact for the grant, project activities, responsible for all 
performance and financial reporting, and overall compliance with the grant agreement. 

Chief Official: This individual is the head of the recipient agency. Note: If using a Chief Official Designee, the application 
must include a copy of the written authorization of signature authority (official letter from the chief official, ordinance, 
charter, etc.) approving the individual for signature authority. 

Chief Financial Officer: This individual is responsible for the entity’s accounting system, financial and records 
management, and certifying the financial claim reports that are submitted for payment. 

Alternative Point-of-Contact: This individual serves as the alternative point-of-contact for this award if the primary 
point-of-contact is unavailable. 



Page 7 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Award Signatures 
 
The Recipient certifies with respect to this agreement that it possesses the legal authority to receive the funds to be 
provided under this agreement and that, if applicable, its governing body has authorized, by resolution or otherwise, 
the execution and acceptance of this agreement with all covenants and assurances contained herein.  The Recipient 
also certifies that the undersigned possesses the authority to legally execute and bind Recipient to the terms of this 
agreement. 

 
In witness whereof, the parties affirm they each have read and agree to the conditions set forth in this agreement, have 
read and understand the agreement in its entirety and have executed this agreement by their duly authorized officers 
on the date, month and year set out below. 

 
 

Corrections on this page, including strikeovers, whiteout, etc. are not permitted. 
 
 
 

Florida Department of Law Enforcement 
Office of Criminal Justice Grants 

 
Signature:  

 
Typed Name and Title: Cody Menacof, Bureau Chief 

 
Date:  

 
 
 

Recipient 
Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 

 
Signature:  

 
Typed Name and Title: Carolyn Spooner, Chair 

 
Date:  

 
 

THIS CONTRACT IS NOT VALID UNTIL SIGNED AND DATED BY ALL PARTIES 
  



Page 8 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Appendix A: Special Conditions 
              
Award Number: ME002       

Recipient: Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 
Project Title Law Enforcement Salary Assistance for Fiscally Constrained Counties 

Award Period: 07/01/2024 – 06/30/2025       
              
              
In addition to the attached standard conditions, the above-referenced grant project is subject to the special 
conditions set forth below. 
              
S0001 Prior to distribution of any funding under the terms of this agreement, the Recipient’s 

Sheriff must provide to FDLE’s Office of Criminal Justice Grants a Spending Plan 
which details how salary increases funded under this agreement shall be distributed 
to officers. 

  
S0002 The Recipient’s Sheriff shall provide to the Florida Sheriff’s Association, no later than 

October 7, 2024, a report detailing how funds were distributed to officers.  
  
S0003 The Recipient’s Sheriff must provide to FDLE’s Office of Criminal Justice Grants, on 

a quarterly basis, a completed “Quarterly Payroll Certification Form.” 
  
 
 
  



Page 9 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

 Appendix B: State Financial Assistance Standard Conditions  
 

The following terms and conditions will be binding upon 
approval of the grant award and completion of the 
Certificate of Acceptance by the Recipient. The 
Recipient will maintain required registrations and 
certifications for eligibility under this program. 

 
The Department and the Recipient agree that they do 
not contemplate the development, transfer or receipt of 
intellectual property as a part of this agreement. 

 
The Recipient certifies with respect to this agreement 
that it possesses the legal authority to receive the funds 
to be provided under this agreement and that, if 
applicable, its governing body has authorized, by 
resolution or otherwise, the execution and acceptance 
of this agreement with all covenants and assurances 
contained herein. The Recipient also certifies that the 
undersigned possesses the authority to legally execute 
and bind Recipient to the terms of this agreement. 

 
I. PAYMENTS  

 
Overpayments 
Any funds paid in excess of the amount to which the 
Recipient is entitled under the terms and conditions of 
the agreement must be refunded to the Department. 

 
Any balance of unobligated cash that have been 
advanced or paid that is not authorized to be retained 
for direct program costs in a subsequent period must 
be refunded to the state. 

 
II. PROJECT AND GRANT MANAGEMENT  

 
Personnel Changes 
In the event there is a change in Chief Officials or 
Project Director for the Recipient or any contact 
information to include mailing address, phone number, 
email or title change, the Recipient must notify the 
FDLE grant manager. 

 
Obligation of Grant Funds 
Grant funds shall not under any circumstances be 
obligated prior to the effective date, or subsequent to 
the termination date, of the period of performance. Only 
project costs incurred on or after the effective date, and 
on or prior to the termination date of the Recipient's 
project are eligible for reimbursement. All payments 
must be completed within thirty (30) days of the end of 
the grant period of performance. 

 
Financial Management 
The Recipient must have a financial management 
system in place that is able to record and report on the 
receipt, obligation, and expenditure of grant funds. An 
adequate accounting system must be able to 

separately track receipts, expenditures, assets, and 
liabilities for awards, programs, and subrecipients. The 
Recipient shall maintain books, records, and 
documents (including electronic storage media) in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting 
procedures and practices. 

 
Recipient must have written procedures for 
procurement transactions. 

 
Travel 
Costs for travel are not allowable under this grant 
agreement. 

 
Subcontracts 
Subcontracts are not allowable under the terms of this 
agreement. 

 
Grant Adjustments 
Grant adjustment under this agreement are limited as 
all of the funds are intended for one purpose. 
Recipients must submit a grant adjustment to the FDLE 
grant manager for substantive changes to its Spending 
Plan, implementation schedules, or Project Director as 
set forth in the approved agreement. 

 
Adjustments are required when there will be a change 
affecting 10% or more of the total budget as outlined in 
the Spending Plan. 

 
Under no circumstances can transfers of funds 
increase the total award. 

 
Requests for changes to the grant agreement must be 
signed by the Recipient or implementing agency’s chief 
official or the chief official’s designee. 

 
All requests for changes must be submitted no later 
than thirty (30) days prior to grant expiration date. 

 
III. MANDATORY DISCLOSURES  

 
Conflict of Interest 
The Recipient will establish safeguards to prohibit 
employees from using their positions for a purpose that 
constitutes or presents the appearance of personal or 
organizational conflict of interest, or personal gain. 

 
Recipients must disclose in writing any potential 
conflict of interest to the Department. 

 
Violations of Criminal Law 
The Recipient must disclose all violations of state or 
federal criminal law involving fraud, bribery or gratuity 
violations potentially affecting the grant award. 

 
Reporting Potential Fraud, Waste, Abuse, and 
Similar Misconduct 
The Recipient must promptly refer to the Department 
of Law Enforcement, Office of Criminal Justice Grants 



Page 10 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

any credible evidence that a principal, employee, 
agent, contractor, subcontractor, or other person has 
either 1) submitted a claim for grant funds that violates 
the False Claims Act; or 2) committed a criminal or civil 
violation of laws pertaining to fraud, conflict of interest, 
bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving grant 
funds. 

 
Restrictions and certifications regarding non- 
disclosure agreements and related matters 
Recipients or contracts/subcontracts under this award 
may not require any employee or contractor to sign an 
internal confidentiality agreement or statement that 
prohibits, restricts or purports to prohibit or restrict, the 
reporting of waste, fraud or abuse in accordance with 
law, to an investigative or law enforcement 
representative of a state or federal department or 
agency authorized to receive such information. 

 
The Recipient certifies that if is informed or notified of 
any subrecipient, or contractor/subcontractor has been 
requiring their employees to execute agreements or 
statements that prohibit the reporting of fraud, waste, 
or abuse that it will immediately cease all further 
obligations of award funds to the entity and will 
immediately notify the Department. The Recipient will 
not resume obligations until expressively authorized to 
do so from the Department. 

 

 
In performing its obligations under this Agreement, the 
Recipient shall without exception be aware of and 
comply with all State and Federal laws, rules and 
regulations relating to its performance under this 
Agreement as they may be enacted or amended from 
time-to-time, as well as any court or administrative 
order, judgment, settlement or compliance agreement 
involving the Department which by its nature affects the 
services provided under this Agreement. The following 
are examples of rules and regulations that govern 
Recipient’s performance under this Agreement. 

 
 

Civil Rights 
The Recipient agrees to comply with the Americans 
With Disabilities Act (Public Law 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 
Section 12101 et seq.) and shall not discriminate 
against any employee (or applicant for employment) in 
the performance of this Agreement because of race, 
color, religion, sex, national origin, disability, age, or 
marital status. These requirements shall apply to all 
contractors, subcontractors, subgrantees or others 
with whom it arranges to provide services or benefits to 
clients or employees in connection with its programs 
and activities. 

 
E-Verify 
The Department shall consider the employment by any 
contractor of unauthorized aliens a violation of section 
274(e) of the Immigration and Nationalization Act. 

Such violation shall be cause for unilateral cancellation 
of this contract. Pursuant to F.S. 448.095, the 
Contracting Party and any subcontractors are required 
to register with and use the E-Verify system operated 
by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
beginning on January 1, 2021. The Contracting Party 
and any subcontractors are prohibited from entering 
into contracts with one another unless all parties 
register and use the E-Verify system. Subcontractors 
who enter into contracts with the Contracting Party are 
required to provide a certification that the subcontractor 
does not employ or use unauthorized aliens as defined 
in the statute, a copy of which the Contracting Party 
must maintain. The Contracting Party and any 
subcontractors are required to terminate a contract if a 
party has a good faith belief that another party is in 
violation of F.S. 448.09(1), prohibiting the employment 
of unauthorized aliens. If a public employer has a good 
faith belief that the subcontractor has violated these 
requirements, but that the Contracting Party has 
otherwise complied, the public employer must notify 
the Contracting Party to terminate its contract with the 
subcontractor. A party may challenge a contract 
termination in accordance with these requirements. A 
penalized Contractor is prohibited from obtaining 
another contract with a public employer for at least one 
year. 

 
Lobbying Prohibited 
The Recipient shall comply with the provisions of 
sections 11.062 and 216.347, Florida Statutes, which 
prohibit the expenditure of funds for the purpose of 
lobbying the Legislature, judicial branch, or a State 
agency. No funds or other resources received from the 
Department in connection with this agreement may be 
used directly or indirectly to influence legislation or any 
other official action by the Florida Legislature or any 
state agency. 

 
Public Records 
As required by section 287.058(1)(c), Florida Statutes, 
the Recipient shall allow public access to all 
documents, papers, letters, or other public records as 
defined in section 119.011(12), Florida Statutes as 
prescribed by section 119.07(1) Florida Statutes, made 
or received by the Recipient in conjunction with this 
Agreement, except that public records which are made 
confidential by law must be protected from disclosure. 
It is expressly understood that the Recipient’s failure to 
comply with this provision shall constitute an immediate 
breach of contract, for which the Department may 
unilaterally terminate this Agreement. 

 
 

Legal Authorization 
The Recipient certifies with respect to this agreement 
that it possesses the legal authority to receive the funds 
to be provided under this agreement and that, if 
applicable, its governing body has authorized, by 
resolution or otherwise, the execution and acceptance 
of this agreement with all covenants and assurances 
contained herein. The Recipient also certifies that the 

IV. COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTES, RULES, AND 
REGULATIONS 



Page 11 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

undersigned possesses the authority to legally execute 
and bind Recipient to the terms of this agreement. 

 
Independent Contractor, Subcontracting and 
Assignments 
In performing its obligations under this Agreement, the 
Recipient shall at all times be acting in the capacity of 
an independent contractor and not as an officer, 
employee, or agent of the State of Florida. Neither the 
Recipient nor any of its agents, employees, 
subcontractors or assignees shall represent to others 
that it is an agent of or has the authority to bind the 
Department by virtue of this Agreement, unless 
specifically authorized in writing to do so. 

 
Notice of Legal Actions 
The Recipient shall notify the Department of potential 
or actual legal actions taken against the Recipient 
related to services provided through this Agreement or 
that may impact the Recipient's ability to complete the 
deliverables outlined herein, or that may adversely 
impact the Department. The Department's Grant 
Manager will be notified within 10 days of Recipient 
becoming aware of such actions or potential actions or 
from the day of the legal filing, whichever comes first. 

 
Property 
The purchase of or improvements to real property are 
not allowable under this agreement. 

 
Background Check 
Whenever a background screening for employment or 
a background security check is required by law for 
employment, unless otherwise provided by law, the 
provisions of Chapter 435 Florida Statutes, shall apply. 

 
All employees in positions designated by law as 
positions of trust or responsibility shall be required to 
undergo security background investigations as a 
condition of employment and continued employment. 
For the purposes of the subsection, security 
background investigations shall include, but not be 
limited to, employment history checks, fingerprinting for 
all purposes and checks in this subsection, statewide 
criminal and juvenile record checks through the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement, and federal criminal 
record checks through the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation, and may include local criminal record 
checks through local law enforcement agencies. 

 
V. RECORDS, AUDITS AND DATA SECURITY  

 
Records, Retention 
Retention of all financial records, supporting 
documents, statistical records, and any other 
documents (including electronic storage media) 
pertinent to this Agreement shall be maintained by the 
Recipient during the term of this Agreement and 
retained for a period of five (5) years after completion 
of the Agreement or longer when required by law. In 
the event an audit is required under this Agreement, 
records shall be retained for a minimum period of five 

(5) years after the audit report is issued or until 
resolution of any audit findings or litigation based on 
the terms of this Agreement, at no additional cost to the 
Department. 

 
Upon demand, at no additional cost to the Department, 
the Recipient will facilitate the duplication and transfer 
of any records or documents during the term of this 
Agreement and the required five (5) year retention 
period. No record may be withheld, nor may the 
Recipient attempt to limit the scope of any of the 
foregoing inspections, reviews, copying, transfers or 
audits based on any claim that any record is exempt 
from public inspection or is confidential, proprietary or 
trade secret in nature; provided, however, that this 
provision does not limit any exemption to public 
inspection or copying to any such record. 

 
These records shall be made available at all 
reasonable times for inspection, review, copying, or 
audit by State, or other personnel duly authorized by 
the Department. 

 
Audits 
The Recipient shall comply and cooperate immediately 
with any inspections, reviews, investigations, or audits 
deemed necessary by The Office of the Inspector 
General (section 20.055, Florida Statutes). 

 
In the event that the Recipient expends a total amount 
of state financial assistance equal to or in excess of 
$750,000 in any fiscal year of such Recipient, the 
Recipient must have a State single or project-specific 
audit for such fiscal year in accordance with section 
215.97, Florida Statutes; applicable rules of the 
Department of Financial Services; and Chapters 
10.550 (local governmental entities) or 10.650 
(nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the 
Auditor General. In determining the state financial 
assistance expended in its fiscal year, the Recipient 
shall consider all sources of state financial assistance, 
including state financial assistance received from the 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement, other state 
agencies, and other non-state entities. State financial 
assistance does not include Federal direct or pass- 
through awards and resources received by a non-state 
entity for Federal program matching requirements. 

 
The schedule of expenditures should disclose the 
expenditures by contract/agreement number for each 
contract with the Department in effect during the audit 
period. All questioned costs and liabilities due the 
Department shall be fully disclosed in the audit report 
package with reference to the specific contract number. 

 
If the Recipient expends less than $750,000 in state 
financial assistance in its fiscal year, an audit 
conducted in accordance with the provisions of section 
215.97, Florida Statutes, is not required. In the event 
that the Recipient expends less than $750,000 in state 
financial assistance in its fiscal year and elects to have 



Page 12 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions 
of section 215.97, Florida Statutes, the cost of the audit 
must be paid from the non-state entity’s resources (i.e., 
the cost of such an audit must be paid from the 
recipient’s resources obtained from other than State 
entities). 

 
Pursuant to section 215.97(8), Florida Statutes, State 
agencies may conduct or arrange for audits of state 
financial assistance that are in addition to audits 
conducted in accordance with section 215.97, Florida 
Statutes. In such an event, the State awarding agency 
must arrange for funding the full cost of such additional 
audits. 

 
Pursuant to Section 216.1366, Florida Statutes, in 
order to preserve the interest of the state in the prudent 
expenditure of state funds, the Department shall be 
authorized to inspect the (a) Financial records , papers, 
and documents of the Contractor that are directly 
related to the performance of the Contract or the 
expenditure of state funds, and (b) Programmatic 
records, papers, and documents of the Contractor 
which the Department determines are necessary to 
monitor the performance of the Contract or to ensure 
that the terms of the Contract are being met. The 
Contractor shall provide such records, papers, and 
documents requested by the Department within ten 
(10) business days after the request is made. 

 
Any reports, management letters, or other information 
required to be submitted to the Department pursuant to 
this agreement shall be submitted within nine (9) 
months after the end of the Recipient’s fiscal year or 
within 30 days of the recipient’s receipt of the audit 
report, whichever occurs first, unless otherwise 
required by Florida Statutes: 

 
Copies of financial reporting packages required by of 
this Agreement shall be submitted by or on behalf of 
the Recipient directly to each of the following: 

The Department of Law Enforcement at: 

ATTN: Cody Menacof 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement 
Office of Criminal Justice Grants 
Post Office Box 1489 
Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1489 

 
The Auditor General’s Office at: 

 
Auditor General’s Office 
Room 401, Pepper Building 
111 West Madison Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 

 
Monitoring 
The Recipient agrees to comply with the Department’s 
grant monitoring guidelines, protocols, and 
procedures; and to cooperate with the Department on 
all grant monitoring requests, including requests 

related to desk reviews, enhanced programmatic desk 
reviews, site visits, and/or Florida Department of 
Financial Services contract reviews and Expanded 
Audits of Payment (EAP). 

 
The Recipient agrees to provide the Department all 
documentation necessary to complete monitoring of 
the award and verify expenditures in accordance with 
section 215.971, Florida Statutes Further, the 
Recipient agrees to abide by reasonable deadlines set 
by the Department for providing requested documents. 
Failure to cooperate with grant monitoring activities 
may result in sanctions affecting the Recipient’s award, 
including, but not limited to: withholding and/or other 
restrictions on the recipient’s access to funds, and/or 
referral to the Office of the Inspector General for audit 
review. 

 
Property Management 
The purchase of property and equipment is not 
allowable under the terms of this agreement. 

 
Recipient’s Confidential and Exempt Information 
By executing  this  Agreement, the Recipient 
acknowledges that, having been  provided an 
opportunity to review all provisions hereof, all 
provisions of this Agreement not specifically identified 
in writing by the Recipient prior to execution hereof as 
“confidential” or “exempt” will be posted by the 
Department on the public website maintained by the 
Department of Financial Services pursuant to section 
215.985, Florida Statutes The Recipient agrees that, 
upon written request of the Department, it shall 
promptly provide to the Department a written statement 
of the basis for the exemption applicable to each 
provision identified by the Recipient as “confidential” or 
“exempt”, including the statutory citation to an 
exemption created or afforded by statute, and state 
with particularity the reasons for the conclusion that the 
provision is exempt or confidential. 

 
Any claim by Recipient of trade secret (proprietary) 
confidentiality for any information contained in 
Recipient’s documents (reports, deliverables or work 
papers, etc., in paper or electronic form) submitted to 
the Department in connection with this Agreement 
cannot be waived, unless the claimed confidential 
information is submitted in accordance with the 
following two paragraphs. 

 
The Recipient must clearly label any portion of the 
documents, data, or records submitted that it considers 
exempt from public inspection or disclosure pursuant 
to Florida’s Public Records Law as trade secret. The 
labeling will include a justification citing specific 
statutes and facts that authorize exemption of the 
information from public disclosure. If different 
exemptions are claimed to be applicable to different 
portions of the protected information, the Recipient 
shall include information correlating the nature of the 
claims to the particular protected information. 



Page 13 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

The Department, when required to comply with a public 
records request including documents submitted by the 
Recipient, may require the Recipient to expeditiously 
submit redacted copies of documents marked as trade 
secret in accordance with this section. Accompanying 
the submission shall be an updated version of the 
justification, correlated specifically to redacted 
information, either confirming that the statutory and 
factual basis originally asserted remain unchanged or 
indicating any changes affecting the basis for the 
asserted exemption from public inspection or 
disclosure. The redacted copy must exclude or 
obliterate only those exact portions that are claimed to 
be trade secret. If the Recipient fails to promptly submit 
a redacted copy, the Department is authorized to 
produce the records sought without any redaction of 
proprietary or trade secret information. 

 

 
Financial Penalties for Failure to Take Corrective 
Action 
Corrective action plans may be required for 
noncompliance, nonperformance, or unacceptable 
performance under this Agreement. Penalties may be 
imposed for failures to implement or to make 
acceptable progress on such corrective action plans. 

 
Termination 
The Department reserves the right to unilaterally 
cancel this agreement for refusal by the Recipient to 
allow public access to all documents, papers, letters or 
other material subject to the provisions of Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, and made or received by the 
Recipient in conjunction with this agreement, unless 
the records are exempt pursuant to Article I. Section 
24(a), of the Florida Constitution and section 119.07(1), 
Florida Statutes 

 
The Department shall be the final authority as to the 
appropriation, availability and adequacy of funds. In 
the event the Recipient fails to fully comply with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 
Department may terminate the Agreement upon written 
notice. Such notice may be issued without providing an 
opportunity for cure if it specifies the nature of the 
noncompliance and states that provision for cure would 
adversely affect the interests of the State or is not 
permitted by law or regulation. Otherwise, notice of 
termination will be issued after the Recipient’s failure to 
fully cure such noncompliance within the time specified 
in a written notice of noncompliance issued by the 
Department specifying the nature of the 
noncompliance and the actions required to cure such 
noncompliance. In addition, the Department may 
employ the default provisions in Rule 60A-1.006(3), 
F.A.C., but is not required to do so in order to terminate 
the Agreement. The Department’s failure to demand 
performance of any provision of this Agreement shall 
not be deemed a waiver of such performance. The 
Department’s waiver of any one breach of any 

provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be 
a waiver of any other breach and neither event shall be 
construed to be a modification of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. The provisions herein do 
not limit the Department’s right to remedies at law or in 
equity. The validity of this agreement is subject to the 
truth and accuracy of all the information, 
representations, and materials submitted or provided 
by the Recipient in this agreement, in any subsequent 
submission or response to Department request, or in 
any submission or response to fulfill the requirements 
of this agreement, and such information, 
representations, and materials are incorporated by 
reference. The lack of accuracy thereof or any material 
changes shall, at the option of the Department and with 
thirty (30) days written notice to the Recipient, cause 
the termination of this agreement and the release of the 
Department from all its obligations to the Recipient. 
This agreement shall be construed under the laws of 
the State of Florida, and venue for any actions arising 
out of this agreement shall lie in Leon County. If any 
provision hereof is in conflict with any applicable statute 
or rule, or is otherwise unenforceable, then such 
provision shall be deemed null and void to the extent of 
such conflict, and shall be deemed severable, but shall 
not invalidate any other provision of this agreement. 

 
No waiver by the Department of any right or remedy 
granted hereunder or failure to insist on strict 
performance by the Recipient shall affect or extend or 
act as a waiver of any other right or remedy of the 
Department hereunder, or affect the subsequent 
exercise of the same right or remedy by the 
Department for any further or subsequent default by 
the Recipient. Any power of approval or disapproval 
granted to the Department under the terms of this 
agreement shall survive the terms and life of this 
agreement as a whole. 

 
The agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, any one of which may be taken as an 
original. 

 
In the event of termination, the Recipient will be 
compensated for any work satisfactorily completed 
through the date of termination or an earlier date of 
suspension of work. 

 
Disputes and Appeals 
The Department shall make its decision in writing when 
responding to any disputes, disagreements, or 
questions of fact arising under this agreement and shall 
distribute its response to all concerned parties. The 
Recipient shall proceed diligently with the performance 
of this agreement according to the Department's 
decision. If the Recipient appeals the Department's 
decision, the appeal also shall be made in writing within 
twenty-one (21) calendar days to the Department's 
clerk (agency clerk). The Recipient's right to appeal the 
Department's decision is contained in Chapter 120, 
Florida Statutes, and in procedures set forth in Fla. 

VI. PENALTIES, TERMINATION, DISPUTE 
RESOLUTION, LIABILITY AND COMMUNICATION 



Page 14 of 14 

Award #: ME002 
CSFA: 71.067  

 

Admin. Code R.28-106.104. Failure to appeal within 
this time frame constitutes a waiver of proceedings 
under Chapter 120, Florida Statutes After receipt of a 
petition for alternative dispute resolution the 
Department and the Recipient shall attempt to 
amicably resolve the dispute through negotiations. 
Timely delivery of a petition for alternative dispute 
resolution and completion of the negotiation process 
shall be a condition precedent to any legal action by 
the Recipient concerning this Agreement. 

 
Liability 
Unless the Recipient is a state agency or subdivision, 
the Recipient shall be solely responsible to parties 
with whom it shall deal in carrying out the terms of this 
agreement, and shall save the Department harmless

against all claims of whatever nature by third parties arising 
out of the performance of work under this Agreement. For 
purposes of this Agreement, Recipient agrees that it is not an 
employee or agent of the Department, but is an independent 
contractor. 
 
Nothing herein shall be construed as consent by a 
state agency of the State of Florida to be sued by third 
parties in any matter arising out of any contract. 
 
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to affect 
in any way the Recipient rights, privileges, and 
immunities under the doctrine of “sovereign immunity” 
and as set forth in section 768.28, Florida Statute. 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     9-3-2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM LSF PO Agreement  
 
DEPARTMENT:    Fire Rescue  
 
PURPOSE: Approval of agreement with LSF for use of Opioid 

Abatement Funds for year 2 of the Community Resource 
Paramedicine program.  

 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): NA 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): NA 
  



PO035 
Amendment 100 

1 

Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 
Amendment 100 

This amendment (the “Amendment”) is made and entered into by and between Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. 
d/b/a LSF Health Systems (“LSF”) and Bradford County Board of County Commissioners (“Contractor”) to be 
effective July 1, 2024. Contractor and LSF may be referred to herein individually as a “party” or collectively as 
“the parties.” 

Whereas, LSF wishes to amend the purchase order agreement entered into between said parties on March 1, 
2024, the purpose of this amendment is to replace the Purchase Order Agreement.  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, and the mutual promises contained hereinafter, 
and in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by the 
parties, as independent contractors, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Capitalized terms herein shall be ascribed the meaning given by the Purchase Order Agreement. In the
event of conflict between this Amendment and the Purchase Order Agreement, this Amendment shall
control.

2. Purchase Order Agreement is replaced in its entirety with the Purchase Order Agreement revised July 1,
2024, incorporated herein. All prior purchase order agreements with reference to the same content are
deleted.

Except as amended herein, the terms and conditions of the Agreement remain the same in full effect and 
authority. 

The parties’ authorized representatives have executed this Amendment with its purchase order agreement to be 
effective the 1st day of July 2024. 

Bradford County Board of County 
Commissioners  

__________________________________________ 
Signature Date 

__________________________________________ 
Printed Name Title 

Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. d/b/a LSF Health 
Systems 

__________________________________________ 
Signature Date 

_Dr. Christine Cauffield______________CEO_____ 
Printed Name Title 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 1 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

 PURCHASE ORDER AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is entered into between Lutheran Services Florida, Inc., d/b/a LSF Health Systems (a Florida 
non-profit corporation), hereinafter referred to as the " LSF” and/or the “Managing Entity” and Bradford County 
Board of County Commissioners, herein after referred to as the "Contractor.” The Contractor and LSF may be 
referred to herein individually as a “party” or collectively as “the parties.” LSF and the Contractor agrees as 
follows:  

Effective and Ending Dates. The terms of this Agreement shall be effective July 1, 2024, and shall continue 
through June 30, 2025.   

This document provides direction and guidance for administration, implementation, and management of the 
Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide Response Agreement (Opioid Settlement) in Bradford County. 

Services to be Provided. This scope of work is for the Contractor to continue the Community Paramedicine 
Program to bridge the gap between emergency medical services and community-based health care, with a 
specific focus on substance use disorder. The program will provide proactive and preventative care to individuals 
with or at risk of substance use disorders, ultimately improving health outcomes and reducing emergency 
services utilization. The additional funding will be used to add services, such as medication-assisted treatment 
(MAT). 

Section 1. Financial Consideration 

1.1. Award Amount 

Bradford County Board of County Commissioners has been awarded an amount not to exceed LSF 
approved Exhibit C and D - Projected Operating and Capital Budget for costs associated with 
administration of the services at its agency. Funding will be provided through OCA MSONQ - ME Opioid 
TF Non-Qualified Counties. This award is subject to availability of funds from the Department of Children 
and Families (DCF). 

1.2. Budget 

1.2.1 The Contractor shall submit a detailed, line-item budget to LSF identifying for each line the 
allowable items for the program, the projected or budgeted amount for each line item and narrative 
supporting the reasonableness and necessity of any unusual items.   

1.2.2 All budgets and revisions thereto are subject to approval by LSF.   

1.2.3 The Contractor may revise a budget by submitting same to the assigned Network Manager via 
electronic mail for approval. 

1.2.4 Approved budgets shall be maintained in the official agreement file. 

1.2.5 Modifications to the approved budget may not be effective retroactively. 

 

 

 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 2 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

 

1.3. Payment 

This award shall be paid using a fixed rate methodology, subject to the availability of funds. The 
Contractor shall comply with the terms of such methodology, including quarterly fiscal reconciliation 
reports data reporting, as outlined below.  

1.3.1 The total monthly payment amount shall be an equal proportion of the approved budget amount 
according to the agreement period and shall be included as a line item in the Contractor ’s Invoice 
with the following documentation provided as support. 

1.3.1.1 The Contractor shall submit the Exhibit O - Expenditure Reconciliation Report using 
the form designated by LSF Health Systems, available on the website: 
https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/resources/#contractdocument, which will outline 
expenses incurred by the Contractor. This report shall be submitted on or before the 8th 
of the month following the end of each quarter. The Managing Entity reserves the right to 
request monthly Exhibit O - Expenditure Reconciliation reports, depending on the 
Contractor’s rate of spending, to perform an invoice reconciliation at any point within the 
fiscal year. 

1.3.1.2 All funds paid under the fixed rate methodology must be accounted for through this 
reconciliation process and any funding not accounted for is subject to repayment to LSF 
Health Systems. 

1.3.1.3 LSF Health Systems reserves the right to request substantiating documentation to 
support the line items submitted by the Contractor in the Exhibit O - Expenditure 
Reconciliation Report. 

1.3.1.4 All reports as required in Section 2.3 Required Reporting. 

1.3.2 Reimbursement shall be made for actual, allowable expenditures within the limits of the latest 
version of the approved budget at the time that the invoice is processed. 

1.3.3 The Contractor agrees that it will account for all payments from LSF according to generally 
accepted standard accounting principles. 

Section 2. Program Administration 

2.1. The Opioid Settlement program will be administered according to approved DCF Children and Families 
Operating Procedure (CFOP) for the Opioid Settlement and any other approved DCF document 
reflecting the program requirements, or latest version thereof, which can be found at following link using 
the applicable fiscal year: https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-
health/samh-providers/managing-entities.  

2.2. Program requirements are as follows: 

2.2.1 As reflected on the approved Schedule B of the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide 
Response Agreement, or latest version thereof. 

https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/resources/#contractdocument
https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-entities
https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-entities


Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 3 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

2.2.2 As reflected on the approved DCF CFOP for the Opioid Settlement and any other approved 
DCF document reflecting the program requirements, or latest version thereof, which can be 
found at following link using the applicable fiscal year: 
https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-
providers/managing-entities.  

2.2.3 Service Tasks 

2.2.3.1 The Contractor shall perform all tasks reflected on the LSF approved Exhibit G – 
Submission of Information. 

2.3. Required Reporting 

2.3.1 Expenditure Reconciliation Report: This report shall be submitted on or before the 8th of the 
month following the end of each quarter. However, the Managing Entity reserves the right to 
request monthly Expenditure Reconciliation Reports, depending on the Contractor’s rate of 
spending, to perform an invoice reconciliation at any point within the fiscal year. 

2.3.2 The Contractor shall submit service data to LSF as required by LSF and DCF and shall submit 
the data electronically by the 8th of each month for the previous month’s services, as specified 
by LSF and DCF and in accordance with the DCF Data System Guidelines. 

2.3.3 Ad Hoc and additional reporting, at any frequency, may be required as determined necessary by 
LSF Health Systems or the Department of Children and Families. 

2.3.4 Receipt of Opioid Settlement funds is an express acknowledgement of the obligation to report 
data on services funded by the Settlement. Recipients shall provide data to the Department of 
Children and Families (Department) through the Opioid Data Management System (ODMS) as 
prescribed by the Department. Opioid Settlement funding is contingent upon satisfactory data 
reporting. 

Section 3. Documentation 

3.1. Cost 

3.1.1 Professional Services Rendered:  Invoices for professional services must include a general 
statement of the services provided, the time period covered by the invoice, the hourly rate, the 
number of hours worked, and the total payment required.  Evidence of payment of the invoice 
must also be included. 

3.1.2 Postage and Reproduction Expenses:  Outside Contractor’s purchases must include invoices with 
evidence of payments made or receipts with itemization.  In-house postage and reproduction must 
be supported by usage logs or similar reports.  

3.1.3 Travel: Travel reimbursements shall be made in accordance with the Department’s CFOP 40-1, 
§ 287.058(1)(b), Fla. Stat. and §112.061, Fla. Stat.  Receipts for direct expenses (e.g., airfare, 
car rental, parking, tolls) shall be provided in support of such expenses. For mileage 
reimbursements, submissions shall include date(s) of travel, amount of mileage (support of 
mileage may include either map routes or odometer readings), purpose of travel, origin and 
destination.   

https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-entities
https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-entities


Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 4 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

3.1.4 General Expenses not otherwise specified:  Receipts or invoices with evidence of payment should 
be provided. 

3.2. Services Rendered 

3.2.1. The submission of service data in relation to the final invoice for payment shall be submitted to 
the Managing Entity no more than forty-five (45) days after the contract ends or is terminated. If 
the Contractor fails to do so, all rights to payment are forfeited and the Managing Entity shall not 
honor any requests submitted after the aforesaid time period. Any payment due under the terms 
of this contract may be withheld until performance of services and all reports due from the 
Contractor, and necessary adjustments thereto, have been approved by the Managing Entity. 

3.2.2. Appropriate documentation shall be maintained in accordance with the applicable parameters 
established by statute, regulation, and code.  Audit documentation shall be in accordance with 
65E-14.021, F.A.C.  The Contractor shall make such information available to LSF upon request 
and during monitoring of the program administration. 

3.2.2.1. Staff timecards and a log of the date, time, number of participants, and the staff member 
conducting the class shall be the substantiating documentation for services and invoice 
back-up data. 

3.2.3. The Contractor shall notify the Managing Entity’s Network Manager, in writing, at least ten (10) 
calendar days prior to any changes in services and/or locations where services are being 
provided. Changes must continue to meet the service needs of consumers without excessive time 
and travel requirements. 

Section 4. Miscellaneous 

4.1. Employment Screening 

4.1.1. For non-Emergency Medical Services (EMS): The Contractor shall ensure that all staff utilized by 
the Contractor and its subcontractors, and funded through this agreement as reflected in Sections 
1.1 and 1.2, are of good moral character and meet the Level 2 Employment screening standards 
specified in § 394.4572, 397.4073, 408.809, 435.04, 110.1127 and §39.001(2), Fla. Stat., as a 
condition of initial and continued employment that shall include, but not be limited to: 

i. Employment history check, 

ii. Fingerprinting for all criminal record checks, 

iii. Statewide criminal and juvenile delinquency records checks through the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), 

iv. Federal criminal records check from the Federal Bureau of Investigations via the FDLE, 
and 

v. Security background investigation, which may include local criminal records checks 
through local law enforcement agencies. 

vi. Attestation by each employee, subject to penalty, to meeting the requirements for 
qualifying for employment pursuant to chapter 435 and agreeing to inform the employer 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 5 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

immediately if arrested for any of the disqualifying offenses while employed by the 
employer. 

The Contractor shall sign the Florida Department of Children and Families Employment Screening 
Affidavit each State fiscal year (no two such affidavits shall be signed more than 13 months apart) 
for the term of the Contract stating that all required staff have been screened or the Contractor is 
awaiting the results of the screening. 

Additional guidance regarding background screening is incorporated herein by reference and may 
be located at: www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/backgroundscreening/. 

4.1.2. For Emergency Medical Services (EMS): The Contractor shall ensure that all staff utilized by the 
Contractor and its subcontractors are of good moral character and meet the DCF approved 
Employment screening standards, as a condition of initial and continued employment that shall 
include, but not be limited to: 

i. Attestation by each employee, subject to penalty, to meeting the requirements for 
qualifying for employment pursuant to chapter 435 and agreeing to inform the employer 
immediately if arrested for any of the disqualifying offenses while employed by the 
employer. 

4.2. Representations 

4.2.1. The Contractor shall furnish all services, labor, equipment, and materials necessary and as may 
be required in the performance of this Agreement and all work performed pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be done in a professional manner. 

4.2.2. The Contractor hereby represents to LSF, with full knowledge that LSF is relying upon these 
representations when entering into this Agreement that the Contractor has the professional 
expertise, experience, and manpower, as well as holds the necessary certifications and licenses 
required to perform the services to be provided by the Contractor pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement. 

4.2.3. Prior to commencing to provide any services pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor shall 
provide copies of any and all business or professional licenses and certifications held by 
Contractor to LSF related to the performance of the services required by this Agreement, and 
they shall be incorporated and made a specific part of this Agreement, whether or not attached 
hereto. Upon renewal of such licenses or certifications during the term of this Agreement, 
Contractor shall provide evidence of such renewal or re-issuance to LSF.  

4.3. Terms and Conditions 
 
4.3.1. Any changes to dates and fees must be submitted and approved by LSF.  If circumstances arise 

that will require additional services and time, the Contractor will notify LSF and obtain written 
agreement prior to undertaking such activities.  The Contractor shall perform all services, tasks 
and provide deliverables, including the quarterly reconciliation, and reports, as specified in this 
agreement. 

4.4. Business Associates 

http://www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/backgroundscreening/


Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 6 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

4.4.1. Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, and Standards for the Privacy and Security of 
Individually Identifiable Health Information, found at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162 and 164, 42 C.F.R. 
and as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, 
(collectively, "HIPAA"), LSF is required to protect certain individually identifiable health or other 
information ("Protected Health Information" or "PHI" including, but not limited to, PHI in an 
electronic form). Should LSF request that the Contractor  share or disclose Client PHI with any of 
the other LSF designated business associates, LSF shall provide the Contractor  with written 
direction indicating the name of the entity, confirmation that such entity is a business associate 
with a written business associate agreement with LSF and the specific information and/or data 
LSF desires the Contractor  to disclose to or share with such other business associate and the 
Parties agree to execute any such additional agreements as necessary to complete such 
activities. For purposes of this Agreement, "Client" shall mean: any individual that is eligible to 
receive behavioral health services in accordance with DCF eligibility policies in the Service Area.  

4.5. Insurance 

4.5.1. As applicable, the Contractor shall maintain continuous adequate liability insurance coverage 
during the existence of this Contract and any renewal(s) and extension(s) thereof. With the 
exception of a State agency or subdivision as defined by subsection 768.28(2), F.S., by execution 
of this Contract, the Contractor accepts full responsibility for identifying and determining the 
type(s) and extent of liability insurance necessary to provide reasonable financial protections for 
the Contractor and the persons served to be served under this Contract.  The Managing Entity 
and its Network Service Contractors at all tiers are not covered by the State of Florida Risk 
Management Trust Fund for liability created by s. 284.30, F.S. 

4.5.2. The Contractor acknowledges that, as an independent contractor, the Contractor, and its 
subcontractors, at all tiers are not covered by the State of Florida Risk Management Trust Fund 
for liability created by s. 284.30, F.S. 

4.5.3. Upon the execution of this Contract, the Contractor shall furnish the Managing Entity written 
verification supporting both the determination and existence of such insurance coverage and shall 
furnish verification of renewal or replacement thereof prior to the expiration or cancellation. The 
Managing Entity reserves the right to require additional insurance as specified in this Contract. 

4.5.4. The Contractor shall notify the Managing Entity within 30 calendar days if there is a modification 
to the terms of insurance including but not limited to, cancellation or modification to policy limits. 

4.5.5. The Contractor shall obtain and provide proof to the Managing Entity and the Department of 
Comprehensive General Liability Insurance (broad form coverage), specifically including 
premises, fire, and legal liability to cover the Contractor and all its employees. The limits of the 
Contractor’s coverage shall be no less than $300,000 per occurrence with a minimal annual 
aggregate of no less than $1,000,000. 

4.5.6. If in the course of the performance of its duties under this Contract any officer, employee, or agent 
of the Contractor  operates a motor vehicle, the Managing Entity shall cause the Contractor , at 
all tiers, to obtain and provide proof to the ME and the Department of comprehensive automobile 
liability insurance coverage with limits no less than $300,000 per occurrence with a minimal 
annual aggregate of no less than $1,000,000.    

4.5.7. If in the course of the performance of the duties of any Contractor , at all tiers, any officer, 
employee, or agent of the Contractor, provides any professional services or provides or 
administers any prescription drug or medication or controlled substance, the ME shall cause the 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 7 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

Contractor, at all tiers, to obtain and provide proof to the ME and the Department of professional 
liability insurance coverage, including medical malpractice liability and errors and omissions 
coverage, to cover all employees and shall not exclude claims resulting from physical and sexual 
abuse. The limits of the coverage shall be no less than $300,000 per occurrence with a minimal 
annual aggregate of no less than $1,000,000. 

4.5.8. The Managing Entity and the Department of Children and Families shall be exempt from, and in 
no way liable for, any sums of money that may represent a deductible or self-insured retention 
under any such insurance. The payment of any deductible on any policy shall be the sole 
responsibility of the Contractor purchasing the insurance. 

4.5.9. All insurance policies, at all tiers, shall be provided by insurers licensed or eligible to do and that 
are doing business in the State of Florida. Each insurer must have a minimum rating of “A” by A. 
M. Best or an equivalent rating by a similar insurance rating firm and shall name the Managing 
Entity and the Department as an additional insured under the policy or policies. The Contractor 
shall use its best good faith efforts to cause the insurers issuing all such general, automobile, and 
professional liability insurance to use a policy form with additional insured provisions naming both 
DCF and the ME as additional insured or a form of additional insured endorsement acceptable to 
ME in the reasonable exercise of its judgment. The ME reserves the right to require additional 
insurance. The limits of coverage under each policy maintained by the Contractor do not limit the 
Contractor’s liability and obligations under this contract.  Upon the ME’s request, the Contractor 
shall furnish the ME with written verification supporting the existence of such insurance coverage. 

4.5.10. All such insurance proposed by the Contractor shall be submitted to and confirmed by the 
assigned Primary Point of Contact no later than execution initially and thereafter, updates shall 
be provided annually which reflect no lapse in insurance coverage. 

4.6. Indemnification 

4.6.1. The Contractor shall be fully liable for the actions of its agents, employees, partners, or 
subcontractors and shall fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless LSF, State of Florida and its 
officers, agents, and employees, from suits, actions, damages, and costs of every name and 
description, including attorney’s fees, arising from or relating to any alleged act or omission by 
the Contractor, its agents, employees, partners, or subcontractors, provided, however, that the 
Contractor shall not indemnify for that portion of any loss or damages caused by the negligence 
act or omission of LSF.  

4.6.2. The Contractor shall fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless LSF, the State, from any suits, 
actions, damages, and costs of every name and description, including attorney's fees, arising 
from or relating to violation of infringement of a trademark, copyright, patent, trade secret or 
intellectual property rights, provided, however, that the foregoing obligation shall not apply to 
LSF’s misuse or modification of Contractor’s products or LSF’s operation or use of Contractor’s 
products in a manner not contemplated by the contract or the purchase order. If any product is 
the subject of an infringement suit or in the Contractor’s opinion is likely to become the subject of 
such a suit, the Contractor may at its sole expense procure for LSF the right to continue using the 
product or modify it to become non-infringing. If the Contractor is not reasonably able to modify 
or otherwise secure LSF the use, LSF shall not be liable for any royalties. The Contractor’s 
indemnification for violation or infringement of a trademark, copyright, patent, trade secret or 
intellectual property rights shall encompass all such items used or accessed by the Contractor, 
its officers, agents, or subcontractors in the performance of this agreement or delivered to LSF 
for the use of LSF, its employees, agents or contractors.  



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 8 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

4.6.3. The Contractor shall protect, defend, and indemnify, including attorney’s fees and costs, LSF for 
any and all claims and litigation (including litigation initiated by LSF) arising from or relating to 
Contractor’s claim that a document contains proprietary or trade secret information that is exempt 
from disclosure or the scope of the Contractor’s redaction. 

4.6.4. LSF shall not be liable for any costs, expense, or compromise incurred or made by the Contractor 
in any legal action. The Contractor’s inability to evaluate liability or its evaluation of liability shall 
not excuse its duty to defend and indemnify after receipt of notice. Only an adjudication or 
judgment after the highest appeal is exhausted finding LSF negligent shall excuse the Contractor 
of performance under this provision, in which case LSF shall have no obligation to reimburse the 
Contractor for costs of its defense. If the Contractor is an agency or subdivision of the State, its 
obligation of indemnify, defend, and hold harmless LSF shall be to the extent permitted by section 
768.28, F.S. or other applicable law, and without waiving the limits of sovereign immunity. 

4.7. Governing Law and Compliance 

4.7.1. Governing Law 

4.7.1.1. The validity, enforceability, and interpretation of this Agreement shall be determined 
and governed by the laws of the State of Florida, as well as applicable federal laws. 
The Parties agree that jurisdiction for any dispute, action, claim or alternative dispute 
resolution proceeding regarding this Agreement shall reside in Duval County, Florida. 

4.7.2. Florida Regulatory Governance 

4.7.2.1. This Agreement, the attachments, and the performance thereof, are subject to the 
requirements and regulations promulgated by and specific verbiage required by DCF. 

4.7.3. Corporate Compliance 

4.7.3.1. During the term of this Agreement, each Party shall: (i) ensure that it is duly organized, 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Florida; (ii) maintain all requisite 
federal, state and local authority, permits and licenses necessary or appropriate to 
operate and to carry out its obligations under this Agreement; (iii) monitor its 
performance of administrative functions on an ongoing basis to ensure compliance 
with applicable DCF performance standards and guidelines; and (iv) notwithstanding 
any term or provision in this Agreement to the contrary, remain ultimately responsible 
for assuring that it is operating in accordance with all applicable federal, state and local 
laws, rules, regulations and ordinances. 

4.7.4. General Provisions 

4.7.4.1. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Parties acknowledge 
and agree that each Party is subject to the Florida Public Records Act under the Florida 
Contract and under Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Nonetheless, in the event that a 
Party becomes legally compelled to disclose any of the Confidential Proprietary 
Information (the "Compelled Party"), the Compelled Party will provide the other Party 
with prompt notice thereof so that the other Party may seek a protective order or other 
appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy is not 
obtained by the other Party, the Compelled Party will furnish or cause to be furnished 
only that minimum portion of the Confidential Proprietary Information which the 
Compelled Party is legally required to furnish. 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 9 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

4.7.4.2. Severability 

The illegality, unenforceability, or ineffectiveness of any provision of this Agreement 
shall not affect the legality, enforceability or effectiveness of any other provision of this 
Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof shall, for any 
reason and to any extent, be deemed invalid or unenforceable, neither the remainder 
of this Agreement, nor the application of the provision to other persons, entities, or 
circumstances, nor any other instrument referred to in this Agreement shall be affected 
thereby, but instead shall be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law. 

4.9.5  Authority to Bind 

By signature below, each signatory represents and warrants that such person is duly authorized 
to enter into this Agreement on the respective Party’s behalf and is duly authorized to bind such 
Party to the terms applicable to each. 

 4.9.6 Typewritten or Handwritten Provisions 

Typewritten or handwritten provisions that are inserted in this Agreement or attached to this 
Agreement as addenda or riders shall not be valid unless such provisions are initialed by both 
signatories to this Agreement. 

4.9.7 Counterparts: Facsimile Execution and Captions 

This Agreement may be executed and delivered: (a) in any number of counterparts, each of which 
will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument; 
and/or (b) by facsimile, in which case the instruments so executed and delivered shall be binding 
and effective for all purposes; and/or (c) by email communication to the parties identified in this 
agreement. The captions in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect 
the meaning of terms and provisions herein. 

4.9.8 Entire Agreement 

This Agreement, including any documents incorporated by reference hereto, contains all the 
terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. 
Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations or representations of or between the Parties, either 
oral or written, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, which are not expressly set forth 
in this Agreement are null and void and of no further force or effect. 

4.9.9 Cancelation of Agreement 

 This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time, regardless of reason, with thirty 
(30) days written notice. No termination shall prejudice the Contractor’s rights to payments for 
services properly completed prior to the effective date of termination. LSF reserves the right to 
unilaterally cancel this Agreement immediately upon discovery of fraud or misuse of public funds.  

The parties’ authorized representatives have executed this ten-page Agreement to be effective this 1st day of 
July 2024. 



Bradford County Board of County Commissioners   PO035  
 

 
Purchase Order Agreement 
Page 10 of 10           Revised 07/01/2024 

Dr. Christine Cauffield      CEO 

Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 

 
 
 
 
__________________________________________  
Signature Date 

__________________________________________  
Printed Name Title 

Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. d/b/a LSF Health 
Systems  

 
 
 
__________________________________________  
Signature Date 

_________________________________________  
Printed Name Title  

 
The parties agree that any future amendment(s) replacing this page will not affect the 

above execution. 

   Federal Tax ID # (or SSN):                                     Contractor FY Ending Date: 09/30 59-6000519 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:   8/22/2024     
    
AGENDA ITEM:   Grant for AK Maintenance  
 
DEPARTMENT:    911 Communications    
 
PURPOSE:  Maintenance for Phone Systems 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  30,050.00  
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  30,050.00  
  



PUBLIC SAFETY

4566741617 CNTY04-BRADFORD 911

RURAL GRANT APPLICATION

Basic Information

Application Submitted Date : 08-22-2024 11:18:18 PDF Generated Date: 08-22-2024 11:18:40

County  : BRADFORD  Project Title: CPE Support Maintenance 

Amount Requested:  30050.00  Procurement Method : NONE

1. Chair, Board of County Commissioners.

945-B N Temple Ave

Starke  , FL  32091

Bradford County

2. County 911 Coordinator:

945 N Temple Ave

Starke , FL  32091

Bradford County

3. County fact information

Number of PSAPs  : 1 Number of Call-taking Positions per PSAP : 5

What equipment is requested in this grant application  :
None

 

4. Financial Information

A) Current annual costs for 911 systems : 68907 B) Current annual costs for maintenance: 74766.

C) Total amount of 911 fee revenue received :
106696.19

D) Carry-forward funding retained: 0

E) Current carry-forward funding : 0 F) Applied carry-forward funding : 64017.72

G) Minimum calculated amount for applied
carry-forward funding :0

 

5. Describe the existing system
Bradford County currently has a five (5) position PSAP with a Solacom Guardian call-taking system installed on May 22, 2019. The
CP is currently being refreshed. Bradford County is presently Phase 2 compliant, using ESRI map building and Rapid SOS Premium
display package for their map data. The GeoLynx 911 Server was installed on October 1, 2011, and an Eventide logging recorder was
installed on May 06, 2021. Bradford County is a Type 5 with an on-site database.

6. Describe the scope of work
AK onsite maintenance
PO Box 2880
Concord, NH 03302
http://www.akassociates911.com/
(603) 432-5755



AK Elite Premier Maintenance
Description Price Qty Ext. Price
AKEPMaint AK Elite Premier Maintenance
Dates of Support: 1/1/25 through 12/31/25
$30,050.00 1 $30,050.00
AK Elite Premier Maintenance includes (labor only) maintenance service for 9-1-1 systems. Response time for minor and major
outages is within (2) hours. All other non-critical maintenance issues will have a next-business-day response. Remote diagnostics
will be done immediately upon receipt of the service problem. It also provides daily remote diagnostics during normal business days.
If corrective action is needed it will be performed remotely or by an on-site visit. Provides a weekly on-site preventive
maintenance program during regular business hours (number of days depends on selection of options 1  5 days).
Engineering- Design of PSAP, Call Routing Database, Direct trunking for VoIP, Landline and Wireless trunking. Design of i3 NENA
technology for text messaging. Project Management / Consulting Services are included for all new projects associated with PSAP
management, design, and implementation. Technical Support for system implementation for all new technologies including i3
VoIP, CAD integration, text messaging, and Mapping API integration. Includes no incurred costs for expansion, move of
equipment, and upgrades of the existing 9-1-1 system.

7.  Justification of the need for the proposed project
AK Associates provides the first line of 24/7 support to the customer through the established call-out procedure.
Should technical support be needed from the equipment vendor, the AK technician will act as the point of contact
an agent of the customer, and will establish vendor contact and work with the vendor's representative to
resolution.

8. Justification of grant funding
E911 fee revenue received does not cover all of the costs associated with the provision and maintenance of the E911 system in our
county.  Additional funding assistance is needed to cover these maintenance costs.  County funds are not allocated for this item and
are limited in our rural county.

9. Project timeline
Bradford will procure annual support for the following as they come due......
AK Associates 1/1/2025 till 12/31/2025

10. Single or sole source justification, if applicable
Not applicable.

12. Budget Reports

Year 1

System: Hardware, Software, Equipment, & Labor

Item Total Amount , Unit Price , Quantity   

  System Subtotal : $0.00

Services: Training, Maintenance, and Warranty Items

Item  Total Amount , Unit Price , Quantity   

AK Elite Premier Maintenance $30,050.00         ( $30,050.00 X 1 ) 

  Services Subtotal : $30,050.00

  Year 1 Budget Total : $30,050.00

  Service Subtotal : 30050

  Overall Project Total : $30,050.00

  Carry-Forward Funds Applied : $0.00



  Grant Request Total Less Carry-Forward Applied : 

13. Assurances

ACCEPTANCE OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS: The grantee accepts all grant terms and conditions.
Grantee understands that grants are contingent upon the availability of funds. �

DISCLAIMER: The grantee certifies that the facts and information contained in this application and any attached documents are true
and correct. 
A violation of this requirement may result in revocation of the grant and return of all grant funds and interest accrued (if any), 
pursuant to the Emergency Communications Board authority and any other remedy provided by law.�

NOTIFICATION OF AWARDS: The grantee understands and accepts that the notice of award will be advertised on the Florida 911
website.�

MAINTENANCE OF IMPROVEMENT AND EXPANSION: The grantee agrees that any improvement, 
expansion or other effect brought about in whole or part by grant funds will be maintained.
No substantial changes or departures from the original proposal shall be permitted unless the 
Emergency Communications Board gives prior written authorization. Any unauthorized change will necessitate the return of grant
funds, 
and accrued interest (if any) to the Board. �

The county certifies that all applicable county procurement rules/procedures has been met.
�
Failure to utilize grant funds as represented may jeopardize eligibility to be considered for future funding.

14. Authority

I hereby affirm my authority and responsibility for the use of funds requested.

________________________________________________________________________          ____________________
SIGNATURE  CHAIR, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OR COUNTY MANAGER               Date

_________________________________________________________________ 
Printed Name

_________________________________________________________________ 
Position

Regional Signatures if Applicable (add additional lines if needed)



We have prepared a quote for you

AK Maintenance

Quote # 001637
Version 1

Prepared for:

Bradford County, FL

Nicole Dowell
nicole_dowell@bradfordsheriff.org



PO Box 2880
Concord, NH 03302
http://www.akassociates911.com/
(603) 432-5755

AK Elite Premier Maintenance

Description Price Qty Ext. Price

AKEPMaint AK Elite Premier Maintenance

Dates of Support: 1/1/25 through 12/31/25

$30,050.00 1 $30,050.00

AK Elite Premier Maintenance includes (labor only) maintenance service for 9-1-1 systems. Response time for minor and major
outages is within (2) hours. All other non-critical maintenance issues will have a next business day response. Remote diagnostics,
will be done immediately upon receipt of service problem. It also provides daily remote diagnostics during normal business days.
If corrective action is needed it will be performed remotely or by an on-site visit. Provides a weekly on-site preventive
maintenance program during regular business hours (number of days is depending on selection of options 1 – 5 days).
Engineering- Design of PSAP,Call Routing Database, Direct trunking for VoIP,Landline and Wireless trunking. Design of i3 NENA
technology for text messaging. Project Management / Consulting Services included for all new projects associated with PSAP
management, design and implementation. Technical Support for system implementation for all new technologies including i3
VoIP,CAD integration, text messaging and Mapping API integration. Includes no incurred costs for expansion, move of
equipment and upgrades of the existing 9-1-1 system.

AK Associates provides the first line of 24/7 support to the customer through the established call out procedure.
Should technical support be needed from the equipment vendor, the AK technician will act as the point of contact
and agent of the customer, and will establish vendor contact and work with the vendor’s representative to
resolution.

Subtotal: $30,050.00

Payment Terms

Description Qty

Terms of Sale:

• Payment Terms are Net 30

Page: 2 of 3Quote #001637 v1



PO Box 2880
Concord, NH 03302
http://www.akassociates911.com/
(603) 432-5755

AK Maintenance

Prepared by: Prepared for: Quote Information:

AK Associates Bradford County, FL Quote #: 001637

Beth Stankus
(603) 432-5755 x.283
Fax (603) 432-0900
bstankus@AKassociates911.com

PO Box 400
Starke, FL 32091
Nicole Dowell
(904) 966-6910
nicole_dowell@bradfordsheriff.org

Version: 1
Delivery Date: 08/22/2024
Expiration Date: 11/04/2024

Quote Summary

Description Amount

AK Elite Premier Maintenance $30,050.00

Total: $30,050.00

Disclaimers: This quote is provided for the listed contact and is not to be shared or disseminated without written consent by AK Associates.
This quote null and voids any previous version.

AK Associates Bradford County, FL

Signature:

Name: Beth Stankus

Title: Manager of Accounting

Date: 08/22/2024

Signature:

Name: Nicole Dowell

Initials: ND

Date: 8/22/2024 10:56:31 AM

IP Address: 170.249.156.162

Email Address: nicole_dowell@bradfordsheriff.org

PO Number:

Page: 3 of 3Quote #001637 v1



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:  09/03/2024      
    
AGENDA ITEM: Consider approval of the Annual Certified Budget for Mosquito Control, 24-25 year  
 
DEPARTMENT: Mosquito Control    
 
PURPOSE: Subsidizing Mosquito Control Costs 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): state-$65,494.12(This is a dollar for dollar County Matching the State amount)  
                                      County-$65,494.12 
                                   Grand Total: $130,988.24 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): State Grant: 112-334690, County match: 112-389900-00 
 
Please have the Chairperson sign and date the 2 pages and return to Bennie Jackson, Mosquito Control Director.  
 Thank you 



Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services
Division of Agricultural Environmental Services

ANNUAL CERTIFIED BUDGET FOR ARTHROPOD CONTROL

Submilto:
Mosqujlo Conlrol Progam
Mo3qualoconlrolRopo.ls@FDACS gov
3125 Co.n6r A&d Suite E
Tallehasse FL 323991650

Rule 5E-13.022. F.A C.

robphonei (850) 6!7-7911 Fat (850) 617-7939

County or Districl: Bradford County FISCAL YEAR OCTOBER 1 2OZ TO SEPTEMBER 30. 2025
RECEIPTS

ACCT
NO DESCRIPTION LOCAL STATE TOTAL
311 Ad Valorem (CurenV0ellnquent) s55 494 12 s0 00 $65 494.12

3Ul Slate Granl s0 00 s65 494 12 s65 494.12

362 Equipmenl Rentals $0 00 $0 00 s0.00
Grants and Donations s0 00 s0 00 s0 00

361 lnlerest Eamings $0 00 s0 00 s0.00
364 Equrpment and/or Other Sales 50 00 $0 00 s0 00

369 Misc /Relunds (prior yr erpenditures) $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

380 Other SoLrrces $0 00 $0 00 $0 00

389 Loans s0 00 s0 00 50 00

TOTAL RECEIPTS s65 494 12 s65.494 12 $130,988.24

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE s0 00 s0 00 t0 00

TOTAL BUOGETARY RECEIPTS ANO BALANCES $65,494.12 165.494.'12 1130,9S8.24

EXPENDITURES

ACCT
NO

Unitorm Accounllng System Transection LOCAL STATE

$18.000

$6.973
s0

t70o 00

s0 00

TOTAL

10 s34.380 00 $52 380.00

20 Pe6onal Services 8enefi ts s13.743 74 t20.717.00
30 Operating Exp€nse s0 00 s0.00
40 Travel & Per Diem $500 00 s1.200 00

41 Communicatron SeN $400 00 $400 00

42 Freight Seruices s0 00 $0 00 s0 00

43 Utility Servic! $0.00 $0 00 10.00
Rentals E Leases s0 00 s0 00 30.00

45 lnsulance $0 00 s0 00 $0.00

46 Repairs & Maintenance $625 00 s8.160 43 s8.785.43
Pnntjng and Binding s0 00 s0 00 $0 00

48 Promolional Aclivitres $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

49 Other Charges $0 0o s0 00 $0 00

51 Office Supplies s500 00 s8 160 43 s8.660 43

Gasoline/Oil/Lube 53 000 00 s3 000 00 $6.000 00

Chemrcals s8 213.38 s20 000 00 $28.213.38
Protective Clothing s0 00 $0 00 $0 00

521 Misc Supplies $0 00 $0 00 s0 00

Tools & lmplements s0 00 s0 00 $0

50

$500

$0

s0

54 PLrblic€trons & Ou€s s0 00 $0 00

55 Training s0 00 s500 00

80 Cap'tal Outlay $0 00 s0 00
7'1 Prinopal $0 00 s0 00

72 lnlerest $0 00 $0.00 $0 00

81 Ards to Government Agencies s0 00 s0 00 10.00

83 Other Grants and Ards $0 00 $0 00 s0.00

89 Contingency (Cunent Yea0 04 132 00 s0 00 $4132.00
99 Payment ot Prior Year Ac@unts $0 00 s0 00 s0 00

Other Please Selecl Other Accountng Code s0 00 5o 00 $0 00

other Pleas€ Selecl O0ler Accounting Code $0 00 $0 00 s0 00

Other Please Selecl Oiher Accounting Code $0 00 50 00 s0 00

IOIAL BUOGET ANO CHANGES s65.494 12 s65.494.12 sr30 948 24

0.001 Reserye3 - Fdurc capnd ouday 60 00 $0.00 s0 00

0 002 Reserves - S€lt-lruuranc€ $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

0 003 Reserves - Calh Balance to b€ camod FoMard 50 00 s0 00 s0 00

0 004 Res€rves - Slci.nd An.ualLeave TEns Od 50 00 $0 00 s0.00
IOTAL RESERVES ENOING BALANCE $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

TOTAL BUDGETARY EXPENOITURES ANO RESERVES BALANCES 165,494.',|2 t65.494.12 1130,988.24

ENDING FUND BALANCE 50.00 s0. s0.00

SIGNED

SIGNED

DATE
Ch.imrn ot $! Ao.nl. or Clcrt of Clrcoh Coun

APPROVED: Florida OeFlartrnent orAgdculture and Conaumer Sorvices, Mo3quito Control Program

FDACS o.quho Conlml Plogrlm R.prB.nt tiv.
FDACgi36lT R€v. 09/23

DATE

0_

wrLfoN srMPsoN
COMMISSIONER

lcorti'th!tlh.budgel.hownt,a.dopt.donthl.-dayof-2o-



Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services
Division of Agricultural Environmental Services

ANNUAL CERTIFIED BUDGET FOR ARTHROPOD CONTROL

Rurs 5E-13.022. F.A.C
T€hphons:(850)617-7911rFar(850)617-7939

Submltto:
Mosqulo Conrrd Pmg.am
MosquiroconrrorRoporrs@FDACS.gov
3125 Conner aNd. S'rit€ E
TdLhe.se FL 323991650

County or District: B6dford County FISCAL YEAR OCTOBER 1, 2024 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2025

RECEIPTS

ACCT
NO DESCRIPTION LOCAL STATE TOTAL

311 Ad Valorem (Cu.renUDelinquent) $65 494 12 $0 00 565.494 12

334 1 Slaie Grant $0 00 s65 494 12 i65.494 12

362 Equipment Renials $0 00 $0 00 s0

s0

$0

s0

337 Grenls and Donations s0.00 s0 00

361 lnlerest Eamings $0 00 s0 00

364 Equrpment and/or Olher Sales 50 00 s0 00

369 Misc /Retunds (prior yr expendilures) $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

380 Other Sources 50 00 s0 00 s0 00

389 s0 00 s0 00 s0 00

IOIAL RECEIPTS $65.494 12 $65.49412 s130.988.24

BEGINNING FUNO BALANCE s0 00 $0 00 s0 00

IOTAL BUOGEIARY RECEIPTS ANO BALANCES 365,494.12 165,494.12 s130,988.2{

EXPENOITURES

ACCT
NO

Unitorm Accountlng Syltem Tran3action LOCAL STATE TOTAL

10 Personal Servrces s34 380 00 sl8 000 00 s52.380 00

20 Personal SeNrces Benetits 913,743_74 $6 973 26 s20,717 00

30 Operating Expense $0 00 s0 00 t0 00

40 T6vel & Per Oiem s500 o0 s700 00 t1.200 00
41 Communicallon Serv $400 00 s0 00 5400

$0
s0
s0
50

42 Freighl Servlces s0 00 s0 00
43 Utlity SeNice s0 00 s0 00

Rentals & Leases s0 00 s0 00

45 lnsurance s0 00 s0 00

46 Reparrs & Maintenance $625 00 s8 160 43 s8,785 43

47 Printing and Binding s0 00 s0 00 $0 00

48 Promotonal Aclivities 50 00 $0 00 s0 00

49 Other Charges $0 00 s0 00 s0 00

51 Office Supples $500 00 s8 160 43 $8.860 43

521 GasoIne/OiULube s3 000 00 $3 000 00 66.000 00

522 Chemrcals $8.213 38 s20 000 00 $2E.213 38

Proteclive Clothing s0 00 $0 00 $0 00

521 Mlsc Supplies s0 00 $0 00 s0 00

Tools & lmplements 50 00 s0 00 s0 00

54 Publications & Oues $0 00 s0 00 $0 00

Training s0 00 s500 00 s500 00

60 Caprtal Outlay s0 00 s0 00 t0 00

7l Principal s0 00 $0 00 s0 00

72 lnleresl s0 00 s0 00 s0 00

81 Aids lo Government Agencies $0 00 $0 00 s0 00

83 Other Granls and Aids s0 00 s0 00 g0 00

89 Contingenct (Curent Year) $4 132 00 s0 00 s4.132.00
99 Payment of Pnor Year Accounts $0 00 $0 00 s0

g0Olher Please Select Other Accounting Code s0 00 s0 00

Other Please Select Other Accounting Code $0 00 s0 00 s0
$0

3130 988

Other Please Select Other Accounting Code $0 00 g0 00

IOTAL aUOGETAtlD CHANGES t65.494.12 $65.4 12

0 001 Reserves - Flrlro Caprt. Outay s0 00 50 00 s0 00
0 002 Regerves - S6r-tnsuran@ $0 00 $0 00 $0

s00 003 Reserves - Cgsh 8atfice lo be Cad*:d Fo.ward s0 00 s0 00

0 004 Re3eNes - Sict and Annuar Lelvs Trans oll s0 00 $0 00 $0
TOTAL RESERVES Er'lOlNG BALANCE s0 00 s0 00

TOTAL AUOG€TARY EXPENOITURES ANO RESERVES BALANCES !65,,r94.12 $65,,rS4.12 tr30,988.24
ENOING FUNO BALANCE 10.00 $0.00 t0.00

I ccrttly th.t th. budget lho\rn wl .dopr.d on ol3 day

SIGNED DATEi--20
Ch.lrm.n ol tt. B{rd. or Cbrr of Clrcqlt Court

APPROVED: Flortda Dep..t n6nt of Agrlculture .nd Consumer Sarvtces, ttoaquito Control Program

slGNEoi- oATE:_20-
FOACS fo.qono Conrrot Progr.m R.p.r..nr.tv.

FDAC$!3617 R6v. 09,23

WILTON SIiIPSON
COMMISSIONER

$0 0c



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024     
    
AGENDA ITEM Consider approval of the updated Personnel Policies and 

Procedures   
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: The county’s personnel policy was reviewed by the Krizner 

Group which provided a list of suggestions for updates and 
new language to include to ensure the policy is current with 
legal requirements.  

 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 1 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

PERSONNEL POLICIES  
AND PROCEDURES 

 
  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 2 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I.  Introduction……………………………………………………… 4 
    
II.  You and Your Job 5 
 A. Loyalty Oath 5 
 B. Equal Employment Opportunity Statement 5 
 C. Core Values 5 
 D. Employee Status 6 
 E. Emergency Contact Information 7 
 F. Probationary Period 7 
 G. Personnel Records 8 
 H. Resignation 9 
 I. Job and Performance Evaluation 9 
 J. Responsibility for Accurate and Truthful Information 9 
 K. Violation of Local, State, and/or Federal Laws and Self-Reporting 

of Arrests and Convictions 
10 

    
III.  Policies and Procedures………………………………………… 11 
 A. Open Door Policy and Team Approach 11 
 B. Prohibition of Discrimination and Harassment and Complaint 

Procedure 
11 

 C. Grievance Procedure 15 
 D. No Unauthorized Recording in the Workplace 16 
 E. Amendments 16 
 F. Wage and Hour Procedures 17 
 G. Breaks and Meal Period 18 
 H. Personal Mail and Use of Telephones 19 
 I. Email Curfew 20 
 J. Dress Code 20 
 K. Information Technology Use 22 
 L. Outside Employment 26 
 M. Workplace Cleanliness 27 
 N. Safety 28 
 O. Workers Compensation 28 
 P. Code of Ethics for County Personnel 29 
 Q. Light Duty Policy 30 
 R. Accommodations 31 
 S. Online Trainings/Meetings 35 
 T. Promissory Note Policy 35 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 3 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

IV.  Your Benefits…………………………………………………….. 36 
 A. Paid Personal Leave 36 
 B. Employee Leave Transfer Policy 38 
 C. Holidays 42 
 D. Family and Medical Leave 43 
 E. Leaves of Absence 48 
 F. Funeral Leave 49 
 G. Group Health Insurance 50 
 H. Travel Reimbursement 50 
 I. Civic Duty 50 
    
V.  Making the County Office a Better Place to Work…………….. 51 
 A. Code of Personal Conduct 51 
 B. Emergency Medical Care 54 
 C. Disciplinary Actions 54 
 D. Controlled Substance Use 55 
 E. Medical Marijuana 56 
 F. Tobacco, Smoking, and Smoking-Alternative Products 57 
 G. Inquiries About Former Staff 58 
 H. Attendance and Promptness 58 
 I. Theft 58 
 J. Operation of County Vehicles 59 
 K. Motor Vehicle Record Checks 59 
 L. County Information or Records 59 
 M. Solicitation and Distribution 59 
 N. Salespersons and Solicitors 60 
 O. Social Media Policy 60 
 P. Weapons in the Workplace 63 
 Q. Contagious Illness 63 
 R. Workplace Violence 64 
 S. Bradford County Logos, Trademarks, and Brands 68 
 T. Use of Employee Photo, Likeness, and Voice 69 
 U. Workplace Surveillance and Monitoring 69 
 V. Nepotism 71 
    
VI.  Acknowledgment of Receipt……………………………………. 72 
    
    
  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 4 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
This manual has been prepared and serves as the official Board of County 
Commissioners Personnel Policy. Please read it carefully and keep it for 
reference. This manual was amended effective September 3, 2024, and 
supersedes all previously issued materials that conflict with these policies. As 
the need arises, the County may amend, revise, modify, or delete provisions or 
policies.  
 
The County Manager is designated to terminate the appointment and/or 
employment of county personnel. Termination of a Department 
Head/Supervisor will require Board concurrence.  
 
We encourage you to see your department head or County Manager if you have 
any questions or need additional information. 

  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 5 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

II. YOU AND YOUR JOB 

 
A. LOYALTY OATH 

 

Florida law requires that each staff member take the following oath before a Notary 
Public: 

"As a citizen of the State of Florida and of the United States of America (or 
resident alien), being appointed and/or hired by or as an officer of Bradford 
County, and a recipient of public funds as such, I do solemnly swear and affirm 
that I will support the Constitution of the United States and of the State of 
Florida." 

A copy of this oath must be signed by each staff member and filed in the records of 
the county before any voucher for the payment of salary, expenses, or other 
compensation to the staff member can be approved. Any person who fails to execute 
this oath shall be immediately discharged and shall not be permitted to receive any 
payment. Any person subsequently found to have made a false statement in the above 
oath may be guilty of the crime of perjury under Florida law. 

 

B. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY STATEMENT 
 

We are committed to providing equal opportunity in all of our employment practices, 
including selection, hiring, promotion, transfer, and compensation, to all qualified 
applicants and employees without regard to age, race, color, sex, religion, national 
origin, marital status, gender identity or expression, or sexual orientation, disability, or 
any other protected status in accordance with the requirements of all federal, state, 
and local laws. 

 

C. CORE VALUES 
 

Our goal is an ethical and cooperative work environment for all our employees.  We 
expect our employees to understand the following core values and affirm their 
commitment to ethical conduct throughout their duties and activities.   



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 6 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

We expect our employees to exhibit honesty, integrity, just management, fairness, 
trust, safety, and respect to coworkers, superiors, subordinates, those we serve and 
those who provide service to us.  

We expect our employees to promote a positive work environment.  Behaviors such 
as unscrupulous communications and gossip are destructive and not appropriate in 
our workplace.  

We believe our employees to be good citizens of the community, reflecting well upon 
themselves and the BOCC’s office. 

We expect our employees to be respectful of their co-workers, the BOCC’s office, 
and its leadership.   

At times, we may trust our employees with confidential organizational information.  
Respect these confidences. We expect that proprietary information will be protected 
and secure and will not be disclosed to anyone without proper authorization.  

We respect cultural diversity and recognize the value of a diverse workplace.   

We are committed to providing a drug-free, safe, and healthy work environment, and 
to observe environmentally sound business practices.   

We expect our employees to maintain accurate and complete business and 
transactional records. All information is to be factually represented in a timely 
manner.   

 

D. EMPLOYEE STATUS 
 

Full-time employees are active employees who are normally scheduled to work forty 
hours a week.  Full-time employees are eligible for all of the benefits set forth in the 
following pages. 

Part-time employees are active employees who are normally scheduled to work fewer 
than thirty hours a week.  Part-time employees are included in the Florida Retirement 
System but are not eligible for any additional benefits. 

If you have any questions concerning your status or the benefits for which you 
qualify, please contact the office of the Clerk of Courts. 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 7 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

E. EMERGENCY CONTACT INFORMATION 
 

Each employee is provided with an emergency contact form upon hire.  This 
document is used to determine who should be contacted in the event a medical or 
other emergency occurs at work.  This form may also be used as an alternative contact 
for the employee, should we be unable to contact the employee using other known 
methods.  It is the responsibility of the employee to keep the emergency contact 
information updated.  Employees should contact the Office of the Clerk of Courts to 
update this information. 

The emergency contact form is confidential and will be maintained in the employee’s 
personnel file. This information will be accessed only in the event of an emergency or 
when previously known contact information for the employee has been unsuccessful. 

 

F. PROBATIONARY PERIOD 
 

All new personnel serve a probationary period during the first 180 days of their 
appointment and/or employment. This period is established to evaluate the new 
employee’s work quality, attendance, and other performance factors and to determine 
how well they fit in. It also gives the individual an opportunity to decide whether they 
like the new job and surroundings. Personnel on probation may be terminated, 
transferred, or demoted at any time during this probationary period. Probationary 
personnel are personnel "at will, who may be terminated without cause.”  Satisfactory 
completion of the probationary period shall not be construed to mean that personnel 
have been given a property interest in their appointment and/or employment with the 
County. If a probationary staff member is terminated without cause, the staff member 
shall be given two weeks' notice. If the termination of a probationary staff member is 
with cause, no notice or severance pay shall be given. If it is determined that the 
probationary staff member's job performance has been questionable or unsatisfactory, 
that staff member’s probationary period may be extended. 

Staff members accrue paid personal leave during the probationary period but may not 
use such leave until successful completion of the probationary period. 

During the probationary period, more experienced personnel will share their 
knowledge and help you adjust to your duties and various procedures. Meanwhile, you 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 8 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

should not hesitate to ask questions to learn as much as possible about your new job. 
Your questions and concerns are important. 

If, because of an illness or injury, you are absent from work for more than five days 
during your probationary period, we may choose to extend your probationary period 
as necessary to give you a fair opportunity to demonstrate your ability to do the job.  
If your probationary period is extended, you will be notified. 

Should an employee’s performance become unsatisfactory at any time during this 
probationary period, the employee will be subject to discharge at that time.  If the 
BOCC’s office terminates an employee for unsatisfactory work performance during 
their probationary period, the BOCC’s office’s account will not be charged for 
unemployment benefits.  Completion of the probationary period does not confer any 
expectation of continuation in employment; continuation depends on the needs of the 
BOCC’s office and the performance and conduct of the employee. 

 

G. PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 

You will have your own personnel file. The file will contain information concerning 
your positions held, salary, advancement, promotions, leave, absence, 
commendations, and reprimands, if any. Personnel should be aware of the importance 
of keeping their personnel file current. You should promptly notify the payroll clerk 
of any change of address, telephone number, number of dependents, beneficiaries, 
etc. This is your responsibility and failure to do so may result in a loss of benefits. 
You should always advise your department head of any special training courses you 
have completed. Copies of diplomas or certificates should be forwarded to the payroll 
clerk to become a permanent part of your personnel file. 

All personnel have the right to know and inspect all matters contained in their 
personnel file and are entitled to copies of all matters contained therein. 

All matters contained within a staff member's personnel file are subject to public 
review and inspection unless statutorily exempted as not being a public record. Any 
member of the public requesting to review a staff member's personnel file, however, 
will be asked to put their request in writing and include their name, telephone number 
and what they wish to inspect or obtain copies of. When such a request is received, it 
shall be placed in the personnel file and the staff member shall be immediately 
notified of the request. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 9 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

The Clerk of Courts, as custodian for the county's personnel files, shall be responsible 
for ensuring that no confidential or private information or document is improperly or 
accidentally released to the public. The clerk will maintain a separate confidential file 
on each county employee in which all health, medical, insurance, and any other 
confidential and non-public records may be maintained in a secure fashion. 

 

H. RESIGNATION 
 

Those who decide to resign their position are requested to provide two weeks’ written 
notice, unless otherwise agreed to by their department head/supervisor. Those who 
fail to provide this written notice shall be disqualified from receiving unused paid 
personal leave, which they may otherwise be entitled to receive. 

 

I. JOB AND PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
 

Annual evaluations will be conducted on or before the anniversary date of their hire 
for the preceding year. At an Annual Performance Review, the department 
head/supervisor may set goals to improve performance, recognize when someone has 
done a good job, and discuss the staff member’s job performance. 

 

J. RESPONSIBILITY FOR ACCURATE AND TRUTHFUL 
INFORMATION 
 

Employees of the BOCC’s office are responsible for providing accurate and truthful 
information to the BOCC’s office in all aspects of the employment relationship. This 
obligation begins with an employee’s application and all information submitted to the 
BOCC’s office prior to hire and is a continuing obligation through an employee’s 
tenure with the BOCC’s office. This includes, but is not limited to, all information an 
employee submits regarding their internal administrative and benefit-related 
documentation, all records of time worked, all input regarding any form of 
performance evaluation or corrective action plan, and as related to an employee’s 
performance of their job duties. Any violation of this obligation on the part of the 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 10 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

employee will result in discipline upon discovery of the false information, with the 
likelihood such actions will lead to termination of employment. 

 

K. VIOLATION OF LOCAL, STATE, AND/OR FEDERAL LAWS AND 
SELF-REPORTING OF ARRESTS AND CONVICTIONS  
 

1. Anyone known to be violating a local, state, and/or federal law on BOCC’s 
office property or at a BOCC’s office-supported function will be subject to 
referral for prosecution to the appropriate law enforcement agency. 
 

2. All employees are required to self-report the following information to their 
immediate supervisor or the County Manager’s office within twenty-four (24) 
hours: 
a. Any arrests, charges, or sworn complaints that are considered criminal  

(i.e.. felony/misdemeanor); 
b. Any conviction, finding of guilt, withholding of adjudication,  

commitment to a pretrial diversion program or entering of a plea of 
guilty on Nolo Contendere for any criminal offense other than a minor 
traffic violation. 
 

3. For purposes of this policy a minor traffic violation is defined as a non-criminal 
violation that may require community service hours but is not punishable by 
incarceration and for which there is no right to trial by jury.  Criminal traffic 
violations, including driving under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs, are 
not minor and must be reported. 
 

4. Any employee in violation of the reporting requirements of this policy may be 
subject to disciplinary action up to or including dismissal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 11 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

III. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

A. OPEN DOOR POLICY AND TEAM APPROACH 

The County maintains an open-door policy under which all staff members have the 
right to deal directly with their department head/supervisor and the County Manager 
regarding all working conditions. The county is opposed to an outside party 
interfering in the working relationship with staff. When management and staff work 
toward common goals, such outside interference is unnecessary. The county 
recognizes and accepts the obligation to provide staff with good working conditions, 
good wages and benefits, fair treatment, and the personal respect each staff member 
deserves. 

Please understand that the BOCC’s office cannot help to resolve disputes that are not 
reported. Please also be aware that any dispute resolution process does not allow a 
subordinate employee to ignore the appropriate direction of their supervisor. 

 

B. PROHIBITION OF DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT AND 
COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 

Harassment is a form of intimidating, threatening, and/or predatory behavior in 
which a person targets another employee(s) for harmful or unfair actions relating to 
an individual’s age, race, color, sex (including same-sex sexual harassment), religion, 
national origin, gender identity or expression, or sexual orientation, or disability. This 
treatment is discrimination and is illegal under federal, state, and local laws.  For the 
purposes of this policy, “sexual harassment” specifically is defined, as in the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission Guidelines, as unwelcome sexual advances, 
requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature 
when, for example: a) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or 
implicitly a term or condition of an individual’s employment, b) submission to or 
rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment 
decisions affecting such individual, or c) such conduct has the purpose or effect of 
unreasonably interfering with an individual’s work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.  

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 recognizes two types of sexual harassment: a) 
quid pro quo and b) hostile work environment. Sexual harassment may include a 
range of subtle and not-so-subtle behaviors and may involve individuals of the same 
or different gender. Depending on the circumstances, these behaviors may include 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 12 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

unwanted sexual advances or requests for sexual favors; sexual jokes and innuendo; 
verbal abuse of a sexual nature; commentary about an individual’s body, sexual 
prowess, or sexual deficiencies; leering, whistling, or touching; insulting or obscene 
comments or gestures; display in the workplace of sexually suggestive objects or 
pictures; and other physical, verbal, or visual conduct of a sexual nature.  

This policy applies to all employees of the BOCC’s office working at all locations. All 
employees have an obligation to report harassment or discrimination in the 
workplace—even if they are not the victim.   

All workers, including supervisors and managers, will be subject to discipline, up to 
and including discharge, for any act of harassment or discrimination they commit. 

1. Examples of Prohibited Conduct: 
a. Though harassment, including sexual harassment, encompasses a wide 

range of conduct, some examples of specifically prohibited conduct include 
the following: 
• Physical assaults of a sexual nature, such as rape, sexual battery, 

molestation or attempts to commit these assaults, and intentional 
physical conduct that is sexual in nature, such as touching, pinching, 
patting, grabbing, brushing against another employee's body, or poking 
another employee's body. 

• Unwelcome sexual advances, propositions, or other sexual comments, 
such as sexually oriented gestures, noises, remarks, jokes or comments 
about a person's sexuality or sexual experience. 

•  Inappropriate statements, written or verbal, comments, jokes, or threats 
directed toward a person based on their age, race, color, sex (including 
same-sex sexual harassment), religion, national origin, gender identity or 
expression, or sexual orientation, or disability.  

• Preferential treatment or promises of preferential treatment to an 
employee for submitting to sexual conduct, including soliciting, or 
attempting to solicit any employee to engage in sexual activity for 
compensation or reward. 

•  Preferential treatment or promises of preferential treatment to an 
employee based on their age, race, color, sex (including same-sex sexual 
harassment), religion, national origin, gender identity or expression, or 
sexual orientation, or disability. 

• Negative treatment or threats of negative treatment to an employee 
based on their age, race, color, sex (including same-sex sexual 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 13 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

harassment), religion, national origin, gender identity or expression, or 
sexual orientation, or disability.  

• Subjecting, or threats of subjecting, an employee to unwelcome sexual 
attention or conduct or intentionally making performance of the 
employee's job more difficult because of that employee's sex.  

• Sexual or discriminatory displays or publications anywhere in our 
workplace by our employees.  

• Retaliation for sexual harassment complaints. 
 

b. Remote-based sexual harassment is also strictly prohibited.  Examples of  
such behaviors include: 

• Inappropriate jokes, memes, or images shared through email or 
messaging, including sexually explicit content and content.  

• Sharing of or solicitation of inappropriate or explicit photographs. 
• Sending inappropriate website links or nude photographs or sexual  

videos. 
• Suggestive comments or solicitations through chat, private messaging, or 

phone. 
• Denigrating sexist comments in a video conference or one-on-one 

discussion, whether directed at an individual or generalized to a group. 
• Statements or questions of a sexual nature during conference calls or 

video meetings.  
• Unwanted flirtatiousness or romantic advances, even if not sexually 

explicit including commentary on a co-worker’s appearance or sound 
during a remote meeting.  

• Subjecting viewers or listeners to sexual content during remote meetings 
including sharing pornographic images and/or audio, showing intimate 
body parts, or engaging in sexual activity, even if it is accidental. 
 

2. Responding to Violations of this Policy 
 
a. If an employee believes that they have been subject to discrimination, 

harassment, or any unwelcome sexual attention, they may address the 
situation directly and immediately to the harasser, if possible. You are 
not required to address the situation with the harasser if there is any 
concern of aggression or harm. If the inappropriate conduct does not 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 14 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

cease, or if the employee is unable to or uncomfortable with addressing 
the alleged harasser directly, they should report the incident to their own 
supervisor or manager.  If the inappropriate conduct does not cease, or 
if the employee is unable to or uncomfortable with addressing the 
situation with the supervisor or manager, they should report the incident 
to the BOCC.   
 

b. It is important to report any and all concerns of discrimination,  
harassment, or inappropriate sexual conduct to the HR director or a 
supervisor/manager as soon as possible. Management must be made 
aware of the situation so that it can conduct an immediate and impartial 
investigation and take appropriate action to remediate or prevent the 
prohibited conduct from continuing.  
 

c. Employees who violate this policy are subject to appropriate discipline. 
If an investigation results in a finding that this policy has been violated, 
the mandatory minimum discipline is a written reprimand. The discipline 
for very serious or repeat violations is termination of employment. 
Persons who violate this policy may also be subject to civil damages or 
criminal penalties. 

 
d. All inquiries, complaints, and investigations are treated discreetly.  

Information is revealed strictly on a need-to-know basis. Information 
contained in a formal complaint is closely contained. All information 
pertaining to a discrimination or harassment complaint, or investigation 
is maintained by the HR director in secure files. The HR director can 
answer any questions relating to the procedures for handling information 
related to discrimination or harassment complaints and investigations to 
complainants and respondents. 
 

3. Retaliation Prohibited 
 
a. Federal, state, and local laws prohibit punishing job applicants or  

employees for asserting their rights to be free from discrimination, 
harassment, or inappropriate sexual conduct.  Additionally, employees 
are protected from reporting in good faith actions they reasonably 
believe to be illegal or unlawful. Asserting these rights is called 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 15 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

"protected activity," and it can take many forms.  For example, it is 
unlawful to retaliate against applicants or employees for: 
• filing or being a witness in a complaint, investigation, or lawsuit; 
• communicating with a supervisor or manager about employment 

discrimination, including harassment or a report of illegal or unlawful 
activity; 

• answering questions during an employer investigation;  
• refusing to follow orders that would result in discrimination or other 

illegal or unlawful actions;  
• resisting sexual advances, or intervening to protect others; and 
• requesting accommodation for a disability or for a religious practice. 

 
b. Participating in a complaint process or an investigation is protected from  

retaliation under all circumstances. Other acts to oppose discrimination 
or illegal actions are protected as long as the employee was acting on a 
reasonable belief that something in the workplace may violate federal, 
state, and/or local laws addressing the employment relationship, even if 
they did not use legal terminology to describe it or is ultimately incorrect 
about the issue, provided the employee has made complaint in good 
faith. 

Engaging in protected activity, however, does not shield an employee 
from all discipline or discharge. Employers are free to discipline or 
terminate workers if motivated by non-retaliatory and non-
discriminatory reasons that would otherwise result in such consequences. 

 

C. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 

1. People who work together may not always agree. If a disagreement exists 
between you and a coworker, you should contact your supervisor and report 
the issue so a resolution can be found.  
 

2. If a disagreement exists between you and your department head/supervisor, 
you may request to have that disagreement reviewed by the County Manager.  
 
a. You should reduce your grievance to writing within 10 calendar days of  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 16 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

the event or incident giving rise to your grievance and submit it to the 
County Manager for review. The County Manager will then conduct an 
independent review of the surrounding facts; decide based on those 
facts, this decision will be final. 
 

b. This grievance procedure is intended for all disagreements, including any  
disagreements concerning discipline and/or discharge. All parties are 
expected to cooperate fully in resolving grievances under this procedure. 

 
3. The County recognizes each staff member's right to use this grievance 

procedure. No staff member, however, shall knowingly file a false grievance or 
make accusations known by the staff member to be false. 
 

D. NO UNAUTHORIZED RECORDING IN THE WORKPLACE 
 

1. Unauthorized electronic surveillance of employees is disruptive to employee 
morale and inconsistent with the respectful treatment required of our 
employees. For this reason, no employee may record the conversation of 
another employee without their full knowledge and consent. 
 

2. No employee may record, by any means, a conversation with another employee 
unless all the following criteria are met: 

 

a. A legitimate purpose for the recording. 
 
b. A recording device in plain view. 
 
c. Written authorization from the supervisor of the employee who wishes  

to record the conversation. 
 

3. Secret recordings are strictly prohibited unless authorized in writing by legal 
counsel. A violation of this provision may result in disciplinary action, including 
termination. 
 

E. AMENDMENTS 
 

1. The County may amend these rules and regulations from time to time. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 17 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

F. WAGE AND HOUR PROCEDURES 

The minimum wage and overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act apply to 
all non-exempt personnel. Before being hired and/or appointed, any person classified 
as exempt shall be so notified. Exempt staff members include those in executive, 
administrative, or professional positions or in any position that may be otherwise 
exempt under federal wage and hour law. The following rules apply to non-exempt 
personnel: 

1. You should not work overtime during any workweek without the express 
approval of your department head/supervisor. If you do work overtime, you 
will be paid time and one-half of your regular hourly wage. Overtime normally 
consists of those hours worked more than 40 per week, but the County 
reserves the right at any time to apply a different standard if such a standard is 
allowed by law. Your department head/supervisor will inform you of your 
normal days and hours of employment. Hours of paid personal leave, funeral 
leave, jury duty, and holidays shall be considered hours worked for the purpose 
of computing overtime. 
 

2. You will be responsible for accurately maintaining your own time records. You 
should either punch a timecard or fill out time sheets, whether physical or 
electronic. They should be filled out daily indicating the time you begin work, 
take a lunch break, and end work. Should you need to leave your work area for 
personal reasons during business, you should punch your timecard or write in 
on your time sheet, upon leaving and returning. Do not report to your work 
area until you are required to begin work. No one may punch another's 
timecard or ask another staff member to punch their timecard. Corrections to 
your timecard must be submitted in writing to your supervisor, the County 
Manager’s office, or the Clerk of Court’s office.  
 

3. If a holiday is observed on a staff member's regular workday and the staff 
member is required to work; the staff member shall be paid straight time for 
the time actually worked plus eight hours of straight time as holiday pay. If the 
holiday is observed on a staff member's regular day off, and the staff member is 
required to work, the staff member shall be paid straight time for the hours 
actually worked and the staff member shall be paid at one and one-half(1½) 
times their straight hourly rate as holiday pay. Non-exempt staff may elect to 
waive payment for work on holidays and have each hour worked credited to 
their Personal Leave Account. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 18 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

 
4. Because of numerous federal and state regulations, you must not take work 

home unless specifically authorized to do so by your department 
head/supervisor. All work you perform for the County should be performed 
during regularly scheduled or authorized work hours. 
 

5.  We encourage you to leave your work area during your entire lunch break. It is 
a violation of this policy to perform any unauthorized work for the County 
during your lunch break. 

 
6.  If you are asked to attend a training or educational seminar and the seminar is 

conducted during your normal workweek, you will be paid for your time 
traveling to and from the seminar location. 
 

7.  Weekend work and night work are strictly prohibited unless specifically 
authorized by your department head/supervisor. 
 

8.  No employee may “volunteer” their time or otherwise work “off-the-clock” 
and no supervisor or manager has the authority to require, permit, or ask any 
staff to work hours without reporting them.  
 

G. BREAKS AND MEAL PERIOD 
 

1. All staff should take no more than two breaks per day, not to exceed 15 
minutes each. Staff members are not required to clock out for breaks as long as 
you do not leave the grounds. Should it be necessary to leave the grounds, they 
must clock out. 
 

2. All staff may take a meal break of at least 30 minutes duration each workday. 
Meal periods will be scheduled by your department head/supervisor, in a 
matter that will allow our staff to best serve the public. All staff must leave on 
time for their assigned meal break and return on time so that the next person 
can leave in a timely manner. The only accepted reason for not leaving on time 
is if the staff member is busy with a member of the public. If this occurs, the 
staff member should clock out at the time they actually leave for the meal 
break. 
 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 19 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

H. PERSONAL MAIL AND USE OF TELEPHONES 
 

Due to the volume of official mail, the county is not able to handle personal mail. 
Staff should request that their personal mail be delivered to their home, not to work. 
The County’s stationery and postage may not be used for personal business. The 
county regulates and monitors the use of its electronic data and communications 
systems, including telephone, voicemail, e-mail, facsimile, and others. Telephones, 
land based, wireless and facsimile provided by the County are to be used for calls that 
are primarily county business. However, the county recognizes that there may 
occasionally be times when personal calls must be placed or received during business 
hours. The following guidelines should govern the placing and receiving of personal 
calls during work time: 

 
1. All personal telephone calls should be kept as short as possible in the interest 

of minimizing disruption to work. 
 

2. Consistent with the previous point, no personal telephone call should exceed 
five minutes. 

 
3. All staff should attempt to restrict personal calls to family/partners and defer 

other calls to times outside work hours; 
 

4.  If a staff member is on a personal telephone call and is required to return their 
attention to work, then that call should be terminated as a matter of urgency; 

 
5. Only local outgoing personal telephone calls are permitted. Personal long-

distance calls are not permitted; 
 

6. The telephone is not to be used in any way that offends the law or as a device 
for delivery of offensive or objectionable communications; 

 
7. Telephone calls to "charge-for" services (900 numbers, etc.) or the like are 

strictly prohibited; 
 

8. Use of cell phones (including two-way radios) for personal calls is prohibited in 
your work area. Should there be a need to use your cell phone during work 
time, you are asked to leave your work area, and follow the guidelines set forth 
above.  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 20 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

I. EMAIL CURFEW 
 
It is the policy of the BOCC’s office that non-exempt employees will work only their 
assigned schedule unless they are provided with specific, prior approval for a schedule 
change or overtime.  Reading, sending, or otherwise working on emails outside of 
work hours constitutes work and is strictly prohibited without such prior approval.  
Employees violating this policy are subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination.   

 
J. DRESS CODE 

 
Employee appearance should project a professional image while at work. Staff are 
expected to be neat, clean, and well-groomed while on the job. All clothing must be 
consistent with the standards for a professional environment, be appropriate for the 
type of work being performed and comply with any uniform requirements for specific 
departments and should not be a distraction to others. 
 

1. The following are prohibited: 
 
a. Intentional body modification or alteration for purposes of achieving a  

physical effect that disfigures or similarly detracts from a professional 
image is prohibited.  This includes brands, visible body piercing 
(excluding ears), tongue piercing or splitting, tooth filling, or earlobe 
expansion. 
 

b. Visible tattoos are permitted but must not be on the face, head, or neck  
of the employee and can be no larger than the employee’s hand.  No 
tattoo will be allowed that depicts nudity, offensive or inappropriate 
language or images, or that expressly violates BOCC’s office policy.  
 

c. Inappropriate dress includes but is not limited to:  
• jogging attire, casual shorts, sheer fabric clothing, tops or dresses  

with low-cut fronts, tank/halter tops, spaghetti straps, 
skirts/dresses/shorts that are more than four inches above the 
knee.  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 21 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

• This list is not all-inclusive but should help set the general 
parameters for proper attire and allow staff to make intelligent 
judgements about items that are not specifically addressed. 

 
2. Every employee is also expected to maintain good personal hygiene  

habits. Specific hygiene expectations include the following: 
a. All hair, including facial hair, must be clean, neat, moderately styled, and  

in natural colors, so as not to be distracting. 
 

b. Fingernails must be clean and neatly groomed; fingernails may be  
painted, regardless of gender, and should not be more than ½” in length 
and not interfere with job performance.  
 

c. Employees, regardless of gender, are permitted to wear make-up in  
moderated, non-distracting amounts and natural colors. 
 

d. Jewelry should be kept to a minimum. Earrings, rings, bracelets,  
pendants, brooches, and necklaces should be simple, small, and non-
distracting (no dangling earrings over ½” in length.) For departments 
who must follow additional safety regulations to perform regular work, 
this policy does not override necessary safety precautions.  

 
3. Dress Down Day – Friday’s Only: 

 
a. Fridays are considered to be dress “down” days for those staff members  

who wish to participate or those who Will Not be required to be in a 
business meeting. Jeans, casual shirts, and casual shoes are permitted, 
provided they are in good condition. This does not apply to 
Departments requiring uniforms.  

 
b. The BOCC’s office also recognizes the importance of individually held  

religious beliefs to persons within its workforce. The BOCC’s office will 
reasonably accommodate a staff member’s religious beliefs in terms of 
workplace attire unless the accommodation creates an undue hardship. 
Accommodation of religious beliefs in terms of attire may be difficult in 
light of safety issues for staff members. Those requesting workplace 
attire accommodation based on religious beliefs should be referred to 
the office of the Clerk of Courts. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 22 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

 
c. Any staff member who is improperly dressed will be counseled, or in  

severe cases, may be sent home to change clothes (time spent in transit 
and changing into appropriate clothing is not working time.) If a staff 
member is warned regarding unacceptable attire and/or sent home three 
times, a written warning will be issued and placed in the staff member’s 
personnel file. Continued disregard of the policy may be cause for 
further disciplinary action, which may result in termination. Each staff 
member must use their best judgement when maintaining appropriate 
attire and appearance. A rule of thumb – if in doubt, do not wear it. 

 
K. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY USE 

 
1. Policy Overview 

 
This policy contains guidelines for the use, access, and disclosure of 
communications (including, among other things, telephone, mail, email, 
voicemail, desk and laptop computers, pagers, mobile phones, faces or 
facsimiles, internet, and intranet) sent or received by employees using any 
BoCC office provided Communication or Computer Systems (“Systems”) or as 
related to any organizational communications or purpose. 
 

2. Confidentiality and Acceptable Systems Usage 
 
The BoCC’s office’s Systems are intended for BoCC’s office business only. All 
information transmitted or stored in BoCC’s office Systems (e.g., client lists, 
documents relating to policies and procedures) is the sole and exclusive 
property of the BoCC’s office and should be treated as confidential. Such 
information may not be disclosed to any person outside of the BoCC’s office 
nor may any such information be removed from our premises without the 
express permission of the Director of Human Resources. Employees are 
strictly prohibited from accessing, reading, and copying data or information 
stored in the Systems and from accessing, reading, and copying 
communications not directed to them without prior authorization. 
 
ALL SYSTEMS MESSAGES ARE BOCC’S OFFICE RECORDS. THE 
CONTENTS OF OUR SYSTEMS MAY BE DISCLOSED TO THE 
BOCC’S OFFICE WITHOUT YOUR PERMISSION. THEREFORE, YOU 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 23 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

SHOULD NOT ASSUME THAT MESSAGES AND COMMUNICATIONS 
ARE CONFIDENTIAL. 
 

3. Management’s Right to Access Information 
 
Our Computer, Telephone, and Communication hardware and software 
systems have been installed and are used to facilitate business communications.  
Although each employee has an individual password to access these Systems, 
they belong to the BOCC’s office, and the contents of all communications are 
accessible by management for any business purpose.  The BOCC’s office 
reserves the right to monitor, and will periodically monitor, its Systems in order 
to ensure compliance with this Policy.  Employees are strictly prohibited from 
placing personal passwords on any BOCC’s office System for the purpose of 
preventing such monitoring 
 
EMPLOYEES SHOULD NOT CONSIDER ANY MATERIALS 
TRANSMITTED OR STORED IN THE BOCC’S OFFICE SYSTEMS TO 
BE PRIVATE. 
 
The BOCC’s office reserves the right to limit or prohibit employee use of 
electronic communications when necessary to ensure organizational production 
or to discipline employees for performance related reasons. 
 

4. Personal Use of the BOCC’s office’s Communication and Computer Systems 
 
a. General Usage 
 

Because personal communications can be accessed without prior notice, 
employees should not use BOCC’s office Systems to transmit any 
messages, or to access any information, which you would not want a 
third party to see.  Although incidental and occasional personal use of 
our Systems is permitted, any such personal use will be treated the same 
as all other communications under this Policy.  However, employees are 
at all times strictly prohibited from accessing or downloading 
information from the Internet for personal use.  
 

b. Telephone Usage 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 24 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

The Telephone Systems (including voice mail) at the BOCC’s office are 
the property of the BOCC’s office and are provided for business 
purposes.  The BOCC’s office may periodically monitor the usage of the 
telephone systems to ensure compliance with this policy.   
 
THEREFORE, EMPLOYEES SHOULD NOT CONSIDER THEIR 
CONVERSATIONS ON THE BOCC’S OFFICE’S TELEPHONE 
SYSTEMS TO BE PRIVATE. 
 

c. Personal Mail 
 
All mail which is delivered to the BOCC’s office is presumed to be 
related to BOCC’s office business.  Mail sent to you at the BOCC’s 
office will be opened by the office and routed to your department.  If 
you do not wish to have your correspondence handled in this manner, 
please have it delivered to your home. 
 

5. Forbidden Use and Content of Communications 
 

You may not use our Systems in any way that may be seen as insulting, 
disruptive, offensive, or harmful to morale.  Examples of prohibited, non-
business purposes include, but are not limited to, use of the BOCC’s office’s 
Systems: 

• to convey insensitive, improper, derogatory, insulting, threatening, 
or harassing language or remarks, or sexually explicit messages, 
cartoons, jokes, or other potentially offensive material;  

• to send propositions, love letters, or any other message that could 
be construed to be harassment or disparagement of others in 
violation of our policy against harassment;  

• to write personal letters, resumes, or other documents unrelated 
to BOCC’s office business; 

• to run computer games or other personal software, or copy such 
software;  

• as a forum for gossip or personal communications. 
 

The BOCC’s office may monitor employee use of computers and email for any 
and all legitimate management purposes.  Such purposes include the assurance 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 25 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

of employee production, the prevention of illegal harassment and other 
unethical behaviors, and all other reasons necessary to best ensure that the core 
values of the BOCC’s office are met.  Employees should not expect any privacy 
when using the BOCC’s office computers or email. 

 
6. Password and Encryption Key Security and Integrity 

 
All Systems passwords and encryption keys must be available to the BOCC’s 
office at all times.  Additionally, you may not use passwords that are unknown 
to your Supervisor, nor may you install encryption programs without first 
turning over encryption keys to your Supervisor.  Further, employees are 
prohibited from the unauthorized use of passwords and encryption keys 
belonging to other employees in order to gain access to other employees’ 
messages. 

 
7. Software, Personal Disks, and Networking 

 
Computer software, whether purchased, developed, or modified by the 
BOCC’s office, may not be downloaded, copied, reproduced, altered, or 
appropriated by employees without prior BOCC’s office authorization.  Any 
such computer software is the property of the BOCC’s office and may not be 
copied or appropriated by employees for personal use during employment with 
the BOCC’s office or upon separation.  Employees should be aware that the 
illegal duplication of computer software may result in the filing of criminal 
copyright charges by the owners of the copyrights; copyright infringement is 
punishable by fines and/or imprisonment. 

 
The BOCC’s office does not condone the use of “bootleg” or “pirate” 
software on its computer system.  The use of such software is grounds for 
discipline, up to and including immediate termination.  Any employee who 
becomes aware of the presence of any “bootleg” or “pirate” software on the 
BOCC’s office’s computer system should notify management immediately. 

 
The use of personal disks or software in the BOCC’s office’s computer system 
without prior authorization is strictly prohibited.  Employees are further 
prohibited from accessing the BOCC’s office’s Systems from remote locations 
and from connecting BOCC’s office Systems to outside systems without prior 
authorization.   



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 26 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

8. Preservation of BOCC’s office Documents and Communications 
 

As a general rule, communications between co-workers, and particularly 
supervisors and subordinates, addressing BOCC’s office business or matters, 
should occur only through the use of BOCC’s office equipment and not 
personal devices. This requirement helps the BOCC’s office to retain 
documents and information related to its actions, prevent the loss of critical 
BOCC’s office information, protect the security of such information, and 
prevent the occurrence of inappropriate communications.  

 
Employees using personal devices for organizational business or matters are 
responsible for ensuring such information or documentation is retained and 
securely transferred to the BOCC’s office within a reasonable period of time 
after the events that created the documentation or communication, not to 
exceed a period of two weeks.  

 
9. Penalties for Violation of the BOCC’s office’s Communication and Computer 

Systems Security and Usage Policy 
 

VIOLATIONS OF ANY ASPECT OF THE BOCC’S OFFICE’S 
COMMUNICATION AND COMPUTER SYSTEMS SECURITY AND 
USAGE POLICY MAY RESULT IN DISCIPLINE, UP TO AND 
INCLUDING IMMEDIATE DISCHARGE.  The BOCC’s office will also 
seek civil damages against any employee who appropriates or copies the 
BOCC’s office’s property as described in this Policy.  

 
L. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT 
 
What County personnel do off duty is usually a matter of personal business. However, 
before accepting any outside employment, you are required to acquire written 
permission from the department head/supervisor or County Manager. The outside 
employment must not be in violation of policies or the State's conflict of interest law. 
The outside employment must not affect or restrict your availability for work, reduce 
your efficiency on the job, or otherwise adversely affect county operations. This 
written permission, if granted, will become part of your personnel file. Also, the 
County will not consider appointing and/or hiring anyone for a full-time position if 
that person already has a full-time job and plans to continue working in that position. 
Employees who have accepted outside employment may not use paid sick leave to 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 27 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

work on the outside job.  Fraudulent use of sick leave will result in disciplinary action 
up to and including termination. Receiving compensation from the county for the 
time the staff member is working in an outside job is strictly prohibited. 

 
M. WORKPLACE CLEANLINESS 
 
It is the expectation of the BOCC’s office that all employees will work cooperatively 
to ensure our workspaces consistently remain clean and sanitary. Unless specifically 
designated, no single employee will be solely responsible for the cleanliness of 
community work areas. However, each employee will be individually responsible for 
making sure that their specific work area is maintained appropriately. At a minimum, 
this requires every employee to do the following: 

1. Properly dispose of all garbage, including food-related items when an 
employee’s meal is complete. Do not leave garbage or uneaten food out. 
 

2. Do not leave dirty dishes in any breakroom area or sink. 
 

3. Practice good hygiene on a consistent basis, including regular handwashing and 
coughing or sneezing in a manner that avoids transmission of germs to 
 others. 
 

4. Do not come to work ill. Period. 
 

5. If you become ill while at work, disinfect all surfaces with which you come into 
contact.  
 

6. If designated, disinfect common areas, including frequent touch surfaces, such 
as doorknobs and/or keypads on a [daily/weekly] basis. 
 

7. Cooperatively maintain the cleanliness of all common areas.  
 

8. Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the transmission 
of illness to your coworkers or others. Violations of this policy will result in 
disciplinary measures. 
 
 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 28 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

N. SAFETY 

The county is vitally interested in the safety and well-being of each staff member. 
county's intent is to provide safe and healthy working conditions. We ask that each 
staff member:  

1. Take precautions in the prevention of accidents to yourself and others. 
 

2. Bring conditions you feel to be dangerous to the attention of your department 
head/supervisor. 
 

3. Properly and safely operate all equipment you may use in the performance of 
your work. 
 

4. Observe all applicable safety regulations. 
 

5. Wear appropriate clothing for the job. 
 

6. Report any work-related injury promptly to your department head/supervisor 
(who has the responsibility of providing medical attention or first aid) and 
complete a Workers' Comp Accident Report. It is your responsibility to make 
sure the report is turned in promptly to the Payroll Clerk. 
 

O. WORKERS COMPENSATION 
 

Employees shall be paid compensation in accordance with Florida Workers' 
Compensation Law for illness or injury arising out of and during their employment. 
Employees may utilize paid personal leave to maintain employment benefits during 
such time periods when the employee is absent from their job due to a workers' 
compensation illness or injury and not otherwise receiving workers' compensation 
loss wage benefits. Employees who have no personal leave available to them may 
utilize family and medical leave and/or unpaid personal leave of absence. 

1. Because operations sometimes require that vacant positions be filled, a leave of 
absence does not guarantee that the job will be available when the employee 
returns from leave. An effort, however, will be made to place the employee in 
their previous position or a comparable job which the employee is qualified to 
perform upon returning from leave. If no such position is available, the 
employee may be eligible for rehire as a new employee if the employee applies 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 29 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

for an available position for which the employee is qualified and if the 
employee's previous work history warrants rehire. 
 

2. Report on the Job Injuries: 
 
a. Employees should immediately report any on the job injury  

(emergency and non- emergency) to their direct supervisor. 
• 911 Emergency Medical Services should be called for any life 

threatening or severe injury and should be reported to their 
immediate supervisor as soon as possible. 
 

b. Upon notification of an on-the-job injury, the department  
head/supervisor must contact  the County Emergency Medical 
Services Director or Executive Assistant to the County Manager and the 
Human Resource Personnel clerk to report the injury. 
 

• The Human Resource Personnel clerk will process Workers’ 
Compensation claims upon immediate notification of an on-the-
job injury. 

 

P. CODE OF ETHICS FOR COUNTY PERSONNEL 
 

1. Each staff member is a representative of the County to the public and should 
bear in mind that public taxes pay their salary. As an integral member of the 
county staff, you agree to use the highest ethical standards in your work and in 
your representation to the public. The items listed below are examples of the 
standards of conduct and ethics expected of each staff member but are not 
intended to be all-inclusive. No staff member shall: 
 
a. Engage in any outside employment or other activity, which interferes in  

any way with the full performance of their duties and responsibilities to 
the County. 

 
b. Seek or accept anything of value that would cause a reasonably prudent  

person to be, or seem to the public to be, influenced in the discharge of 
their official job responsibilities. 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 30 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

c. Have a direct or indirect financial interest that conflicts substantially or  
appears to conflict substantially with their official duties or job 
responsibilities, nor engage in any transaction relying on information 
obtained through their position. 
 

d. Use or allow the use of county, state, or Federal property of any kind for  
other than officially approved activities. 

 
e. Use or allow the use of official information gained through their position  

which has not been made available to the public. 
 
f. Engage in a riot or civil disorder involving acts of violence causing  

damage to property or injury to person. 
 
g. Engage in criminal, dishonest, immoral, obviously disgraceful conduct,  

or other conduct injurious or prejudicial to the County. 
 

2. Pursuant to section 112.s13(3), F.s., no public officer, staff member, or 
candidate may either solicit or accept anything of value., including a gift, loan, 
reward, promise of future appointment and/or employment, favor or service 
which is based on any understanding that the vote, official action or judgment 
of the official would be influenced. 

 
Q. LIGHT DUTY POLICY 

 
1. When an employee becomes injured or ill to an extent the employee cannot 

safely perform their job duties, both the County and the employee may benefit 
from temporarily assigning the employee to perform available tasks within the 
employee's physical or medical restrictions while the employee recuperates. In 
this regard, if any employee has an illness or injury restricting the employee 
from performing any one of the essential functions of the employee’s job, the 
County may offer the employee a temporary light duty assignment under the 
following conditions: 
 
a. If eligible for family and medical leave, the employee is free to reject the  

light duty assignment and take leave instead; 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 31 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

b. The County has no obligation to offer an alternative light duty  
assignment in any particular instance; 

 
c. The county has the right to pay the employee at a rate the county, in its  

complete discretion, determines to be appropriate for the light duty 
assignment, regardless of the employee's normal pay rate; 

 
d. Before returning the employee to their regular job from either family and  

medical leave or light duty assignment, the employee will be required to 
obtain a fitness-for-duty certification in accordance with County policies; 
and 

 
e. The light duty assignment will end on the earliest of the following: 

•   when the employee is certified to return to regular duties; 
•   when the employee is determined to have reached maximum medical  

  improvement; or 
•  at the end of 90 calendar days 
 

R. ACCOMMODATIONS  
 

1. GENERAL ACCOMMODATION 
 
It is the policy of this BOCC’s office to afford equal opportunity to all 
employees, regardless of physical or mental disability.  However, all employees 
with such disabilities are expected to perform the essential functions of their 
positions as both defined in their respective job descriptions or as performed 
on a regular basis as part of their normal responsibilities.   
 
All employees with disabilities are eligible for accommodations per the 
Americans with Disabilities Act.  Such requests must be made to either the 
employee’s direct supervisor or made to the human resource officer of the 
BOCC’s office.  While the BOCC’s office cannot make all requested 
accommodations, it will work with the employees to define reasonable terms 
and supply such terms to the employee.   
 
If the employee cannot perform the essential functions with the requested 
accommodation, the employee may be separated from the BOCC’s office. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 32 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

2. PREGNANCY AND BREASTFEEDING ACCOMMODATIONS 
 
The BOCC’s office greatly values pregnant employees and new parents.  As 
such, it provides an accommodation process that is intended to be interactive 
and collaborative, relying on open communication and active participation 
between you and the BOCC’s office. The primary goal of this process is to help 
you to perform all the essential functions of your current position, with or 
without accommodation during and after your pregnancy. 
 
a. When pregnancy necessitates accommodation, the BOCC’s office will: 

• Provide more frequent, longer, or flexible restroom breaks; 
• Modify a no food or drink policy; 
• Provide seating or allow for more frequent sitting if the job requires  

standing; 
• Modify lifting limits based upon the essential functions of your job. 

 
b. Similarly, when your role as a new parent requires the need to express  

breastmilk after the birth of your child, the BOCC’s office will: 
• Provide reasonable break time to express breastmilk for the first year  

after the child’s birth;  
• Provide access to a lactation space that is both private and lockable. 
 

c. These accommodations do not require written certification from a health  
care provider.  However, if additional accommodations beyond those set 
forth above are required, such certification explaining the need will be 
required.  This may include job restructuring; part-time or modified 
work schedules; reassignment to a vacant position; or acquiring or 
modifying equipment, devices, or an employee’s workstation. 
 

3. RELIGIOUS EXPRESSION AND ACCOMMODATION 
 
The BOCC’s office is dedicated to treating the religious diversity of all our 
employees equally and with respect.  
 
 
 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 33 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

a. Religious Communication & Behaviors   
 
It is not a violation of this Policy for employees to discuss religion, or to 
read or view religious materials, at work during non-working time.  
However, employees who do so should be sensitive to and respectful of 
the different beliefs (or lack of belief) of others.  When another 
employee objects to religious advances, such behaviors and efforts must 
immediately cease.  Moreover, religious practices that interfere with job 
performance, excessive “preaching” that is unwelcome to others, or 
adverse treatment of others because of their beliefs, different beliefs, or 
lack of belief, may be considered “harassment” within the meaning of 
this and other existing policies.    

 
b. Religious Accommodations 

 
Employees may request an accommodation when their religious beliefs 
cause a deviation from the BOCC’s office’s dress code, schedule, basic 
job duties, leave or other aspects of employment. As such, the BOCC’s 
office welcomes any requests for accommodations because of 
recognized beliefs that do not create an undue hardship on the BOCC’s 
office’s ability to properly fulfill its mission.  

 
The BOCC’s office will consider the request but reserves the right to 
offer its own accommodation to the extent permitted by law. Some, but 
not all, of the factors that the BOCC’s office will consider are cost, the 
effect that an accommodation will have on current established policies 
and the burden on operations, including other employees, when 
determining a reasonable accommodation.  

 
The procedure for reasonable accommodation requests includes:  

•    Employee advises their supervisor and Office of the Clerk of Courts  
of the need for accommodation.  

•    The accommodation request will be discussed with the employee and  
   the employee’s supervisor.  

•    If a reasonable appropriate accommodation is readily available, the  
   request will be approved, and the accommodation implemented.  

•    If an accommodation is not readily ascertainable, the matter will be  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 34 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

   pursued further with assistance from appropriate external resources. 
•    At no time will the BOCC’s office question the validity of a person’s  

   belief. 
 
c. Personalization of Work Areas and Holiday Decorations  

 
Employees are generally permitted to engage in private expression, 
including displays of religious ornamentation, in personal work areas that 
are not regularly open to the public. However, the BOCC’s office 
reserves the right to restrict workplace décor for legitimate reasons 
relating to safety, hygiene, or environmental conditions.  

 
In a public workspace, that is, a space to which the public has physical or 
visual access, only secular decorations, including secular holiday 
decorations, may be displayed. Religious symbols or decorations with 
religious content may not be displayed in public workspaces. 

 
4. ANIMALS IN THE WORKPLACE 

 
The workplace is intended to be devoted to the efficient and effective 
operation of our organizational core values.  The presence of animals not 
devoted to accomplishing this objective can be disruptive, non-hygienic, and 
potentially unsafe.  Therefore, animals are not allowed in the workplace. The 
sole exception to this policy are those service animals providing aides to their 
owners, under the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).   
 
A service animal is a dog or miniature horse used as an accommodation who is 
specifically trained to do work or perform a task for the benefit of an individual 
with a disability.  
 
The effects of an animal’s presence or the provision of emotional support, 
well-being, comfort, or companionship do not constitute work or tasks for the 
purposes of this policy. 
 
All our workplace facilities and properties are covered by this policy at all times.  
If an employee has a disability and needs to request reasonable accommodation 
under the regulations of the ADA, the employee must contact the Office of the 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 35 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

Clerk of Courts Department for assistance with proper consideration of the 
request.   
 

S. ONLINE TRAININGS/MEETINGS 
 
The BOCC’s office will periodically use resources available on-line to provide 
training for employees.  When required, these trainings will be conducted as 
part of your assigned work duties.  You will be expected to participate and will 
be appropriately compensated for all time spent on the trainings, whether 
conducted during or outside of your normal work schedule.   
  
Additionally, we may use on-line resources to conduct meetings among 
management and staff as well as with our clients/customers.  It is expected that 
you will participate in these meetings as part of your assigned work duties the 
same as you would in an in-person meeting.   
  
Some of these on-line trainings/meetings may be recorded for the BOCC’s 
office’s subsequent use.  By signing the acknowledgement of the Bradford 
County Personnel Policies and Procedures, you affirm that you are aware of, 
and provide your consent for, the recording of these sessions. 
 

T. PROMISSORY NOTE POLICY 
 
By executing the acknowledgment form attached to this Handbook, the 
employee accepts and understands that it may be utilized as an enforceable 
promissory note.  If the employee fails to return any equipment, money, credit 
cards, or other property assigned to the employee during employment, the 
BOCC’s office may first withhold the value of such amount from any final 
compensation due to the employee including paychecks, paid time off accrual, 
or any other such earned benefit.  If such compensation does not exist or is 
insufficient to offset the value of the property due, the employee understands 
and agrees that the BOCC’s office has legal entitlement to such property and 
will be responsible for such value and the cost of all attorney fees and costs 
expended in pursuing such property. 

 

  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 36 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

IV. YOUR BENEFITS 
 

A. PAID PERSONAL LEAVE 
 

1. USE OF PAID PERSONAL LEAVE: 
 
a. Paid Personal Leave is intended to be used to provide a periodic  

vacation: however, accrued paid personal leave may be used for other 
reasons when authorized by the department head/supervisor and 
County Manager.  

 
b. Paid Personal Leave shall be used only with the prior (normally one  

week) approval of the department head/supervisor, except as specified 
in Section 4. below. Paid Personal Leave shall not be authorized before it 
is accrued and credited. 

 
c. Paid Personal Leave shall not be used for a period of more than 10  

working days, except for extenuating circumstances, which shall be 
determined by the department head/supervisor. 

 
d. Paid Personal Leave may also be used for medical reasons. 
 
e. Upon reasonable notice, the department head/supervisor may require a  

staff member to use any of their accrued paid personal Leave. 
 

2. ACCRUAL OF PERSONAL LEAVE 
 
a. All full-time staff shall accrue paid personal leave. Temporary and part- 

time staff shall not be eligible to accrue paid personal leave. Paid 
Personal Leave is intended to be taken each calendar year as accrued. 
Paid Personal Leave time carries over to the next calendar year and is 
limited to the hours specified in Section b. below. 

 
b. Eligible personnel will accrue paid personal Leave for each hour worked  

in their regular scheduled workweek. This leave will be credited at the 
end of each month and will accrue in accordance with the following 
tables: 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 37 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

Full -Time Personnel 
 

SERVICE UNDER FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM HOURS OF 
LEAVE ACCRUED MONTHLY 

0 - 5 years (through 60 months) 10 hours 
5 - 10 years (through 120 months) 13.5 hours 

10 years plus (more than 120 months) 17 hours 
  

c. Personnel with service under the Florida Retirement System before 
coming to work for the County will receive credit for such service r6i for 
the purpose of accruing future leave, but they may not transfer accrued 
leave from their prior service. Ifa staff member has a break in service 
under the Florida Retirement System of more than 30 days, for the 
purpose of calculating hours of leave accrued monthly, the staff member 
will be considered to have zero years of service upon the date oi their 
service with the County.  

d. Personnel shall continue to accrue paid personal Leave while using such 
leave with pay. 

 
e. The maximum Paid Personal Leave time which may be carried over to 

the next calendar year is: 
 

0-5 years of service 240 hours 
5-10 years of service 320 hours 

10 or more years of service 400 hours 
 

It is the individual staff member's responsibility to schedule Paid 
Personal Leave. Any time accrued beyond the stated maximum will be 
lost on January 1 of each year. 

 
3. PAYMENT FOR ACCRUED PAID PERSONAL LEAVE 

 
a. The only time that a staff member can be paid for their unused Paid  

Personal Leave is upon layoff or terminal separation from County 
service. Personnel who resign without giving two weeks’ notice or who 
are terminated for violating County rules, policies or procedures shall 
not be paid for any accrued leave upon termination. Such payment shall 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 38 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

be made at the individual's current rate of pay and shall not exceed the 
maximum amount specified in Section e. above. 

 
b. The minimum payment for Paid Personal Leave shall be a unit of one (1)  

hour. 
 
c. In case of the death of a staff member, payment for unused Paid  

Personal Leave shall be made to their beneficiary, estate, or as provided 
by law. Such payment shall be made within six months after receipt of 
notification from the deceased's legal representative provided that the 
Clerk receives notification within one year after the death of the staff 
member. 
 

B. EMPLOYEE LEAVE TRANSFER POLICY 
 

The purpose for a leave transfer plan is to provide a leave transfer plan that will 
permit eligible and participating employees to transfer portions of their leave to 
eligible employees who have exhausted their leave. The provisions of the procedure 
will not create an entitlement beyond what is already provided for by the Family 
Medical Leave Act and/or the Americans with Disabilities Act, nor does this prevent 
the department from taking appropriate personnel action against an employee who is 
excessively absent from work. 

 
1. SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 

 
a. Requests to transfer leave to another employee are strictly voluntary by  

the donor. The names of donors will remain anonymous. Employees 
who attempt to coerce or pressure another employee to donate leave will 
be subject to disciplinary action. 

 
b. Receiving or donating to employees who solicit or offer to transfer leave  

credits in return for compensation in any form will be subject to 
disciplinary action. 

 
c. Leave transferred by the receiving employee’s spouse, or the parents,  

grandparents, brothers, sisters, children, and grandchildren of both the  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 39 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

employee and the employee’s spouse will be processed before any other 
request is published. 

 
d. All requests to donate from within the recipient's department will be  

identified and processed before donations from other departments are 
considered. 

 
e. The County Manager will investigate any alleged abuse of the plan, and if  

the allegation is substantiated, the employee will not be allowed to 
transfer or receive leave credits. In addition, the employee may be 
subject to disciplinary action. 

 
f. A terminated employee may, at the time of separation, transfer unused  

leave to any employee who has a valid Leave Transfer Request on file in 
the personnel office. The terminated employee may donate up to their 
entire leave balance. 

 
g. The County may discontinue this leave transfer plan at any time. 

 
2. ELIGIBILITY FOR REQUESTING LEAVE DONATION: 

 
a. To be eligible to request and use donated leave, an employee must: 
 

• Use the leave for their personal illness, accident, or injury (excluding  
workers' compensation injuries and maternity leave that extends beyond 
the certified period of medical disability) 

• Provide medical documentation from a licensed physician that such  
condition(s) exist(s); 

• Have used all accrued leave prior to using any donated leave;  
• Not be eligible for disability leave with pay; 
• Have not used more than 1,040 hours of transferred leave credits in the 

preceding twelve (12) month period; and 
• Be absent from the workplace for a minimum of five (5) consecutive 

days. 
i. Transferred leave credits will be used for absences that begin with 

the sixth missed workday or partial workday on the first day or on 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 40 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

the first day the employee has exhausted all leave credits, 
whichever is later. 

ii. Permission to waive the five (5) day waiting period requires 
approval of the County Manager. 

• An employee may not use donated leave to repay a salary overpayment. 
• To request donated leave credits, an employee must submit a completed 

"Leave Transfer Request” to the Payroll Clerk. A recipient employee 
may submit a request for donation of leave when their combined leave 
balances are at or below 200 hours. 

• Upon receipt of a completed Leave Transfer Request, the payroll clerk 
will determine if the employee is eligible to participate in the plan by 
ensuring the employee meets the criteria. 

i. If the personnel office determines the employee does not meet 
eligibility requirements, the request will be denied, and the form 
will be returned to the employee. 

ii. If the personnel office determines the employee meets eligibility 
requirements, the recipient's request will be approved and a 
request for donated leave will be published within the department. 

• The personnel office will send a notice for donated leave to the 
employee's work location. The notice will include the employee's name, 
work location, approximate number of hours the employee will be on 
leave. 

i. Specific medical conditions or diagnosis will not be included in 
the notice. 

ii. The notice will be distributed via e-mail or other notification 
method as appropriate. 

 
3. DONATING LEAVE: 

 
a. To be eligible to transfer leave an active employee will be required to  

have a minimum balance of eighty (80) hours of leave credit remaining 
in their account following execution of the leave credit transfer. 
 

b. When an employee desires to donate leave credits, they will  
complete a "Leave Donation Request". The payroll administrator will 
verify the donor is eligible to donate leave credits. Should the donor not 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 41 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

meet these requirements, the payroll administrator will deny the request 
and return the form. 
 

c. If the donor meets the transfer program requirements, the payroll clerk  
will deduct the hours authorized from the donor’s leave balance during 
the pay period a completed transfer form is received. The "Leave 
Donation Request" will then be signed by the payroll clerk and retained 
in the employee’s personnel file. 

 
• The minimum transfer amount for an active employee donor is eight (8) 

hours. However, there is no limit to the number of hours the employees 
may donate provided he/she maintains the required eighty (80) hour 
balance after the donation is deducted. 

• An employee who completes and signs a Leave Donation Request" 
cannot cancel the donation once the deduction is made. 
 

d. A terminated employee is exempt from the minimum donation and  
remaining balance requirements: he/she may donate any amount of 
leave, up to their entire unused amount.  

 
 

4. TRANSFERRING DONATED LEAVE 
 
a. When transferring leave credits, the payroll clerk will credit the recipient  

employee with only the amount of leave required to brin the employee’s 
total number of hours up to the minimum number of hours for the pay 
period. 
 

b. Donated leave may be used consecutively, intermittently, or in 
increments of a quarter hour, as needed. 

 
c. All leave donations authorized under this plan may be credited to the  

recipient employee on a first in, first out basis. 
 

d. Employees receiving transferred leave will not use more than 1,040  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 42 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

hours of transferred leave credits within a consecutive twelve (12) month 
period. A consecutive twelve (12) month period begins the month 
credits are used. 
 

e. When the recipient employee has received the requested hours, any  
additional transfer forms received will have this information noted and 
the transfer form will be returned to the payroll administrator. 
 

f. The payroll administrator will credit the donor's leave balance for the 
unused hours. 
 

g. Donated leave cannot be transferred after a receiving employee has  
returned to full-time duty. Unused transferred leave credits that have not 
been drawn upon will be returned to the payroll clerk upon documented 
cessation of the recipient employee’s illness, accident, or injury. The 
payroll clerk will credit the donor's leave balance with all unused hours.  

 

C. HOLIDAYS 
 

1. The following eleven (11) days are declared official paid holidays: 
 
Holiday Day on Which Taken 
New Year’s Day January 1st 
Martin Luther King, Jr.’s Birthday First Monday following Dr. King’s Birthday 
Good Friday Friday before Easter Sunday 
Memorial Day Last Monday in May 
Independence Day July 4th 
Labor Day First Monday in September 
Veterans Day November 11th 
Thanksgiving Fourth Thursday in November 
Christmas Eve December 24th 
Christmas Day December 25th 
 
  

2. In addition to the holidays specified above, the County Commission may 
specify other holidays as it deems appropriate. 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 43 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

3. Holidays falling on a Saturday will be observed on the preceding Friday. 
Holidays falling on a Sunday will be observed on the following Monday. 
 

4. Due to the nature of County business, it may be necessary to require a staff 
member to work on a holiday. If the holiday is observed on the staff member's 
regular workday and the staff member is required to work; the staff member 
shall be paid straight time for the time worked plus eight hours of straight time 
as holiday pay. If the holiday is observed on a staff member's regular day off 
and the staff member is required to work, the staff member shall be paid 
straight time for the hours worked and the staff member shall be paid at one 
and one-half (1 1/2) times their straight hourly rate as holiday pay. Non-
exempt staff members may elect to waive payment for work on holidays and 
have each hour worked credited to their Personal Leave Account. Before you 
are eligible to receive holiday pay or credit to your Personal Leave Account, 
you must work your full scheduled workdays before and after the holiday or be 
on paid personal leave time on the scheduled workdays before and after the 
holiday. 
 

D. FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE - PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA) 
 

Eligible employees may take up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave each year 
for specified family and medical reasons. 

 

Employee Eligibility – To be eligible for family or medical leave, you must: 

 
1. have worked at least 12 months for the BOCC’s office; 

 
2. have worked at least 1,250 hours for the BOCC’s office over the previous 12 

months; and, 
 

3. work at a location where there are at least 50 employees within 75 miles. 
 

Conditions Triggering Leave - Family and medical leave must involve one or more of 
the following reasons: 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 44 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

1. For the birth of a child, to care for a newly born child, or placement of a child 
with the employee for adoption or foster care. 
 

2. To care for an immediate family member (spouse, child, employee’s parent, or 
domestic partner) with a serious health condition. 
 

3. Because of the employee’s serious health condition which makes the employee 
unable to perform the functions of the employee’s job. 
 

Duration of Leave 

1. Eligible employees may receive up to 12 workweeks of unpaid leave during any 
“rolling” 12-month period, measured backward from the date of any family or 
medical leave.  Family and medical leave involving the birth or placement of a 
child for adoption or foster care must be concluded within 12 months of the 
birth or placement. 
 

2. You may take family and medical leave intermittently -- which means taking 
leave in blocks of time, or by reducing your normal weekly or daily work 
schedule -- whenever it is medically necessary to care for a seriously ill family 
member, or because you are seriously ill and unable to work.  Intermittent leave 
is not permitted for birth of a child, to care for a newly born child, or 
placement of a child for adoption or foster care. 
 

3. Depending on the purpose of your leave request, you may choose (or the 
BOCC’s office may require you) to use accrued paid leave, if available, as a 
substitute for some or all of the family and medical leave. 

 

Military Caregiver Leave  

1. Effective immediately, up to 26 weeks of military caregiver leave may be taken 
to care for a spouse, child, parent, or next of kin who is a “covered 
servicemen” with a serious injury or illness.  A covered service member may be 
either a current service member or a veteran of the Armed Forces, provided 
the discharge was anything other than dishonorable and occurred within the 
past five years.    
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 45 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

2. For a current service member, a serious injury or illness is one that was 
incurred by a service member in the line of duty on active duty that may render 
the service member medically unfit to perform the duties of their office, grade, 
rank, or rating. A serious injury or illness also includes injuries or illnesses that 
existed before the service member’s active duty and that were aggravated by 
service in the line of duty on active duty.  
 

3. For a veteran, a serious injury or illness is one that was incurred by the veteran 
in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces or that existed before the 
veteran’s active duty and was aggravated by service in the line of duty on active 
duty, and that is either: 
 

a. Continuation of a serious injury or illness that was incurred or 
aggravated when the veteran was a member of the Armed Forces and 
rendered the service member unable to perform the duties of the service 
member’s office, grade, rank, or rating; or 
 

b. A physical or mental condition for which the veteran has received a 
Department of Veterans Affairs Service-Related Disability Rating 
(VASRD) of 50 percent or greater. (The rating may be based on multiple 
conditions). 

 
c. A physical or mental condition that substantially impairs the veteran’s 

ability to work because of a disability or disabilities related to military 
service, or would do so absent treatment; or 

 
d. An injury that is the basis for the veteran’s enrollment in the 

Department of Veterans Affairs Program of Comprehensive Assistance 
for Family Caregivers 

 

Qualifying Exigency Leave 

1. Additionally, close family members of military personnel (defined as spouse, 
child, or parent) may take up to twelve (12) weeks of job protection leave, if 
eligible, if the member of the military’s is on covered active duty or called to 
covered active duty.   
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 46 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

a. For members of the regular Armed Forces, “Covered Active Duty” 
means duty during deployment of the member with the Armed Forces 
to a foreign country. 
 

b. For members of the reserve components of the Armed Forces 
(members of the National Guard and Reserves), “Covered Active Duty” 
means duty during deployment of the member with the Armed Forces 
to a foreign country under a call or order to active duty in support of a 
contingency operation.   

 

Maintenance of Health Benefits  

1. If you and/or your family participate in a group health plan, the BOCC’s office 
will maintain coverage under the plan during your family and medical leave.  
This coverage will be provided if you or your family were covered under the 
plan before the leave was taken and on the same terms as if you had continued 
to work.  Where appropriate, you must make arrangements to pay your share of 
health plan premiums while on leave. 
 

2. In some instances, the BOCC’s office may recover premiums it paid to 
maintain health coverage for an employee and family. 
 

Job Restoration  

1. Upon returning from family and medical leave, you will normally be restored to 
your original job, or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and 
other employment terms and conditions.   
 

2. In addition, your use of family and medical leave will not result in the loss of 
any employment benefit that you earned or were entitled to before using family 
and medical leave. 
 

Notice and Medical Certification 

1. When seeking family and medical leave, you must provide: 
a. 30 days advance notice of the need to take family and medical leave, if 

the need is foreseeable. 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 47 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

b. Medical certifications supporting the need for leave due to a serious 
health condition affecting you or an immediate family member.  Second 
or third medical opinions and periodic recertifications at the BOCC’s 
office’s expense may also be required. 

 
c. Such periodic reports as deemed appropriate during the leave regarding 

your status and intent to return to work. 
 

d. Medical certification of fitness for duty before returning to work, if the 
leave was due to your serious health condition. 

 
2. When leave is needed for a planned medical treatment for your own serious 

health condition or that of an immediate family member, you must try to 
schedule treatment so that it will not unduly disrupt the BOCC’s office’s 
operation.  Failure to comply with these requirements may result in delay or 
denial of leave. 
 

Other Employment 

Outside or supplemental employment is allowed only with the permission of the 
County Manager.  Accordingly, outside employment during your leave period is 
prohibited, and may result in disciplinary action, up to and including immediate 
termination of employment. 

 

Exceeding FMLA Leave 

Any employee who exceeds their FMLA entitlement may be subject to termination of 
employment. 

Non-Contractual Nature of This Policy 

The duration of leave, availability of benefits, opportunity for job restoration, and 
other rights and privileges associated with FMLA Leave are limited by the 
requirements of applicable state and federal law.  No express or implied contractual 
rights should be inferred from this policy.  The BOCC’s office reserves the right to 
modify this or any other policy as necessary, in its sole discretion. 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 48 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

E. LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

When sufficient reasons require, a staff member, at the discretion of the county 
Manager, may be granted a leave of absence without pay. A leave of absence will be 
granted for a maximum of 60 days, subject to 30-day extensions, which may be 
granted at the discretion of the County Manager. For eligible staff members, leave for 
situations covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) will be granted in 
accordance with the policy governing FMLA leave or with USERRA, as the case may 
be. In those situations, the provisions of that policy and/or law will control where 
they are inconsistent with the provisions herein. 

The County may continue to pay premiums to continue to cover the staff member 
under its group health and life insurance plans through the month following the 
beginning of the leave. Staff members who wish to continue their insurance coverage 
should check with the payroll clerk before beginning their leave. Leave will be without 
pay except that staff members may use Paid Personal Leave. However, while on 
unpaid leave of absence, staff members will not accrue Paid Personal Leave. 

1. PROCEDURE FOR REQUESTING LEAVE AND/OR EXTENSION  
 
a. If you need a leave of absence, you must file a written request for your  

leave with your department head. This written request must be 
submitted at least ten working days prior to the date on which your 
requested leave is to begin, unless an emergency prevents you from 
providing advance notice. In case of such an emergency, you must 
submit the written request as soon as possible. A leave of absence, or 
any extension of a leave, must be approved by the County Manager. 

b. If the County Manager grants you a leave of absence, your leave will  
begin from the first workday that you miss because of the emergency or 
other situation requiring the leave. Should you request an extension of 
your leave of absence, you must furnish your department 
head/supervisor with a written request for an extension before the 
expiration of the original leave of absence or most recent extension. The 
County Manager may request documentation of any circumstances 
requiring leave or extension. 
 
 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 49 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

2. REINSTATEMENT AFTER LEAVE  
 
Because operations sometimes require that vacant positions be filled, a leave of 
absence does not guarantee that the job will be available when the staff 
member returns from a leave. An effort, however, will be made to place you in 
your previous position or a comparable job, which you are qualified to 
perform. If no such position is available, you may be eligible for rehire as a new 
staff member if you apply for an available position for which you are qualified 
and if your prior employment history warrants your rehire. 
 

3. TERMINATION OF LEAVE 
 
A staff member's leave of absence will be terminated, and they will be 
considered as having resigned their employment if the staff member: 
 

a. Fails to return to work on the first day after their leave of absence or 
authorized extension expires; 
 

b. Engages in or applies for any other employment during their leave of 
absence; 

 
c. Gives a false reason for any requested leave of absence; or 

 
d. Does not return to work from leave or extensions thereof within a three- 

month period unless the leave is. pursuant to (a) USERRA or (b) a 
reasonable accommodation for a disability covered under the Americans 
With Disabilities Act. 

 
 

F. FUNERAL LEAVE 
 

1. In the event of death in the immediate family of any full-time staff member, the 
staff member shall be granted paid funeral leave up to three consecutive 
workdays. To qualify for funeral leave, the staff member may be required to 
provide evidence of attending the funeral. Leave shall not extend beyond one 
day after the funeral unless approved by their department supervisor. 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 50 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

2. Immediate family is defined as mother, father, brother, sister, child, grandchild, 
grandfather, grandmother, grandfather-in-law, grandmother-in-law, father-in-
law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, husband, wife, stepmother, 
stepfather, step-grandfather,' step-grandmother, stepbrother, stepsister, or 
stepchild. 
 

G. GROUP HEALTH INSURANCE 

The County has provided you with a group hospitalization and surgical benefit plan, 
which covers all staff at no cost to the employee. Dependent coverage is also available 
and can be paid through payroll deduction. If you have any questions concerning your 
insurance benefits, please see the payroll department. 

 
H. TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT 

For all out of county travel, your department head/supervisor must authorize daily 
reimbursement in advance. Requests for reimbursement shall be documented as 
required by state statute. Staff members shall use a County vehicle for all travel out of 
the county when such vehicles are available. If a county vehicle is not available, or the 
staff member receives permission by the County Manager to use their personal 
vehicle, the County shall pay on a reimbursement basis one cent ($0.01) less than the 
Federal mileage rate per mile of travel while on official business. Staff members 
transported by another person will not be reimbursed for mileage.  Staff members 
shall use the most economical means of travel after considering the nature of the 
business trip, the number of people travelling, and time constraints. Two or more 
people travelling to the same general location shall use the fewest number of vehicles 
possible. 

 

I. CIVIC DUTY 

The County believes it is important for everyone to be involved with their 
government. All staff members are encouraged to vote.  Staff members who are 
summoned for jury duty or to serve as a witness are encouraged to comply with their 
civic duty. All staff members must notify their department head/supervisor as soon as 
they learn that they have been summoned as a juror or witness so that work 
arrangements can be made. Any staff member excused from work for jury or witness 
duty will be paid their usual compensation less the fee or compensation they receive 
from serving as a juror or witness. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 51 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

V. MAKING THE COUNTY OFFICE A BETTER PLACE TO WORK 
 

A. CODE OF PERSONAL CONDUCT 

For any group to work together efficiently and safely, it is necessary to have a 
reasonable code of personal conduct based on honesty and fair play. If a staff 
member is not considerate of others and does not observe reasonable rules of 
conduct, disciplinary action must be taken. Because all people do not always have the 
same ideas about good conduct, it is necessary to adopt and enforce certain rules. 
Depending on the severity of the disciplinary problem, disciplinary probation, and 
suspension or discharge may be necessary for repeated violations.  

1. Your department head/supervisor has the authority to enforce disciplinary 
actions including verbal counseling, written reprimands, disciplinary probation 
and suspension. Termination requires final approval by the County Manager. 
Listed below are offenses considered to be serious enough to result in 
disciplinary action. This is not meant to be a complete list of such offenses, and 
the list may be amended at any time. 
 
a. Dishonesty or falsification of written records or reports, including, but  

not limited to, false statements on applications for employment, expense 
records or travel account forms; 

 
b. Misappropriating, damaging or destroying county property, property of  

other staff, or public property; 
 
c. Insubordination or refusal to obey instructions 

 
d. We expect every employee to follow the instructions of supervisors and  

other management officials.  Failure to do so constitutes 
insubordination. Insubordination is detrimental to departmental and 
organizational goals. Employees who are insubordinate to their superiors 
are subject to disciplinary action;  

 
e. Possession or use of any intoxicants or illegal drugs, including alcohol,  

during the working day, including during lunch periods, or reporting to 
work under the influence of such substances; 

 
f. Filling out another staff member's time record, having another fill out  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 52 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

your time record or falsification of time records; 
 
g. Smoking in prohibited areas; 

 
h. Fighting, disorderly conduct, horseplay, practical jokes, or pranks on  

County premises or during working time; 
 
i. Excessive or unexcused absenteeism or tardiness, and/or leaving the job  

during working hours without permission from your department 
head/supervisor. 

 
j. Violation of or disregard of safety rules or common safety practices; 

 
k. Refusal to work overtime, when requested; 

 
l. Possession of any unauthorized fireworks, weapons, ammunition, or  

explosives on the job; 
 
m. Unauthorized use of the telephones or violation of the County’s  

computer and telecommunications policies; 
 
n. Violation of established rules, policies or procedures of the County; 
o. Violation of other department rules, personnel regulations, county  

resolution or ordinance, or state statute pertaining to public employee 
including violations of the Standards of Conduct and Ethics. 

 
p. Accepting a gift, loan, reward, promise of future employment, or  

personal service that may represent a conflict of interest in the 
performance of official duties; 

 
q. Receiving any fee, gift or other valuable asset in the course of  

employment from any person, firm or corporation when such fee, gift or 
asset is accepted with the understanding or implication that the donor 
shall or actually does receive favors or services not customarily accorded 
to the general public; 

 
r. Disclosure or use of information not available to the public for any staff  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 53 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

member's gain or benefit or the gain or benefit of any other person or 
business entity; 

 
s. Conviction of a felony or of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or  

dishonesty; 
 
t. Conviction of any acts or conduct which amounts to disgraceful  

conduct, whether such acts are committed while on or off duty; 
 
u. Engaging in offensive or disrespectful language or conduct toward the  

public, toward other County officers, or towards other staff; 
 
v. Taking an active part in a political campaign while on duty or within any  

period of time for which the staff member is expected to perform 
services and for which they receive compensation from the County; 

 
w. Physical contact with a Trustee incarcerated in the County Jail; 

 
x. Violation of a particular department’s rules, policies or procedures; 

 
y. Knowingly filing a false and/or malicious report; 

 
z. Continued or gross neglect of duty; 

 
aa. Incompetence, inefficiency or unwillingness to render satisfactory 

service; 
 
bb. Discourtesy or making willful false statements to the public; 
 
cc. Any other misconduct prejudicial to the interest of the County. 

 
2. No staff members shall be subject to reprisal, separation, or other disciplinary 

action for disclosure of violation of laws, rules, inefficiencies, or other 
improper acts or wrongdoings. Staff members who have knowledge of such are 
encouraged to report same to your department head/supervisor or to the 
County Manager. No reprisal of any type, by any person, will be permitted. 
Should such reprisal occur, it shall be cause for immediate dismissal of the 
offending individual. Staff members shall immediately advise the department 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 54 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

head/supervisor or County Manager of such reprisals. Nothing contained 
herein, however, shall preclude proper disciplinary action against any staff 
member who knowingly makes a false and/or malicious report. 
 

B. EMERGENCY MEDICAL CARE 

While rare, an employee medical emergency may occur at work.  A medical emergency 
might be related to an employee’s health event, such as stroke or heart attack or could 
result from an accident, such as a cut or fall.  

Should a medical emergency occur, and the employee is capable of effectively 
interacting with others, the employee should report the emergency to their supervisor 
and participate in determining the best course of action for medical attention.  If the 
employee is determined to be unresponsive, "911" should be called for Emergency 
Medical Services (EMS).  The caller should follow the prompts from EMS to provide 
interim care.  Upon arrival, EMS will assume responsibility for the care of the 
employee.   

C. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS 

It is the County's intent that effective supervision and staff relations will avoid the 
necessity of disciplinary action for violations of these rules and regulations. 
Disciplinary actions are not intended to restrict the rights of anyone. The type of 
disciplinary action taken in any case will depend on the severity of the violation. 
Nothing in this section shall imply that any disciplinary action must precede another 
or preclude immediate separation from service. 

1. Whenever a staff member's performance or attitude falls below an acceptable 
level, the department head/supervisor should inform the staff member 
promptly and take corrective action. The action should be in the form of 
counseling and assistance to the staff member and include an explanation that 
continued infractions may result in more serious disciplinary action. The 
department head/supervisor shall document in writing the circumstances of the 
infractions and file the record in the staff member’s personnel file. 
 

2. The department head/supervisor may suspend a staff member, with or without 
pay, for a period not to exceed ten (10) days. A written statement describing 
the reasons for the suspension will be given promptly to the staff member, and 
a copy placed in the staff member's personnel file. With approval of the County 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 55 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

Manager, a staff member may be suspended for a longer period pending 
investigation, trial, or disposition of the charges. 
 

3. The department head/supervisor may demote a staff member. A written 
statement describing the reasons for the proposed demotion will be given 
promptly to the staff member and a copy placed in the staff member’s 
personnel file. 
 

4. A staff member may appeal their termination or demotion directly to the 
County Manager by a written grievance within five (5) days of the adverse 
employment decision. 
 

D. CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE USE 

All staff members are expected to report to work without alcohol, illegal drugs, or 
non-prescribed controlled substances in their system. This requirement is based on 
the fact that any measurable amount of an illegal drug can impair that person’s 
performance, even if the impairment is not readily apparent. While staff are 
responsible for their own choice of lifestyle, the county will not tolerate even a small 
risk that illegal drug use by staff may cause or contribute to injuries, property damage, 
or other performance problems. 

We will not tolerate alcohol abuse or the use of other intoxicants and mind-
altering substances, including illegal drugs.  By virtue of their employment with 
the BOCC’s office, our employees may be required to submit to drug screens, 
blood alcohol tests, breathalyzer tests, and medical examinations under the 
following circumstances:   a)  when an employee is hired; b) when an employee 
is suspected of working or reporting to work with intoxicants or mind-altering 
substances in their system; c) when an employee suffers an on-the-job injury or 
is involved in an accident while at work; d) when an employee returns to work 
after a leave of absence of two weeks or more; or e) on a periodic or random 
basis.  The presence of 0.04% alcohol or the presence of any other intoxicants 
or mind-altering substances in the body is a violation of this policy.  Refusal of 
an employee to undergo testing or to cooperate fully with any of these tests is 
also a violation of our policy. 
Our employees are also prohibited from possessing, using, selling, or 
purchasing any alcoholic beverages or other mind-altering substances on 
BOCC’s office property or in BOCC’s office vehicles.  Off-premises 
possession, use, sale or purchase of mind-altering substances and off-premises 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 56 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

alcohol abuse may reflect unfavorably on the BOCC’s office’s reputation and is 
also prohibited.  
This policy does not prohibit the proper use of medication under the direction 
of a physician.  However, the misuse or abuse of such drugs is prohibited.  
Employees who are taking prescription or nonprescription drugs which could 
affect their ability to perform their job in a safe and efficient manner must 
notify their immediate supervisor of this fact when they report to work. 
To protect the safety and property of all employees, the BOCC’s office reserves 
the right to inspect employees’ lockers, toolboxes, desks, and cabinets as well as 
motor vehicles and any other personal belongings brought onto BOCC’s office 
property.  Failure to cooperate with such inspections is a violation of this 
policy. 
Accordingly, personnel may be selected for individual testing if the department 
head/supervisor reasonably suspects them to be under the influence of alcohol, 
drugs, or exhibit signs or symptoms of illegal drug use. This may require a staff 
member to submit a breath, blood, or urine sample to designated medical 
personnel for analysis.  
Because safety is a concern to all of us, all personnel should report anyone that 
they suspect may be under the influence of drugs or alcohol. 
Violation of any aspect of the BOCC’s office’s Drug and Alcohol policy will 
result in discipline up to and including immediate termination. 

 

E. MEDICAL MARIJUANA 

The BOCC’s office recognizes that the State of Florida has permitted the legal use of 
medical marijuana. Accordingly, the BOCC’s office is prepared to allow for the 
appropriate use of marijuana for medicinal purposes under statutory requirements and 
with proper notice that an employee has received a legal prescription for medicinal 
marijuana from a licensed medical professional. Employees will further be required to 
use such medication in strict compliance with the prescription under the following 
conditions. These conditions are to ensure the health and safety of the BOCC’s 
customers, employees, and vendors. Failure to comply with the following conditions 
may result in discipline, up to and including termination, and may prevent Employee 
from being able to receive benefits under Florida’s Workers’ Compensation laws, 
Chapter 440, Fla. Stat.  

1. Production of confirmation that the employee has received appropriate medical 
documentation for the use of medical marijuana and provision of copies of 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 57 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

their card or certificate to the BOCC. If an employee subject to this policy ever 
loses their certification, the employee will notify the BOCC’s within 24 hours. 
 

2. No employee will use or take their medicinal marijuana while performing any 
work for the BOCC.  
 

3. No employee will appear at work impaired in any way and, if use of medicinal 
marijuana at or close to an employee’s scheduled work period leads to an 
impaired state, that employee will leave work immediately and remain away 
from work until they are no longer impaired in any manner. Further, any 
employee found to be impaired at work will be subject to disciplinary action up 
to and including termination.  
 

4. No employee will use or supervise the use of motor vehicles, machinery, or 
powered equipment of the BOCC’s office while using or impaired by their 
medication. 

 

F. TOBACCO, SMOKING, AND SMOKING-ALTERNATIVE 
PRODUCTS 

Our policy is to provide smoke-free environments for our employees, members, and 
the general public.  The use of tobacco, smoking, and smoking-alternative products 
(such as e-cigarettes and vapor inhaling products) are not permitted anywhere within 
the buildings occupied by the BOCC’s office, i.e., in the offices, walkways leading to 
or from the building, break room, restrooms, hallways, etc.  Tobacco, smoking, and 
smoking-alternative products are also prohibited in any BOCC’s office owned or 
leased vehicles. 

1. Smokers and users of tobacco products must dispose of the remains in the 
proper containers; however, no tobacco remains may be discarded within the 
building.   
 

2. Employees may use tobacco products, smoke, or use smoking-alternative 
products on scheduled breaks or during mealtimes, if they do so outside or 
away from the worksite or office.   
 

3. Employees who take excessive smoke breaks may be disciplined. 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 58 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

G. INQUIRIES ABOUT FORMER STAFF 
 
The Clerk of Courts or their designee shall have the responsibility to answer 
inquiries concerning former staff members. Accordingly, all other staff 
members should refrain from answering letters or telephone inquiries 
concerning former staff members.  All inquiries concerning past employment 
should be in writing and directed to the Clerk of Courts. 
 

H. ATTENDANCE AND PROMPTNESS 

The importance of arriving at work on time and being present every day should 
need no explanation. If you must be absent or are going to be late, it is your 
responsibility to personally notify your department head/supervisor at once.  

1. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness can result in discipline up to and including 
discharge. When absence is due to illness, the BOCC’s office reserves the right 
to require appropriate medical documentation. This is necessary so that we can 
maintain our standard of service. 
 

2. Not reporting to work and not calling to report the absence is a no-call/no-
show and is a serious matter and will result in discipline.   

3. The BOCC’s office will consider an employee to have voluntarily resigned their 
position with the BOCC’s office if: 
 
a. Employee fails to report to work on the expected date of return  

following an approved absence; or 
b. Employee fails to provide notice of an unexpected need for an absence  

and is absent for three consecutive days. 
 

I. THEFT 

We do not tolerate theft in any form.  In order to protect you, your co-workers, our 
customers, and the BOCC’s office, we reserve the right to inspect all lockers, desks, 
toolboxes, purses, briefcases, packages, vehicles, and any other personal property 
which is brought onto BOCC’s office property.  If you wish to remove any BOCC’s 
office property - including scrap - from the premises, you must obtain written 
permission in advance from your supervisor. 

J. OPERATION OF COUNTY VEHICLES 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 59 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

County-owned vehicles shall only be used for county business and may only be driven 
by county personnel. If you drive a County vehicle, you will be subject to having your 
driving record verified through the State of Florida motor vehicle records. All 
personnel authorized to drive a county vehicle shall promptly comply with all 
informational requests by the Clerk relating to insurance coverage. This may include a 
list of family members residing in their home, dates of birth, and copies of drivers’ 
license. 

 

K. MOTOR VEHICLE RECORD CHECKS 

The BOCC’s office must be able to employ individuals who are trustworthy and able 
to properly interact with key organizational partners.  Employees agree, by signing the 
acknowledgment provision verifying agreement to this handbook, that the BOCC’s 
office may conduct occasional criminal, employment, driving and educational 
backgrounds on employees as it deems necessary to conduct its operation in a 
profitable and legal manner.  The BOCC’s office reserves the right to take any and all 
action it deems necessary to act upon the results of such ongoing screening. 

 

L. COUNTY INFORMATION OR RECORDS 

When someone from outside the County asks you for information about records, 
procedures or other internal matters, refer the person to the appropriate County 
official unless you have been specifically authorized to release such information. No 
records, official documents, material, manuals or other property of the County are to 
be loaned, given or sold to any outside person or concern by any staff member 
without approval of the County Manager. 

M. SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION 

To ensure that all staff are permitted to devote their full attention to their duties and 
to prevent unnecessary interference with our operations, it is the policy of the County 
that: 

1. There shall be no solicitation by staff members during working time; 
 

2. There shall be no distribution of literature by staff members during working 
time or at any time in work areas; 
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 60 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

3. There shall be no solicitation or distribution of literature on County premises at 
any time by persons who do not work for the County. 
 

4. Solicitations, which are prohibited, include but are not limited to, solicitation 
for magazines or subscriptions, membership in organizations, and political 
contributions. Distributions, which are prohibited, include but are not limited 
to, political literature, advertising, brochures, and packages of materials, leaflets, 
or informational bulletins. 
 

5. Strict compliance with this rule is required by all staff. Violation of this rule will 
be grounds for discipline up to and including termination. 

 

N. SALESPERSONS AND SOLICITORS 

Solicitation for any purpose is NOT permitted without express authority from the 
County Manager. If such a person calls upon you during working hours, they should 
be informed in a courteous manner that solicitation is not permitted. 

 

O. SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 

We recognize that employees will use social media and other online communication 
tools as a growing way to connect with others. As an initial point, the same principles 
and guidelines that apply to your activities as an employee in general, as found 
throughout the Handbook and your job description, apply to your activities online. 
This includes any form of electronic communication, such as online publishing and 
discussion, including blogs, wikis, file-sharing, user-generated video and audio, virtual 
worlds, and social networks whether or not associated or affiliated with the BOCC’s 
office.  

The BOCC’s office trusts and expects employees to exercise personal responsibility 
whenever they participate in social media. This includes not violating the trust of 
those with whom they are engaging. We expect that employees utilizing social media 
will recognize and follow the guidelines included within this policy. You are solely 
responsible for what you post online. Any of your conduct that adversely affects 
members, customers, clients, suppliers, employees, or our business interests will result 
in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

Please abide by the following expectations: 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 61 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

1. You may not comment for or speak on behalf of the BOCC’s office without 
prior written approval. 
 

2. You may not make negative or disparaging remarks about other employees. 
 

3. Always consider the power of your comments and contemplate the impact of 
your post on your reputation and that of the BOCC’s office before you publish 
it. 
 

4. Respect all confidential and proprietary information that you possess as a result 
of your relationship with the BOCC’s office. Secure written permission to 
publish or report on conversations that are meant to be private or internal to 
BOCC’s office. Examples of confidential information include, but are not 
limited to, client/customer information, confidential academic information, 
proprietary data, development of systems, products, processes and/or 
technology, internal policies, and memorandums, and all proposed and 
executed organizational strategies. Do not post internal reports, policies, 
procedures, or other internal business-related communications.  
 

5. You may not use the BOCC’s office’s logo, trademark, or graphics on personal 
sites without prior written approval. 
 

6. When disagreeing with opinions of others online, be appropriate and 
professional in doing so when posting such disagreement on social media sites. 
 

7. When posting about your work at BOCC’s office use your real name, identify 
that you work for BOCC’s office and the position that you hold. Be aware of 
your association with BOCC’s office in online social networks. If you identify 
yourself as an employee of BOCC’s office, ensure your profile and related 
content is consistent with how you wish to present yourself with colleagues and 
clients. 
 

8. Anytime you publish content on an external website regarding anything to do 
with work you do, or any subjects associated with BOCC’s office, use the 
following disclaimer: "The postings on this site are my own and don't 
necessarily represent BOCC’s office's positions, strategies or opinions."  
 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 62 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

9. Respect financial disclosure laws. It is illegal to communicate or give a "tip" on 
inside information to others so that they may buy or sell stocks or securities.  
 

10. Respect your audience. Do not use slurs, personal insults, obscenity, or engage 
in any conduct that would not be acceptable in our workplace. You should also 
show proper consideration for others' privacy and for topics that may be 
considered objectionable or inflammatory. 
 

11. Employees are prohibited from posting any type of photograph of any BOCC’s 
office employee, client/customer, parent, family member, or volunteer on any 
and all social networking sites without express written approval. 
 

12. Do not create a link from your personal blog, website, or other social posting 
to a BOCC’s office website.  
 

13. The BOCC’s office respects its employees' interest and willingness to convey 
group complaints regarding existing working conditions. While it wholly 
respects employees' right to discuss such concerns utilizing social media, it 
encourages any such concerns to be brought to the BOCC’s office's 
administration. 
 

14. Refrain from using social media while on work time or on equipment we 
provide unless it is work related and authorized by your Supervisor and 
consistent with our equipment policy. 
 

15. Do not use your organizational email address to register on social networks, 
blogs or other online tools utilized for personal use.  
 

16. Vulgar, obscene, threatening, intimidating, harassing, discriminatory, or 
unlawful behaviors on social media sites may result in an employee's immediate 
termination. 

 

 

 

 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 63 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

P. WEAPONS IN THE WORKPLACE  

It is our policy to strictly prohibit any employee, vendor, or customer from carrying 
any sort of weapon into our offices.  Employees are permitted to bring weapons in 
their vehicles into our parking lots if they remain locked within the vehicle and the 
employee maintains a current and legal permit to carry the weapon.  Such weapons 
may not be used for any inappropriate or illegal use.  Any violation of this policy will 
result in the immediate termination of such employee.    

 

Q. CONTAGIOUS ILLNESS 

The BOCC’s office owes an obligation to the entire workforce to prohibit employees 
who have an infectious condition or illness from working until such time that an 
infected employee is able to produce written verification from a licensed physician 
that the condition is no longer contagious.  The BOCC’s office shall work with 
immense diligence to protect the private health information of the infected employee; 
however, all employees must also recognize the need to alert other employees of 
infectious conditions that may have impacted others, particularly those with sensitive 
medical conditions including pregnancy, immune deficiency conditions, etc.  Records 
of employee medical examinations shall be kept in a separate and confidential file. 

1. Employees with contagious conditions that may pose health risks to others 
agree that they will report such conditions to the human resource department 
for appropriate guidance and management immediately upon learning of the 
condition.  An employee who reports for duty with a suspected infectious 
condition shall be sent home and referred to their personal physician for 
further evaluation.  Following the medical evaluation, the employee may return 
to work with a physician’s statement that indicates the employee is free of an 
infectious condition.   
 

2. When reporting for duty after recovering from an infectious condition, the 
employee shall present the physician's statement to office of the Clerk of 
Courts that states the employee is free of the infectious condition before being 
allowed to return to work.   
 

3. No employee shall return to work who has a temperature elevation, draining 
skin lesions, a communicable rash, or a communicable disease.  Such 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 64 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

employees may pose a direct threat to the health and safety of the other 
employees and our customers.   

 

R. WORKPLACE VIOLENCE 

The BOCC’s office maintains a zero-tolerance standard of violence in the workplace. 
The purpose of this policy is to provide all employees with guidelines that will 
maintain a workplace culture that is free of violence.  Threats, either implied or direct, 
of any kind by an employee, client, vendor, or any other person are prohibited at the 
BOCC’s office.  Such conduct will not be tolerated and will result in prompt and 
remedial action. An employee who exhibits violent behavior may be subject to 
criminal prosecution and shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
dismissal. Violent threats or actions by a non-employee may result in criminal 
prosecution. The BOCC’s office urges all employees to come forward to their 
Supervisor, Department Head, or the County Manager’s office in the event that they 
become aware of any type of potential or actual threat or in any situation in which 
they observe or learn of a conflict within the workplace.  An immediate investigation 
will occur when any such report is made. Retaliation against a person who makes a 
complaint regarding violent behavior or threats of violence made to such person is 
also prohibited. 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

• Workplace Violence: Behavior in which an employee, former 
employee or visitor to a workplace inflicts or threatens to inflict 
damage to property, serious harm, injury, or death to others at 
the workplace. 

• Threat: The implication or expression of intent to inflict physical 
harm or actions that a reasonable person would interpret as a 
threat to physical safety or property. 

• Intimidation: Making others afraid or fearful through threatening 
behavior. 

• Zero-tolerance: A standard that establishes that any behavior, 
implied or actual, that violates the policy will not be tolerated. 

• Court Order: An order by a Court that specifies and/or restricts 
the behavior of an individual. Court Orders may be issued in 
matters involving domestic violence, stalking or harassment, 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 65 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

among other types of protective orders, including Temporary 
Restraining Orders. 

• Domestic Violence:  While often originating in the home, 
domestic violence can significantly impact workplace safety and 
the productivity of victims as well as co-workers. Domestic 
violence is abuse committed in an intimate relationship 
(regardless of marital status, age, race, or sexual orientation) 
against an adult or fully emancipated minor.  In this context, 
abuse is the intentional reckless attempt to cause bodily injury, 
sexual assault, threatening behavior, harassment, or stalking, or 
making annoying phone calls to a person who is in any of the 
following relationships: 

i. Spouse or former spouse 
ii. Domestic partner or former domestic partner 
iii. Cohabitant or former cohabitant and or other household 

members 
iv. A person with whom the victim is having, or has had, a 

dating or engagement relationship 
v. A person with whom the victim has a child 

 
2. PROHIBITED BEHAVIOR 

 
Violence in the workplace may include, but is not limited to the 
following list of prohibited behaviors directed at or by a co-worker, 
supervisor, or member of the public: 
 

• Direct threats or physical intimidation 
• Implications or suggestions of violence 
• Stalking 
• Assault of any form 
• Physical restraint, confinement 
• Dangerous or threatening horseplay 
• Loud, disruptive, or angry behavior or language that is clearly not 

part of the typical work environment 
• Blatant or intentional disregard for the safety or well-being of 

others 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 66 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

• Commission of a violent felony or misdemeanor on the BOCC’s 
office property 

• Any other act that a reasonable person would perceive as 
constituting a threat of violence 

 
3. REPORTING ACTS OR THREATS OF VIOLENCE:  

 
An employee who is the victim of violence, believes they have been 
threatened with violence, or witnesses an act or threat of violence 
towards anyone else shall take the following steps: 

 
• If an emergency exists and the situation is one of immediate 

danger, the employee shall contact the local police officials by 
dialing 9-1-1 and may take whatever emergency steps are 
available and appropriate to protect themselves from immediate 
harm, such as leaving the area. 

• If the situation is not one of immediate danger, the employee 
shall report the incident to the appropriate supervisor or manager 
as soon as possible and complete the BOCC’s office Workplace 
Violence Incident Report Form. 
 

4. PROCEDURES – FUTURE VIOLENCE 
 

Employees who have reason to believe they, or others, may be 
victimized by a violent act sometime in the future, at the workplace or as 
a direct result of their employment with the BOCC’s office, shall inform 
their supervisor by immediately completing a Workplace Violence 
Incident Report Form so appropriate action may be taken. The 
supervisor shall inform their Department Director or designee, the 
Director of Office of the Clerk of Courts, and the local law enforcement 
officials. 

 
Employees who have signed and filed a restraining order, temporary or 
permanent, against an individual due to a potential act of violence, who 
would be in violation of the order by coming near them at work, shall 
immediately supply a copy of the signed order to their supervisor. The 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 67 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

supervisor shall provide copies to the Department Director, the Clerk of 
Courts, and local police. 
 

5. INCIDENT INVESTIGATION  
 
Acts of violence or threats will be investigated immediately in order to 
protect employees from danger, unnecessary anxiety concerning their 
welfare, and the loss of productivity. The employee’s Department 
Director will cause to be initiated an investigation into potential violation 
of work rules/policies. Simultaneously, the Department Director will 
refer the matter to local police for their review of potential violation of 
civil and/or criminal law.  Procedures for investigating incidents of 
workplace violence include: 

 
• Visiting the scene of an incident as soon as possible. 
• Interviewing injured and threatened employees and witnesses. 
• Examining the workplace for security risk factors associated with the 

incident, including any reports of inappropriate behavior by the 
perpetrator. 

• Determining the cause of the incident. 
• Taking mitigating action to prevent the incident from recurring. – 

Recording the findings and mitigating actions taken. 
In appropriate circumstances, the BOCC’s office will inform the 
reporting individual of the results of the investigation. To the extent 
possible, the BOCC’s office will maintain the confidentiality of the 
reporting employee and the investigation but may need to disclose 
results in appropriate circumstances; for example, in order to protect 
individual safety. The BOCC’s office will not tolerate retaliation against 
any employee who reports workplace violence. 

 
6. MITIGATING MEASURES 

 
Incidents which threaten the security of employees shall be mitigated as 
soon as possible following their discovery. Mitigating actions include: 

 
• Notification of law enforcement authorities when a potential criminal 

act has occurred. 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 68 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

• Provision of emergency medical care in the event of any violent act 
upon an employee. 

• Post-event trauma counseling for those employees desiring such 
assistance. 

• Assurance that incidents are handled in accordance with the 
Workplace Violence Prevention policy. 

• Requesting the BOCC’s office’s attorney file a restraining order as 
appropriate. 

 
S. BRADFORD COUNTY LOGOS, TRADEMARKS, AND BRANDS 

This policy governs the use of all BOCC’s office trademarks for any purpose and 
applies to all employees. Consistency in the use of our brand strengthens our value 
and our ability to be instantly recognized by our clients and other stakeholders.  Our 
logo may only be used in strict accordance with this policy and the graphics 
requirements of the approved brand.  Our logo may not be altered or combined with 
any other mark or element.  Our logo must appear prominently on all official 
communication and marketing materials such as brochures, letterheads, and business 
cards.   

Any use of our logo, trademark, or brand in print and electronic materials including 
email and social media must conform to our brand requirements.  Our logo may not 
be used on commercial merchandise except as expressly approved by the BOCC. 

Our logo may not be used in any way that states or implies endorsement of a 
commercial product or service, gives a false impression, is misleading, or could cause 
confusion regarding the BOCC’s office’s relationship with any person or entity. 

Neither our name nor our logo may be used in any manner that could adversely affect 
our image or standing in the community.  Such proscribed uses include, but are not 
limited to, the use of our logo in connection with alcoholic beverages, cigarettes or 
other tobacco products, sexually oriented products or services, religious products, 
political parties or organizations, gaming or games of chance, and firearms. 

We expect our employees to respect all copyright and other intellectual property 
laws—for the protection of the BOCC’s office as well as the employees.  Proper 
respect for the laws governing copyright, fair use of copyrighted material owned by 
others, trademarks, and other intellectual property, including our own logo, 
copyrights, trademarks, and brands is critical to continued employment.   



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 69 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

T. USE OF EMPLOYEE PHOTO, LIKENESS, AND VOICE 

The BOCC’s office may take pictures or make recordings of its activities, including 
specific work tasks or BOCC’s office events to be used in educational, recruiting, or 
promotional materials. Such materials may be in different media, including the 
internet. The BOCC’s office has provided a Photo and Publicity Release Form to all 
employees at hiring and will comply with the preference indicated on that form in the 
use of any employee’s Photo, Likeness, or Voice. It is incumbent on the employee to 
ensure that the form is appropriately completed and, if the employee wishes to change 
their preference, that they complete an updated form. The Photo and Publicity 
Release Form is available from office of the Clerk of Courts.  

U. WORKPLACE SURVEILLANCE AND MONITORING 

The BOCC’s office reserves the right to install security cameras in work areas for 
specific business reasons, such as security, theft protection or protection of 
proprietary information. 

1. The BOCC’s office may find it necessary to monitor work areas with 
security cameras when there is a specific job- or business-related reason 
to do so. The company will do so only after first ensuring that such 
action is in compliance with state and federal laws. 
 

2. Employees should not have any expectation of privacy in work-related 
areas. 

 
3. Employee privacy in nonwork areas will be respected to the extent 

possible. The BOCC’s office’s reasonable suspicion of onsite drug use, 
physical abuse, theft, or similar circumstances would be possible 
exceptions. Legal advice will be sought in advance in such rare cases 
where nonwork-area privacy must be compromised.  

 
4. The BOCC’s office also may conduct other monitoring of its physical 

location, computer network or systems, electronic devices, vehicles, 
and/or other equipment.  Our Computer, Telephone, and 
Communication hardware and software systems have been installed and 
are used to facilitate business communications.  Although each employee 
has an individual password to access these Systems, they belong to the 
BOCC’s office and the contents of all communications are accessible by 



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 70 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

management for any business purpose.  Communications sent via a 
personal device also may be subject to monitoring if sent through the 
BOCC’s office's networks and the personal device must be provided for 
inspection and review upon request. 

 
5. The BOCC’s office reserves the right to monitor, and will periodically 

monitor, its Systems in order to ensure compliance with this Policy.  
Employees are strictly prohibited from placing personal passwords on 
any BOCC’s office System for the purpose of preventing such 
monitoring. 

 
6. The BOCC’s office reserves the right to limit or prohibit employee use 

of electronic communications when necessary to ensure organizational 
production or to discipline employees for performance related reasons. 

 
7. EMPLOYEES SHOULD NOT CONSIDER ANY MATERIALS 

TRANSMITTED OR STORED IN THE BOCC’S OFFICE 
SYSTEMS TO BE PRIVATE. Equipment, including vehicles and/or 
electronic devices, such as cell phones, laptops, or tablets, assigned to 
you temporarily or permanently is subject to monitoring, including active 
monitoring such as GPS location monitoring.  You should have no 
expectation of privacy with respect to the use of such equipment.  
Additionally, you may be asked to surrender the equipment with no 
notice for a variety of reasons including routine maintenance. 

 
8. Employees should contact their supervisor or the office of the County 

Manager if they have questions about this policy. 

  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 71 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

V. NEPOTISM 

The BOCC’s office prohibits working relationships between members of the same 
family in which one such employee has supervisory or managerial authority over the 
other family member.  Supervisory or managerial authority includes hiring, 
promotion, salary, performance evaluation and other staffing decisions.  For the 
purpose of this policy, family member is defined as a spouse, domestic partner, 
romantic partner, children, parents, siblings, nieces, nephews, grandparents, 
grandchildren, aunts, uncles, first cousins, and corresponding in-law or step 
relationships.  If such a relationship is discovered, the BOCC’s office will take all 
necessary measures, including separation of employment, to rectify the violation of 
this policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Personnel Policies and Procedures  Page 72 of 72 
Revised September 3, 2024   
 

VI. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT 

I acknowledge receipt of the Personnel Policies and Procedures handbook. I have been given an 
opportunity to ask questions that I may have concerning any of the policies of Bradford County. 

I also understand that this informative handbook is not to be considered a contract of a 
guarantee of continued appointment and/or employment. I understand that I serve at the 
pleasure of the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners, and that either the Board of 
County Commissioners or I can terminate the appointment and/or employment with or without 
cause. Policies and benefits may be changed from time to time at the discretion of the County 
with or without notice. I will keep my handbook for future reference and observe all policies 
and rules. 

I also understand that as a condition of appointment and/or hiring and as required by state law, 
I must take the following loyalty oath as prescribed by Section 876.05(1), Florida Statutes: 

I, _____________________________________, a citizen of the State of Florida and of the 
United States of America (or a resident alien), and being appointed and/or hired by an officer of 
Bradford County, and a recipient of public funds as such staff member or officer, do hereby 
solemnly swear or affirm that I will support the Constitution of the United States of America 
and the State of Florida. 

 

Signature: __________________________  Date: ________________ 

 

Sworn and subscribed before me this _____ day of ___________, __________. 

 

      ________________________________ 
      Notary Public, State of Florida at Large. 
 
Personally Known ___   My Commission Expires: ____________ 
OR 
Produced Identification ___ 
Type of Identification Produced _______________________________________ 
 
Signing this document is a condition of continued employment. 
A Completed copy of this Acknowledgment of Receipt, signed by the staff member, dated, and 
notarized, will be retained in the staff member’s personnel file.  
 

 

 





















Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM CONTRACT BETWEEN BRADFORD COUNTY 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AND STATE 
OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE 
OPERATION OF THE BRADFORD COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT CONTRACT YEAR 2024-2025  

 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: Core Contract for Health Department Services for Bradford 

County for 2024-2025 Fiscal Year 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): Bradford County - $82,500 
 State of Florida - $1,500,244 
 *Overall expenditures will not exceed available funding or 

budget authority, whichever is less in any service category. 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): 001-20-563-8300-00 – Mental Health 
 001-20-563-81300-01 – Core Contract 
  



CONTRACT BETWEEN
BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

AND
STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

FOR OPERATION OF THE
BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

CONTRACT Y EAR 2024.2025

This contract is made and entered into between the State of Florida, Department of Health
("State"), and the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners ("County"), through their
undersigned authorities, effective October 1,2024. State and County are jointly referred to as
the "parties".

RECITALS

A. Pursuant to Chapter 154, Florida Statutes, the intent of the legislature is to
"promote, protect, maintain, and improve the health and safety of all citizens and visitors of this
state through a system of coordinated county health department services."

B. County Health Departments were created throughout Florida to satisfy this
legislative intent through the "promotion of the public's health, the control and eradication of
preventable diseases, and the provision of primary health care for special populations."

C. Bradford County Health Department ('CHD) is one of the created County Health
Departments.

D. lt is necessary for the parties hereto to enter into this contract to ensure
coordination between the State and the County in the operation of the CHD.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth herein, the
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. RECITALS. The parties mutually agree that the foregoing recitals are true and correct
and incorporated herein by reference

2. TERM. The parties mutually agree that this contract shall be effective from October 1,

2024, through September 30,2025, or until a written contract replacing this contract is entered
into between the parties, whichever is later, unless this contract is otherwise terminated
according to the termination provisions outlined in paragraph 8. below.

3. SERVICES MAINTAINED BY THE CHD. The parties mutually agree that the CHD shall
provide those services as outlined in Part lll of Attachment ll hereof, to maintain the following
three levels of service pursuant to section 154.01(2), Florida Statutes, as defined below:

a. "Environmental health services" are those services that are organized and operated to
protect the health of the general public by monitoring and regulating activities in the
environment that may contribute to the occurrence or transmission of disease. Environmental
health services shall be supported by available federal, state, and local funds and shall include

1



those services mandated on a state or federal level. Examples of environmental health
services include but are not limited to, food hygiene, safe drinking water supply, sewage, and
solid waste disposal, swimming pools, group care facilities, migrant labor camps, toxic material
control, radiological health, and occupational health.

b. "Communicable disease control services" are those seryices that protect the health of
the general public through the detection, control, and eradication of diseases that are
transmitted primarily by human beings. Communicable disease services shall be supported by
available federal, state, and local funds and shall include those services mandated on a state
or federal level. Such services include, but are not limited to, epidemiology, sexually
transmissible disease detection and control, HlviAlDS, immunization, tuberculosis control, and
maintenance of vital statistics.

c. "Primary care services" are acute care and preventive services that are made available
to well and sick persons who are unable to obtain such services due to lack of income or other
barriers beyond their control. These services are provided to benefit individuals, improve the
collective health of the public, and prevent and control the spread of disease. Primary health
care services are provided at home, in group settings, or in clinics. These services shall be
supported by available federal, state, and local funds and shall include services mandated on
a state or federal level. Examples of primary health care services include but are not limited to
first contact acute care services; chronic disease detection and treatment; maternal and child
health services; family planning, nutrition, school health; supplemental food assistance for
women, infants, and children; home health; and dental services.

4. FUNDING The parties further agree that funding for the CHD will be handled as follows

a. The funding to be provided by the parties and any other sources is outlined in Part ll of
Attachment ll hereof. This funding will be used as shown in Part I of Attachment ll.

The State's appropriated responsibility (direct contribution excluding any state fees,

Medicaid contributions, or any other funds not listed on the Schedule C) as provided in
Attachment ll, Part ll is an amount not to exceed $ 1.500.244 (State ceneral
Revenue, State Funds, Other Sfafe Funds and Federal Funds listed on the Schedule C).

The State's obligation to pay underthis contract is contingent upon an annual
appropriation by the Legislature.

The County's appropriated responsibility (direct contribution excluding any fees,

other cash, or local contributiors) as provided in Attachment ll, Part ll is an amount
not to exceed $ 82,500 (amount listed under the "Board of County Commissioners
Annual Appropriations section of the revenue attachment).

b. Overall expenditures will not exceed available funding or budget authority, whichever is
less, (either the current year or from surplus trust funds) in any service category. Unless
requested otherwise, any surplus at the end of the term of this contract in the County Health
Department Trust Fund that is attributed to the CHD shall be carried forward to the next contract
period.

2

i.



c. Either party may establish service fees as allowed by law to fund activities of the CHD.
Where applicable, such fees shall be automatically adjusted to at least the Medicaid fee
schedule.

d. Either party may increase or decrease funding of this contract during the term hereof by
notifying the other party in writing of the amount and purpose for the change in funding. lf the
State initiates the increase or decrease, the CHD will revise Attachment ll and send a copy of
the revised pages to the County and the State's Office of Budget and Revenue Management.
lf the County initiates the increase or decrease, the County shall notify the CHD in writing. The
CHD will then revise Attachment ll and send a copy of the revised pages to the State's Office
of Budget and Revenue Management.

e. The name and address of the official payee to whom payments shall be made is:

County Health Department Trust Fund
Bradford County Health Department
1801 North Temple Avenue
Starke, FL 32091

5. CHD DIRECTOR oTADMINISTRATOR Both parties agree the director or administrator
of the CHD shall be a State employee or under contract with the State and will be under the
day-to-day direction of the State's Deputy Secretary for County Health Systems. The director
or administrator shall be selected by the State with the concurrence of the County. The director
or administrator of the CHD shall ensure that non-categorical sources of funding are used to
fulfill public health priorities in the community and the Long-Range Program Plan.

6. ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES. The parties hereto agree that the
following standards should apply in the operation of the CHD:

a. The CHD and its personnel shall follow all State policies and procedures, except to the
extent permitted for the use of County purchasing procedures as outlined in subparagraph b.,

below. All CHD employees shall be State or State-contract personnel subject to State
personnel laws, rules, and procedures. Employees will report time in the Health Management
System compatible format by program component as specified by the State.

b. The CHD shall comply with all applicable provisions of federal and state laws and
regulations relating to its operation with the exception that the use of County purchasing
procedures shall be allowed when it will result in a better price or service and no statewide
purchasing contract has been implemented for those goods or services. ln such cases, the
CHD director or administrator must sign a justification, therefore, and all County purchasing
procedures must be followed in their entirety, and such compliance shall be documented. Such
justification and compliance documentation shall be maintained by the CHD following the terms
of this contract. State procedures must be followed for all leases on facilities not enumerated
in Attachment lV.

c. The CHD shall maintain books, records, and documents following the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles, as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, and the requirements of federal or state law. These records shall be maintained as

3



required by the State's Policies and Procedures for Records Management and shall be open
for inspection at any time by the parties and the public, except for those records that are not
othenrvise subject to disclosure as provided by law which is subject to the confidentiality
provisions of paragraphs 6.i. and 6.k., below. Books, records, and documents must be
adequate to allow the CHD to comply with the following reporting requirements:

The revenue and expenditure requirements in the Florida Accounting
lnformation Resource System; and

The client registration and services reporting requirements of the minimum
data set as specified in the most current version of the Client lnformation
System/Health Management Component Pamphlet; and

Financial procedures specified in the State's Accounting Procedures
Manuals, Accounting memoranda, and Comptroller's memoranda; and

The CHD is responsible for assuring that all contracts with service providers
include provisions that all subcontracted services be reported to the CHD in
a manner consistent with the client registration and service reporting
requirements of the minimum data set as specified in the Client lnformation
System/Health Management Component Pamphlet.

d. All funds for the CHD shall be deposited in the County Health Department Trust Fund
maintained by the state treasurer. These funds shall be accounted for separately from funds
deposited for other CHDs and shall be used only for public health purposes in Bradford County.

e. That any surplus or deficit funds, including fees or accrued interest, remaining in the
County Health Department Trust Fund account at the end of the contract year shall be credited
or debited to the State or County, as appropriate, based on the funds contributed by each and
the expenditures incurred by each. Expenditures will be charged to the program accounts by
State and County based on the ratio of planned expenditures in this contract and funding from
all sources is credited to the program accounts by State and County. The equity share of any
surplus or deficit funds accruing to the State and County is determined each month and at the
contract year-end. Surplus funds may be applied toward the funding requirements of each
party in the following year. However, in each such case, all surplus funds, including fees and
accrued interest, shall remain in the trust fund until accounted for in a manner that clearly
illustrates the amount which has been credited to each party. The planned use of surplus funds
shall be reflected in Attachment ll, Part I of this contract, with special capital projects explained
in Attachment V.

f. There shall be no transfer of funds between the three levels of services without a contract
amendment unless the CHD director or administrator determines that an emergency exists
wherein a time delay would endanger the public's health and the State's Deputy Secretary for
County Health Systems have approved the transfer. The State's Deputy Secretary for County
Health Systems shall forward written evidence of this approval to the CHD within 30 days after
an emergency transfer.

4

t.

ii.

iii.

iv.



g. The CHD may execute subcontracts for services necessary to enable the CHD to carry
out the programs specified in this contract. Any such subcontract shall include all
aforementioned audit and record-keeping requirements.

h. At the request of either party, an audit may be conducted by an independent certified
public accountant on the financial records of the CHD, and the results made available to the
partieswithin 180 days after the close of theCHDfiscal year. Thisauditwill follow requirements
contained in OMB Circular A-133, as revised, and may be in conjunction with audits performed
by the County government. lf audit exceptions are found, then the director or administrator of
the CHD will prepare a corrective action plan and a copy of that plan and monthly status reports
will be furnished to the contract managers for the parties.

i. The CHD shall not use or disclose any information concerning a recipient of services
except as allowed by federal or state law or policy.

j. The CHD shall retain all client records, financial records, supporting documents,
statistical records, and any other documents (including electronic storage media) pertinent to
this contract for five years after termination of this contract. lf an audit has been initiated and
audit findings have not been resolved at the end of five years, the records shall be retained
until the resolution of the audit findings.

k. The CHD shall maintain the confidentiality of all data, files, and records that are
confidential under the law or are otheMise exempted from disclosure as a public record under
Florida law. The CHD shall implement procedures to ensure the protection and confidentiality
of all such records and shall comply with sections 384.29,381.004, 392.65, and 456.057,
Florida Statutes, and all other state and federal laws regarding confidentiality. All confidentiality
procedures implemented by the CHD shall be consistent with the State's lnformation Security
Policies, Protocols, and Procedures. The CHD shall further adhere to any amendments to the
State's security requirements and shall comply with any applicable professional standards of
practice concerning client confidentiality.

l. The CHD shall abide by all State policies and procedures, which by this reference are
incorporated herein as standards to be followed by the CHD.

m. The CHD shall establish a system through which applicants for services and current
clients may present grievances over denial, modification, or termination of services. The CHD
will advise applicants of the right to appeal a denial or exclusion from services, of failure to take
account of a client's choice of service, and right to a fair hearing to the final governing authority
of the CHD. Specific references to existing laws, rules, or program manuals are included in
Attachment I of this contract.

n. The CHD shall comply with the provisions contained in the Civil Rights Compliance and
Non-Discrimination Certificate, hereby incorporated into this contract as Attachment lll.

o. The CHD shall submit quarterly reports to the County that shall include at least the
following:

5



The DE385L1 Contract Management Variance Report and the DE580L1
Analysis of Fund Equities Report; and

. A written explanation to the County of service variances reflected in the year-
end DE385L1 report if the variance exceeds or falls below 25 percent of the
planned expenditure amount for the contract year. However, if the amount
of the service-specific variance between actual and planned expenditures
does not exceed three percent of the total planned expenditures for the level
of service in which the type of service is included, a variance explanation is
not required. A copy of the written explanation shall be sent to the State's
Office of Budget and Revenue Management.

March 1,2025,for the reporting period of October 1,2024, through
December 31 ,2024; and

l. June 1, 2025,'for the reporting period of October 1,2024, through
March 31, 2025, and

l September 1,2025, forthe reporting period of October 1,2024
through June 30, 2025: and

IV December 1,2025, forthe reporting period of October 1,2024
through September 30, 2025.

7. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT. The parties mutually agree that:

a. CHD facilities shall be provided as specified in Attachment lV to this contract and the
County shall own the facilities used by the CHD unless otherwise provided in Attachment lV.

b. The County shall ensure adequate fire and casualty insurance coverage for County-
owned CHD offices and buildings and all furnishings and equipment in CHD offices through
either a self-insurance program or insurance purchased by the County.

c. All vehicles will be transferred to the ownership of the County and registered as County
vehicles. The County shall ensure insurance coverage for these vehicles is available through
either a self-insurance program or insurance purchased by the County. All vehicles will be
used solely for CHD operations. Vehicles purchased through the County Health Department
Trust Fund shall be sold at fair market value when they are no longer needed by the CHD and
the proceeds returned to the County Health Department Trust Fund.

6

p. The dates for the submission of quarterly reports to the County shall be as follows unless
the generation and distribution of reports are delayed due to circumstances beyond the CHD's
control:



8. TERMINATION.

a. Termination at Will. This contract may be terminated by either party without cause upon
no less than 180 calendar days' notice in writing to the other party unless a lesser time is
mutually agreed upon in writing by both parties.

b. Termination Because of Lack of Funds. ln the event funds to finance this contract
become unavailable, either party may terminate this contract upon no less than 24 hours'
notice.

c. Termination for Breach. This contract may be terminated by either party for a material
breach of an obligation hereunder, upon no less than 30 days' notice. Waiver of a breach of
any provisions of this contract shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any other breach and shall
not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this contract.

9. MISCELLANEOUS The parties further agree.

a. Availabilitv of Funds. lf this contract, any renewal hereof, or any term, performance, or
payment hereunder, extends beyond the CHD fiscal year beginning July 1,2024, it is agreed
that the performance and payment under this contract are contingent upon an annual
appropriation by the Legislature, under section 287.0582, Florida Statutes.

b. Contract Manaoers. The name and addresses of the contract managers for the parties
under this contract are as follows:

For the State For the County:

Scott Kornegay
Countv Manaqe

Amie G. Oody
Ad ministrator/Director I

Starke FL 32091

Title
945 North Temple Avenue

Starke, FL 32091
Address

scott korneqav@bradfordcoun!t'Lqlq
Email Address
(904) 966-6327

Address

a flh Ith.qov
Email Address
(.904\ 964-7732
Telephone Telephone

lf different contract managers are designated after the execution of this contract, the name,
address, email address, and telephone number of the new representative shall be furnished in
writing to the other parties and attached to the originals of this contract.

c- Captions. The captions and headings contained in this contract are for the convenience
of the parties only and do not in any way modify, amplify, or give additional notice of the
provisions hereof.

7

Title
1801 North Temple Avenue



d. Notices. Any notices provided under this contract must be delivered by certified mail,
return receipt requested, in person with proof of delivery, or by email to the email address of
the respective party identified in Section 9.b., above.

ln WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this eight page contract, with its
attachments as referenced, including Attachment l(two pages), Attachment ll (seven pages),
Attachment lll (one page), Attachment lV (one page), and Attachment V (one page), to be
executed by their undersigned officials as duly authorized effective the 1st day of Octobet 2024.

BOARD OF COUNry COMMISSIONERS
FOR BRADFORD COUNTY

SIGNED BY:

NAME: Carolyn Spooner

TITLE: Chairwoman

DATE:

ATTESTED TO:

NAME: Dennv Thompson

TITLE: Clerk of Court

DATE:

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

SIGNED BY:

NAME: Joseph A. Ladapo, M.D., Ph.D.

TITLE: State Surqeon General

NAME: Amie G. Oody

TITLE: CHD Director or Administrator

DATE:

I

DATE:

SIGNED BY: _ SIGNED BY: _



ATTACHMENT I

BRADFORO COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

PROGRAM SPECIFIC REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND PROGRAMS REQUIRING

COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SPECIFIC MANUALS

Some health services must comply with specific program and reporting requirements in addition to the Personal Health
Coding Pamphlet (DHP 50-20), Environmental Health Coding Pamphlet (DHP 50-21) and FLAIR requirements because of
federal or state law, regulataon or rule. lf a county health department is funded to provide one of these services, it must
comply with the special reporting requirements for that service. The services and the reporting requirements are listed
below:

2

3

Service

Sexually Transmifted Disease
Program

Dental Health

Special Supplemental Nutrition
Program for Women, lnfants and
Children (including the WIC
Breastfeeding Peer Counseling
Program)

5. Family Planning

6. lmmunization

Requirement

Requirements as specified in F.A.C.64D-3, F.S. 381 and F.S. 384

Periodic financial and programmatic reports as specified by the
program office.

Requirements as specified in the 2007 Healthy Start Standards and
Guidelines and as specified by the Healthy Start Coalitions in

contract with each county health department.

Requirements as specified in Public Law 91-572, 42 U.S.C. 300, et
seq., 42 CFR part 59, subpart A, 45 CFR parts 74 & 92,2 CFR215
(OMB CircularA-1'10) OMB CircularA-102, F.S. 381.0051, F.A.C.
64F-7, F.A.C. 64F-16, and F.A.C.64F-19. Requirements and
Guidance as specified in the Program Requirements for Title x
Funded Family Planning Projects (Title x Requirements)(2014) and
the Providing Quality Family Planning Services (OFP):
Recommendations of CDC and the U.S. Office of Population Affairs
published on the Office of Population Affairs website. Programmatic
annual reports as specified by the program otfice as specifled in the
annual programmatic Scope of Work for Family Planning and
Maternal Child Health Services, including the Family Planning
Annual Report (FPAR), and other minimum guidelines as specifled
by the Policy Web Technical Assistance Guidelines.

Periodic reports as specified by the department pertaining to
immunization levels in kindergarten and/or seventh grade pursuant
to instructions contained in the lmmunization Guidelines-Florida
Schools, Childcare Facilities and Family Daycare Homes (DH Form
150-615) and Rule 64D-3.046, F.A.C. ln addition, periodic reports
as specifled by the depadment pertaining to the
surveillance/investigation of reportable vaccine-preventable
diseases, adverse events, vaccine accountability, and assessment
of immunization

4

ATTACHMENT I (Continued)

Atlachmenl_l - Page 1 of 11

Healthy Staru lmproved Pregnancy
Outcome

Service documentation and monthly flnancial reports as specified in

DHM 150-24" and all federal, state and county requirements
detailed in program manuals and published procedures.



7

8

Environmental Health

HIV/AIDS Program

9. School Health Services

10. Tuberculosis

11

12. Refugee Health Program

*or the subsequent replacement if adopted during the contract period

levels as documented in Florada SHOTS and supported by CHD
Guidebook policies and technical assistance guidance.

Requirements as specified in Environmental Health Programs
l\ilanual 150-4'and DHP 50-21.

Requirements as specified in F.S. 384.25 and F A.C. 64D-3.030
and 64D-3.031. Case reporting should be on Adult HIV/AIDS
Confidential Case Report CDC Form DH2l39 and Pediatric
HIV/AIDS Confidential Case Report CDC Form DH2140.

Requirements as specified in F.A.C.64D-2 and 64D-3, F.S. 381 and
F.S. 384. Socio-demographic and risk data on persons tested for
HIV in CHD clinics should be reported on Lab Request DH Form
1628 in accordance with the Forms lnstruction Guide.
Requirements for the HIV/AIDS Patient Care programs are found in

the Patient Care Contract Administrative Guidelines.

Requirements as specified in the Florida School Health
Administrative Guidelines (May 2012). Requirements as specifled
in F.S. 38'1.0056, F.S. 381.00s7, F.S. 402.3026 and F.A.C. &F-6.

Tuberculosis Program Requirements as specified in F.A.C. 64D-3
and F.s. 392.

Carry out surveillance for reportable communicable and other acute
diseases, detect outbreaks, respond to individual cases of
reportable diseases, investigate outbreaks, and carry out
mmmunication and quality assurance functions, as specifted in

F.A.C. 64D-3, F.S. 381, F.S. 384 and the CHD Epidemiology Guide
to Surveillance and lnvestigations.

Programmatic and financial requirements as specified by the
program office.

General Communicable Disease
Control

Attachmenl_l - Page 2 of 11



ATTACHMENT II

BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

PART I. PLANNEO USE OF COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TRUST FUND BALANCES

Estimated State
Share of CHD Trust

Fund Balance

Eslimated County
Share of CHD Trust

Fund Balance Total

1. CHD Trust Fund Ending Balance 09/30/24

2 Drawdown for Contract Year
October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025

3. Special Capital Project use for Contract Year
October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025

0

0

805380

-393218

805380

-3932'18

000

04 Balance Reserved for Contingency Fund
October '1, 2024 to September 30, 2025

412162

Special Capital Projects are new constructaon or renovation projects and new furniture or equipment associated with these projects, and mobile health vans

412162

Allachmenl_ll_Part_l - Page 3 of 11



r. GENEEAL REVENI.IE . STATE

OT5O4O CHD - TB COMMTTNITY PROGR.q.M

OT5O4O DENTAL SPECIAL INITIATIIE PROJECTS

OI5O4O FAMILY PI-ANNING GENERAL REVENUE

OT5O4O PRIMARY CARE PROGRAM

OT5O4O [{CLA.L & ETHNIC DISPARITIES . CHD EXPENSES

OT5O4O SCHOOL HEAITH SERVICES

OT5O5O CHD GENERAL REVENIIE NON.C.ATEGORICAL

GENEEAL BEVENI'E TOTAL

3,000

6,303

36,470

ll5,8l3
52,000

12,87

$9. r88

923,96r

3,000

6,303

36,4?0

1r5,813

52,000

72,r87

639,188

923,961

3,000

6,303

35.470

ll5,8l3
52,0,0O

72,147

m9, r8a

923,961

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

2. NON GENERAL REVENUE . STATE

OI50IO TOB-{CCO ST.{TE & Co\1}IT'\ITY HE-{I,TH1'B-{BY

NON GENERAL REVENUE TOTAI

15,000

15,000

15,000

15.000

0

0

0

0

15,000

15,000

t0

lil8

t{{l

3. TEDEBAL FUNDS . STATE

OOTOOO COMPREHENSIVE COMMUNITY CARDIO . PHBG

(mTOOO FAMILY PI-ANMNC TITI,E X . GRANT

0o7(xn PLIBLIC HLTH INFRASTRLTCTLTRE & WORXIORCE/CENTRAL I

OOTOOO TMMUNIZATION ACTTON PI.A"N

OOTOOO MCH SPECIAL PROJCT DENNAL

OOT(X)O MCH SPEC PRJ SOCIAI DE'IERMINA.NTS HLTH COMM EDt]

0()TOOO BASE COMMUMTY PREPAREDNESS CAPABILITY

OT5O75 SCHOOL HEAL?H SER!'ICES

TEDEn.AI FT'NDS TO,TAL

59,592

&,723

155,237

4,930

7.8r3

r0,591

&,772

175,625

56r,28i]

59,592

60.723

155,237

4,930

7,8r3

lo.59l

ffi,172

175.625

561,243

59.592

@.723

155.237

4,930

7,813

10.591

,772

113,625

561,289

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4, FEES ASSESSED BY STATE OR FEDERAL RULES . STATE

FEES ASSESSED BY STATE OR FEDERAL RIJI-ES TOTAL 0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6. OIEER CASE CONTRIBI'TIONS . SIAI'E:

O31OO5 GENENAL CLTMC RABTES SERVICES & DRI]G PLiRCITASES

O31OO5 PEDERALLY QUALIFIED HEALTH CENTER FEES

O9OOOT DRAW DOWN- FROM PLTBLIC HLALTH TINIT

OTEEB CASII CONTRIB1MON TOTAI

11,257

250

0

1t,507

11,251

250

0

I1,507

t1,257

250

0

11,507

l)

0

o

o

o

0

0

o

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6. MEDICAJD . STATF,/COIJNTY:

OOTOS? FEDERALLY QUALIFIED HEALTH CENTER FEES

OOTI48 FEDERALLY QLTALIFIED HEALTH CENTER FEES

OOTUg FEDERALLY QLTALIFIED HEALTH CENTER FEES

MEDICAID TOTAL

26, r60

222,6t0

182,r75

429,935

25,150

222,6\0

t82,175

429,935

25,r50

222,6r0

r82,175

429,935

7. ALITOCABLE REVENUE ' STATE:

00,1010 FEDERA]-LY QUALIFIED HEALTH CEN-TER FFjES

OTsOOO FEDERAILY QTTALIFIED HEALTH CENTER FFJES

AIJ,OCA3I.E REVENI'E TOTAL

Atachment_ll_Parl_ll- Page 4 ol11

8, OTHER STATE CONIRIBIIIIONS NOT IN CHD TRUST FUND . STATE

l0

Iriu

It8

l0

138

148

ATTACHMENT U

BRADTORD COI'NTY HEALTH DEPArI1IENT

Prtt II, lburcos of Costributbu to CoErty H.8lth D,6prtholt
tuoh€r l, 202,1to goptoobsr 80, ,)26

St t CHI)
TYust Fuld

(caoh)

County
CHD

Tr[6t Fu[d

Tot l CHD
Ttust Fuld

(caeh)
Other

Contributioa Total



ADAP

PIIARMACY DRUG PROGRAM

WIC PROGR.AM

BUREAU OF PLIBLIC HEALTH I-ABORATORIES

IMMUNTZA-TIONS

OTEEB SIATE CONTRIBIIIIONS TOTAL

43,963

3,738

697,896

3,191

229,149

977,937

43,963

3,738

697,896

3,191

2n.149

977,937

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

9. DINECT LOCAL CONTTIBI.IIIONS . BCCAAX DISTRICT

OO8OO5 CHD TI]CAI RE\TNLTE & EXPENDITT'RES

DIRECT COIJNIY CONTRIBIIIONS MTAL

82.500

E!.500

89.500

81.500

82,500

82,500

0

0

0

0

rO. F'ES AIJTEORIZED BY COI'NTY ORDINANCE OR RF,SOLIIUON . COUNT!'

MTO25 FEDERALLY QLTALFIED HEALTII CENTER FEES

OO1O77 CHD CLTNIC FEES

OOTOT? FEDERALLY QLTALIFTED HEALTH CENTER FEES

ooIO77 CHD SAI-E OF SER!'ICES IN OR OL1TSIDE OF ST-{TE GO\"T

OOTTTO !'ITAI STATTSTICS CERTTF1ED RECORDS

FEES AIITEONIZED BY COI'NTY TOTAL

165

266.883

50,967

1,376

38,000

367,390

166

266,883

50,967

1,376

38,000

357,390

165

266,843

50,s67

1,375

38,U)O

357,390

11. OIEEB CASE AND IDCAL CONTRIBfITIONS . COI'NTY

0Or029 FEDERALLY QTIALIFIED HEALTH CEi*TER FEES

MTOgO FEDERALLY QLTATFTED HEALTH CENTER FEES

OOTOTO FEDE&AL QTIALIT'IED HEALTH CENTER INDIRECT EARNING

MTOTO HEALTH CENTER CLT'STER GRANT . DIRECT TO CHD

OllOOT CIID HEATTHY STAXT CO.ALTTION CONTRACT

O9OOO2 DRAW DOWN FROM PLTBLIC HEALTH L'NIT

CYIEEI CAAE AND I'CAL CONIRIBIIIIONS TOTAL

l0?.410

46,363

145,87

519,922

130,409

393,218

r.402,6r9

r0?,1r0

46,363

t45,297

515,922

r30,409

393,218

r,402,619

107,.110

46,363

145,27

579,922

r30,409

393,218

t,.102,6r9

12. AIIOCABIJ REVENUE . COUNI'Y

OO.IOIO FEDE&{LLY QL'ALIFIED HE-AI,TH CENTER FFJES

OI8OOO FEDER{I,I,Y QT'AI,IFIED HEALTH CE.\TER F'EDS

COUNTY AIIOCABI,E REVENUE TOTAL

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

l0

138

1.la

l0

l:18

118

72,U$

0

0

0

600

6,400

0

0

?8,000

l0

138

148

?2.000

0

o

0

600

6,4o()

0

0

78,m0

13. BI,IU)INOS . COUNTY

ANNUAL RENTAL EQUIVALENT VALLIE

OTHER 6pecify)

IJTILITIES

BUILDING MAINTENANCE

GROIINDS MAINTENANCE

INSURANCE

OTHER (Specify)

OTHER (Speci{y)

BI'IIDINOS MTAL

14. OTEER COIJNTY CONIRIBI,ITIONS NOT IN CIID TRUST FIJND . COUN'TY

EQUIPMENT / !'EHICLE PURCHASES

VEHICLE INSLIRANCE

!'EHICI-E Itr{INTENANCE

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

t)

o

o

l)

o

o

o

o

l)

o

0

0

0

{)

l)

r)

0

6,000

0

0

6,000

0

Atachme _ll_Part_ll- Page 5 ot 11

ATTACHMENTU

BRADFORD COI'}flY HEALTH DEPAflruENT

Plrt tr, goulco6 of Coltributioa! to Cousty Hodth DoDrdoont

Octobsr 1, Zl2,l to SopteEbot m, m

Stat CHD
Tru6t Furd

(caeh)



OTHER COUNTY CONTRIBLTTION (SPECIF\4

OTHER COUNTY CONTRIBUTION (SPECIF1,)

OTEER COI'NTY CONTRIBUIIONS TOTAL

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6,000

0

0

6,000

GNAND TOTA.L CIID PROGRAM 3,78,r..191l.5l t,n99 1,061,937 .t,8,16,.128

Anachm.nt_tt-Pari-tl - Pag.6 ol 1t

ATTACHI/fiNTU

BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Part II, Sourcee of Corkibutions to Couaty Health DepartDelt

October 1, 2024 to SbpteEber 30, 2026

St te CHD
Tlust truld

(carl)

Cou!ty
CIID

Tt'u6t Funil

Total CHD
lluat Fund

(cagh)
Other

TotalCoalributio!



A @XUI'NIC.ABI,E DI*ASI @ITTBOI,

TMMTJMZATION (IOT)

SEXTIAIIY TRANS. DIS. (TO2)

IIIV/AIDS PRE}'ENTION (O3AT)

HIV/AIDS SIJR}EILL{NCE (03A2)

IIIV/{DS PATTENT CARD (03A3)

ADAP (03A4)

Tt BERCUU)SIS (104)

coMM. Drs. strBv. (106)

IIEPAIITIS (TO9)

PREPAREDNESS AND RSSPONSE ( I 16)

REFUGEE HEALTIi (T18)

VITAL RECORDS (T8O)

COMMI NICTIBI.E DISEISE SIrBrOTtL

B. PRIMAET CAAE:

CIMOMC DISEASE PREIENTION PRO EIO)

wIC (2rwr)

TOBACCO USE INIERI,ENAION (2T2)

WIC BR'ASIIEEDING PEER COUNSELING (2IW2)

FAMILY PL{NNINO (223)

IMPROVED PNEGNANCY OUTCOME (295)

HEAI,'TEY STARI PRENAAAL (22?)

COMPREHENSIVE CHILD HEALTH (229)

HEALTI{Y START CHII,D (23I)

SCHOOL HEALTH 834)

COMPRIHENSN'E ADULT HEIiI]TH (23?)

CoMMUNITY TIEALTH DEIDI'PMENT (23{I)

DENTAL I{EALTH (210)

PnIlIAf,Y CINE gUBftnlL

C. EI{VIXONME}+TILEEILIE:

Wd.r rla O!.iL s.r.ar Pr{rr.o.

COSTAI, BEACII MOMTORING (3.17)

LtI\itIIED USE PT BLIC WATEB SYSTEMS (357)

PIJ'BUC WATER SYSTEM (358)

PRTVATE WATER SYSTEM (359)

ONSITE SEWAGE TREATMENI & DISPOSAL (36I)

Otonp Tot l

F.dlity holtrE
TATT00 FACIUfi SER!'ICES (34{)

FOOD }iYGIENE (348)

BODY PIERCING |ACITJTIES SER!'ICES (349)

0.65

o.12

0.m

0.oo

0.@

0.04

o_22

om

o.0a

o82

0.m

0.46

2.9

r8.120

0

4.941

0

62,734

13,039

14.528

209 616

12.924

94.991

391.314

7r,3/13

35.8r2

983,375

22.t97

r6.5{a

0

0

0

977

5,272

54

2.194

,7U

o

8,5E7

at,627

r5,533

0

4,240

0

53.779

Lt.t77

r2.453

t79.642

1r.0?8

84.85?

335.!33

61,t55

30.694

800,085

19.027

14,185

0

0

0

E3?

4.519

/16

I,Ea.l

22,tto

o

?,361

69,969

u,tgt

r6,544

o

0

0

971

6.272

51

ar98

26,7

o

8,5a?

8r,627

15,769

0

4,310

0

54.668

lt,36t

12.654

1E2.663

rr,262

E6,259

3.10.976

62.165

31.207

Et3.30a

61.5$2

0

taA44

0

190,643

0

0

0

o

369, r04

402,844

264.631

14.u6

t.41.28

82.763

61.7m

o

0

0

3.6,11

r9.664

N
&196

96,r?3

0

32,019

304,348

0.6?

0.@

o.23

0.m

2.1I

0.34

0.60

7.09

0.m

.I.34

r2.06

2.U

r_?0

32-66

o

0

0

0

622

94

1rI4

1,3,13

93

0

t.lim

0

l3:l.:150

r36,8?6

0

0

0

0

986

350

924

1,t77

530

7r.323

3,042

0

222,530

303,902

18.120

0

4,947

0

62.734

13.039

r4,624

209.616

12,924

94.991

39r,314

7r,3,l:l

35.812

933.375

67,62

0

18,444

0

238,9r'23

1a,6r6

64.167

?81,567

48. r88

36S, r04

1,459,037

z$,q)6

r33.5?9

3.480, r{3

2,t19

r97

0

o

0

4

7a

0

lt
0

0

1,571

7,013

2.663

254

0

0

0

4

86

0

t1

0

o

11.290

14,30a

t9.312

14,419

0

0

0

850

4.593

1$

r,9r6

22,175

0

1,81

71,t26

56,7{5

0

0

0

0

3.6{l

rg6!6

zfi
4,196

96.r73

0

0

184,611

26.0r8

6r,?m

o

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

32,019

1t9,737

0

0

0

0

13,380

4a.616

64.187

781,667

{4. r88

0

t,056,149

1,376

119,.113

2,152,866

o@

om

o.@

0.m

om

0.m

(l

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.@

0.00

0.00

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Atachment-rr-P.rt_rrr - Pa96 7 ol11

AITACEUENT tr
BRADFOBD COI'NTY EEALTE DEPAATITENT

Pett m, Phllred StdADg. Chatr, S6!vic66 eld ExFDditur66 By PtogtiD S€rrico Ar€a Withir Each Iayll of S.lsica

fuob.! r, m24 to S€ptlEbor s0. m26

Quatu y k!€adihJro Plrn

FIl. Cli.at S6!vi..d Irr 2trd 8rd {th
(0.m) Unit! Viditr $tol€ d,olbr6 onl, St t6 County

Glad
Totd



OROI]P CARE FACILITY (A5I)

MIGRANT IABOR CAMP (S52)

HOUSING & PUB, BLDG. (353)

MOBTI,E I{OME AND PARI( (3'4

POOTStsATHING P["{CES (360)

BIOI\,IEDICALWASTE SERVICES (364)

TANNING FACTUTY SERVICES (369)

Orq Tohf

Grourdr.t t Colt Eilrtb!
STORAGE TANK COMPUANCE SERVICES (355)

STJPER ACT SERVICES (356)

Gtoq xot r

CoEi[nit' E ti.D
COMMUNIfi ENVIR, HEALTH (346)

TN,N'RY PRE!'ENTION (346)

LEAD MONITORINC SER\']CES (360)

PIIBLIC SEWAGE (362)

SOLTD WA.STE DISPOSAL SER!'IOE (363)

SANTTARY NUISANCE (365)

MBIES SIIRVEILI.ANCE (366)

ARBORI'IRUS ST'RVEIL (367)

RODENT/ARTIIROPOD CONTBOL (368)

WATER POLLUTION (370)

INDOOR AlR (371)

RADIO1OGICAL HEI\I-]TH (372)

TOXIC SIJBSTANCES (3?3)

Ororp ToLl

ENVIIONXf,NITAL EETLTB SIJEf(NA'

D. NO}{OPEiATIONTLCOSA:

NON.OPERATIONAL COSTS (590)

ENVINONMENTAL HEAI,TH STJRCHARGE (399)

MEDICAID BI]YBACK (6tT)

}ION.OPEBATIONIL CO8T8 SI'BI]}TAL

IOIAL @NTBACT

0.m

0.00

o00

0.00

0.00

0.m

0.00

0.@

0.00

0.m

0.@

0.00

0.m

0.00

0.m

0.@

0.m

0.m

o@

om

om

o@

om

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

o

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0.00

0m

0.00

om

om

o.@

0m

36.65

0

0

0

o

3,78a.49r

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

o

0

o

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

o

0

0

0

EErl,433

o

0

0

0

1.511,t190

0 0 0 0 0 o

9:?! 59!l$ 849 al8.2lo r.0r5.002 870.054 1.015.002

At6cnm€ni_ll_Pan_rrr - P3!€ 8 ol11

ATIACSME\T tr
BRADFORD COT'NTY EEALTE DEPABII{ENT

Part m, Plarlod Sta.6Ds. Cli6rts, S€lvico6 ad Exp€Dditutts By Pro8ta6 S€rsic€ Atea Wilhir Each Level of Serrice

4th

Corlty
G!.nd
Totd



2

3

The CHD agrees to complete the Civil Rights Compliance Queslionnaire, DH Forms 946 A and B (or the
subsequent replacement if adopted during the contract period), if so requested by the Department.

The CHD assures that it will comply with the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 198'1, P.L. 97-35,
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex and religion in programs and activities receiving or
benefiting from federal financial assistance.

Assurance of Civil Rights Compliance: The CHD hereby agrees that it will comply with Title Vl of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.); Title lX of the Education Amendments ol 1972 (20
u.s.c. 1681 et seq.); section 504 0fthe Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 u.s.c. 794); the Age
Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C.610'l et seq.); Title ll and Title lll of the Americans with Dasabilities
Act (ADA) of 1990, as amended by the ADA Amendment Act of 2008 (42 U.5.C. 1213'l-12189) and as
implemented by Department of Justice regulations at 28 CFR Parts 35 and 36; Executive Order 13166,
"lmproving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proliciency" (August 11, 2000); all
provisions required by the implementing regulations of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (7 CFR Part
15 et seq.); and FNS directives and guidelines to the effect that no person shall, on the ground of race,
color, national origin, age, sex, or disability, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benelits of,
or olherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity for which the agency recrives
Federal financial assistance from FNS; and hereby gives assurance that it will immediately take
measures necessary to effectuate this agreement.

By providing this assurance, the CHD agrees to compile data, maintain records and submit records and
reporls as required to permit effective enforcement of the nondiscrimination laws, and to permit
Departmenl personnel during normal working hours lo review and copy such records, books and
accounts, access such facilities, and interview such personnel as needed to ascertain compliance with
the non-discrimination laws. lf there are any violations of this assurance, the Department of Agriculture
shall have the right to seek judicial enforcement of this assurance.

This assurance is given in consideration of and for the purpose of obtaining any and all Federal
financial assislance, grants, and loans of Federal funds, reimbursable expenditures, granl or donation
of Federal property and interest in property, the detail of Federal personnel, the sale and lease of, and
the permission to use Federal property or interest in such property or the furnishing of services without
consideration or at a nominal consideration, or at a consideration that is reduced for the purpose of

Confidentiality of Oata, Files, and Records: The CHD agrees to restrict the use and disclosure
of confidential USDA, Women, lnfant, and Children (WlC) applicant and participant information as specified
in 7 CFR S 246.26(dX1)(i) in accordance with 7 CFR S 246.26(d)( 1)(iD, as applicable.

4

Attachment_lll - Page I of 11

ATTACHMENT III

BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLIANCE AND NON-DISCRIMINATION CERTIFICATE



Aftachment lV

Fi€cal Yeat - 2024 - 2025

Bradford County Health Department

Facilities Utilized by the County Health Department

Complete Location
(Slreel Address, Cily, Zip)

Facility Description
And Offlcal Bulldlng

Namo (lt applicabls)

{Admin. Clrnic. Envn Hlth.

etc.)

Leass/
Agreement

Number

Type of
Agreement

(Privale Lease thru

State or County, oiher -

Compl6te
Legal Name

of Owner

SQ
Feet

Employee
Count

(FTE/OPS/

'1801 North Tomple Ave, Slarke,
FL 320t4 Administration, Clinic & EH County

Board of County
Commissioners 7642 31.19

Facility - a fixed site nanaged by DOH/CHD personnel for the purpose of providing or suppofting public health seNices. lncludes county-owned, state-owned, and

leased facilites. lncludes DOH/CHD warehouse and administrative sites. lncludes tacilities managed by DOH/CHD that may be shared with other organizations.

Does not include schools, jails or other facilities where DOH/CHD staff are out-posted or slles where seNices are provided on an episodic basis.
Attachment_lv - Page '10 of'11



ATTACHMENT V
BRADFORD COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT

SPECIAL PROJECTS SAVINGS PLAN

CASH RESERVEO OR ANTICIPATED TO BE RESERVEO FOR PROJECTS

STATE COUNW

0 $ 386049 $

TOTAL

386049

0$ 0$ 0

CONTRACT YEAR

2023"2024'

2024-2025*

2025-2026"',

2026"2027*'

PROJECT TOTAL

0

$

$

$

$

$

0$ 0$
0$ 0$ 0

0$ 386049 $ 386049

SPECIAL PROJECTS CONSTRUCTIOI{/REI'IOVATION PLAN

32304100

RESERVE, BRADFORD OFFICE ADDITION

PROJECT NUMBER:

PROJECT NAME:

LOCATION/ADDRESS:

PROJECT TYPE:

1801 NORTH TEMPLE AVENUE STARKE, FL 32091

NEW BUILDING

RENOVATION

NEW ADDITION

ROOFING

X PLANNING STUDY

OTHER

SQUARE FOOTAGE:

PROJECT SUMMARY:

0

START DATE (tnioetexqndrtue ot tunds) |

COMPLETION DATE:

DESIGN FEES: S

CoNSTRUCTION COSTS: $

FURNITURE/EOUIPMENT: $

IOTAL PROJECT COST: $

COST PER SQ FOOT: $

Descibe scope ol wo* in reasohable delail

386049

0

0

0

0

Spgclal Capital Projects a@ new congtructio.r or rsnovation projects and new furnituro or Equipmenl associated with these proiects and

mobile hoalth vans.

' Cash balance as ol9/30/24
" Cash to be translened to FCO account.

"' Cash anticipated for future contract years.

Atlachmenl v Paqe 11 of 11



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:      September 3, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION 
OF A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN 
BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
DEPARTMENT: County Manager  
 
PURPOSE: A proclamation of, and extension of, the Local State 

of Emergency from Hurricane Debby. This 
proclamation extended the state of emergency from 
August 3-10th to August 17th. 

 
  
  



Page 1 of 4 
 

RESOLUTION 2024 - _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
CONFIRMING A PROCLAMATION OF A LOCAL STATE OF 
EMERGENCY IN BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, on March 5, 2011, the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida adopted Ordinance 2001-05; later codified as Chapter 26 of 

the Bradford County Code of Ordinances (hereinafter referred to as the Code) invoking the 

powers provided for in Chapter 252, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Code, the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida granted authority to the Emergency 

Management Director to declare, by proclamation, a state of local emergency from time 

to time when it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declaration, and; 

WHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duration of 

each state of emergency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, 

as necessary, in seven-day increments; and 

WHEREAS, in late July 2024, a disturbance identified as Invest 97L, in the 

southwestern Atlantic and Eastern Gulf of Mexico, which developed into Hurricane 

Debby, a Category 1 Hurricane, made landfall in the northeast gulf coast of Florida and 

moved northeast across Florida causing strong winds, torrential rainfall, major, 

widespread flooding and other damaging effects throughout its path; and 



Page 2 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and the 

National Hurricane Center issued a Tropical Storm Warning for Bradford County and 

other areas within the predicted storm track; and 

WHEREAS, the devastating effects of Hurricane Idalia – specifically including, 

accumulated debris, downed trees and power lines, loss of power, and other serious 

damage, particularly damage resulting from the severe wind event – were felt by 

Bradford County and its residents; and 

WHEREAS, on August 3, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed a local state of emergency in 

Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive 

Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of emergency powers provided 

under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on August 3, 2024, and continuing through August 10, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners adopted Resolution 2024-10 

confirming the Proclamation Declaring a Local State of Emergency commencing 

August 3, 2024, through August 10, 2024, at its meeting on August 15, 2024; and  



Page 3 of 4 
 

WHEREAS, the threat of the continued effects of Hurricane Debby represents 

a severe and immediate threat to the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of 

Bradford County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, on August 9, 2024, the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declared and proclaimed an extension to the local state of 

emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford 

County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and authorize the utilization of 

emergency powers provided under Sections 252.31 through 252.62, Florida Statutes; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida 

finds that the aforementioned declaration of a state of local emergency for the period 

commencing on August 10, 2024, and continuing through August 17, 2024, was and 

remains in the best interest of Bradford County, Florida and its citizens. 

 

NOW THEREFORE be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of 

Bradford County, Florida as follows: 

Section 1.  Adoption and Incorporation of Recitals. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida adopts the 

above-outlined recitals and incorporates them herein as part and parcel of this 

resolution. 

 



Page 4 of 4 
 

Section 2.   Purpose and Authority for Resolution. 

 This resolution is adopted for the purpose of confirming the August 10, 2024, 

proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County Commissioners Chairman 

declaring and extending a local state of emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the 

purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan and 

authorizing the utilization of emergency powers provided – and is adopted pursuant to 

the authority granted by Chapters 125 and 252, Florida Statutes, Chapter 26, Bradford 

County Code of Ordinances. 

Section 3.   Confirmation of Proclamation and Declaration of Emergency. 

The Board of County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida hereby confirms the 

August 9, 2024, proclamation by the Bradford County Board of County 

Commissioner’s Chairman declaring a local state of emergency in Bradford County, 

Florida for the purpose of activating the Bradford County Comprehensive Emergency 

Management Plan and authorizing the utilization of emergency powers, attached hereto 

as “Exhibit 1” and incorporated herein by reference, and declares a local state of 

emergency in Bradford County, Florida for the period commencing on August 10, 2024, 

and continuing through August 17, 2024. 

Section 4.  Effective Date of Resolution 

 This resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption by the Board of 

County Commissioners of Bradford County, Florida. 



Page 5 of 4 
 

RESOLVED AND ADOPTED by the Board of County Commissioners of Bradford 

County, Florida, with a quorum present and voting, this 3RD day of September 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:  CAROLYN SPOONER, its 
        Chairwoman 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ 

______________________________________ 
By:   DENNY THOMPSON, as 
        Clerk to the Board 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

 

______________________________________ 
By:  ROB BRADLEY, as 
       County Attorney 
  



Page 6 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMI!'IISSIONE,RS OF BR.{DI.ORD COUN'IY, FI,ORIDA

PROCL{NL{'IION DECIr\RIN(} A LOCAI- S-IA'[E OI. EMERGIINCY

A PROCLAMATION BY THE, BRADFORD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISIONERS, DECI-ARING A LOCAL STATE OF EMERGENCY IN
BRADFORD COTJNTY,FLORIDA RELATED TO HURRICANE DEBBYAND
AS AUTHORTZED By SECTTON 252.38(3)(a)(s) , FLONDA STATUTES.

\UHEREAS, oo March 5, 2001, the Boatd of County Commissioners of Bradford County,

Florida adopted Otdinance 2001,05, later codiied as Chapter 26 of t\e Bradford ComE Code of

Ordinanas invoking the powers provided for in Chapter 252, Flodda Statutes; afld

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 26-8(a) of the Bradford CounQ Code of Ordinanns, the Chair of

the Board of County Commissioners may declare, by proclamation, a State of Local Emergency when

it is determined that conditions exist giving rise to such a declatation: and

\UHEREAS, according to Section 252.38(3)(a)(5), Florida Statutes, the duation of each state

of emetgency declared locally is limited to seven days and may be extended, as necessary; and

T0THEREAS, on August 5'h, 2024, Hurdcane Debby (t/k/t Invest 97L, Potential Tropical

Cyclone Four, Tropical Depression Fout, and Ttopical Storm Debby) made landfall in the big bend

region of Florida, bringing ovet 5 inches of rainfall to Bradford County; and

\7HEREAS, Hurricane Debby produced conditions of flash flooding, inundated waterways,

and raised watet levels of sueams, dven, and lakes; and

WHEREAS, given the condition of Bradford County and the forecasted potential for minfall,

floodiag coaditions which impact structures and roadways may be imminent; and

WHEREAS, a review of all relevant factors, including the inforrnation outlined hetein,

indicates that cutent conditions pose a severe threat to Bradford County, Florida; and

Pa,ge 1 of 2



WHEREAS, the threat of the continued effects of Hurricane Debby requires that timely

precautions be takefl to ptotect the community, critical inftastructure and general welfare of Btadford

County, Florida; and

!7HEREAS, the continued threat of the impacts of Hurricane Debby represents a severe and

immediate tlieat to the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Btadford County, Florida; and

WHEREAS, said severe and immediate threat to the health, safery and welfare of the citizens

of Bmdfotd County represents a true and active emergency; and

STHEREAS, the declaration of a local state of emetgency undet these conditions is determined

to be in the best intetest of Bradford County and its citizens.

NO'07 THEREFORE, pursuant to the authority gmnted by Chaptet 26, Bradford Coml Code,

a;rtd Chtpter 252, Florida S tauns, for the aforementioned and above-oudined reasons, the undersigned,

Conntsiomr Cam$n Spooner, Cbair of the Board of CouS Connissioners, heteby (7) declares and ptoclaims

a local state of emetgency in Btadford County, Florida, for the period commencing on August 106,

2024 ard continuing thtough August 176, 2024; afld (2) activates the Bradford ComE Conpnbentiue

Emeryenry Management Plan artd authorizes the utilization of the emergency powets provided under

Sections 252.31 t\totgh 252.62, Florida Stanus.

PROCI-AIMED this 9th Day of August, 2024

By, r S as lts
Chair of the

Page 2 of 2

of Coun Commissioncrs



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET (AIIS) 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM____ Satisfaction of Mortgage on SHIP-Purchase – Mitola M & A  
 
DEPARTMENT:    Community Development/SHIP 
 
PURPOSE:  SHIP Applicant for  Purchase Assistance loan has been paid 

off..   Therefore, please consider approval of this Satisfaction 
of Mortgage to satisfy this mortgage. 

 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): -0- 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): N/A 
  



This instrument prepared by: 
Bradford County Community Development 
P. O. Drawer B / 925 N. Temple Ave. 
Starke, FL.  32091 
 

Satisfaction of Mortgage 
 
Know all men by these presents:  That We, Bradford County Board of County Commissioners, a 
body politic of the State of Florida, 
 
The owner and holder of a certain mortgage deed executed by Mark A., and April A. Mitola, to 
Bradford County Board of County Commissioners, a body politic of the State of Florida. 
 
Bearing the date 17th day of January 2012, recorded in Official Records BOOK 1427, Page 336, 
in the Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Bradford County, State of Florida, securing that 
certain note in the principal sum $10,000.00 and certain promises and obligations set forth in said 
mortgage deed, upon the property situate in said State and County described as follows, to whit: 
 
Land as described in mortgage recorded in Official Records Book 1427, Page 336 in the Records 
of Bradford County. 
 
Hereby acknowledge full payment and satisfaction of said note and mortgage deed, and 
surrender the same as cancelled, and hereby direct the Clerk of the Circuit Court to cancel the 
same of record. 
 
Witness our hand and seals, this 3rd day of September, A. D. 2024. 
 
Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of: 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Witness Signature (as to Grantor)    Grantor, Carolyn Spooner, Chairperson 
       Bradford County Board of County Commissioners 
       P. O. Drawer B, Starke, FL  32091 
_________________________ 
Witness Printed Name 
 
_________________________ 
Witness Signature (as to Grantor) 
 
_________________________ 
Witness Printed Name 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA, COUNTY OF BRADFORD, I hereby certify that on this day, before me, an 
officer of duly authorized to administer oaths and take acknowledgments, personally appeared 
Carolyn Spooner, known to me to be the person described in and who executed the foregoing 
instrument, who acknowledged before me that he executed the same, and is personally known to 
me. 
 
Witness my hand and official seal in the County and State last aforesaid this 3rd day of 
September, 2024. 
 
__________________ 
Notary Signature     Notary Seal 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:    September 3, 2024  
 
AGENDA ITEM: SHIP Rehabilitation Loan Approval File # 2021-1-S and 2021-2-S  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Development/SHIP 
 
PURPOSE/DESCRIPTION:    The SHIP Home Repair Loan program allows income 

qualified applicants to apply for funds in an amount not to 
exceed $35,000.00. 

 
 Upon BOCC approval of SHIP Home Repair Loans  

application – File 2020-6-S, the next steps in executing these 
projects include: 1) Title Search, 2) Initial inspection 3) A bid 
advertisement for home repairs; 4) Award of bid to a 
contractor; and 5) Enter into an agreement with a contractor 
to perform home repairs. All steps will come before the BOCC 
for approval.  

 
 
                                                  
ASSOCIATED COST(S):  File 2021-1  $35,000  
     File 2021-2  $35,000 
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):  102-52-554-65980-00 
 
  



BRADFORD COUNTY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
S.H.I.P. PROGRAM 

925-E NORTH TEMPLE AVENUE 
STARKE, FL  32091 

 
Based on the 2024 income limits for the Bradford County Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(MSA), the family or individual(s) named below is/are eligible to receive S.H.I.P. 
Program funds under the provisions of Chapter 420, Part V, Florida Statutes.   
 
 

Home Repair Loans 
Five Year Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount not to Exceed $35,000 

 
Maria Marks Hankerson  2021-1-S   Eloise Butler 2021-2-S 
1297 Estelle Street       707 North Street  
Starke, FL 32091      Starke, FL 32091  
Loan amount =$35,000     Loan Amount =$35,000 
 
      

 
 
 

 
Purchase Assistance Loans 

Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount Not to exceed $30,000 
 

None at this time 
    
 
 
 
 
 

Demo/Replacement Loans 
Deferred Payment Loan in an amount not to exceed $84,500 

 
 

None at this time 
 
 
 
 
 
Loans Approved at County Commission meeting. 
Date:  September 3, 2024  
 
 
Carolyn Spooner, Chairwomen 



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024     
    
AGENDA ITEM Proposal from Meridian Behavioral Healthcare, Inc for use of 

Opioid Abatement Funds remaining from the 23-24 State 
Fiscal Year to fund a Medication Assisted Treatment 
Program. 

 
DEPARTMENT:    None 
 
PURPOSE:  
 
Meridian is in need of additional funds to increase access to person-centered and 
culturally/linguistically appropriate screening, early identification, intervention, and treatment for 
substance use disorders to clients in various settings to include the jail or court system, and in their 
Starke Clinic. Opioid Involved Overdose Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalizations 
increased by 16% in Bradford County from 2020-2023 with a rate of 19 visits/hospitalizations in 
2020 to 22 visits/hospitalizations in 2023, spiking to 41 in 2022. Meridian will partner with jail or 
court staff, medical/EMS staff (specifically the Community Paramedicine Program) and other 
community members in Bradford County to provide Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) and 
other services to individuals affected by Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) or substance use. We will 
provide outreach in the Bradford County Jail and have staff on site at our Bradford location for 
assessment, treatment planning, medication and on-going treatment. Processes and procedures have 
been established to immediately begin services in these areas as soon as additional funding is 
available.   
 
In order to provide these expanded services, we are requesting $87,000 from Bradford County. At 
our service level and growth rate, we are confident that we can provide the services and earn all of 
these funds. 
*Excerpt from Attached Document Exhibit G Page 3* 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): $87,000 
 
  



 

Submission of Information 
Request for Changes from Currently Contracted Network Service 
Providers or Request for Funding from Uncontracted Service 
Providers



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 1 of 7 

Introduction 
 
LSF Health Systems (LSFHS) is the Managing Entity for the Florida Department of Children and Families (DCF) Substance Abuse and Mental Health 
(SAMH) programs in the Northeast and North Central Florida Region. LSFHS is responsible for the administration of mental health and substance 
abuse treatment programs for the underserved populations creating a safety net for vulnerable consumers. 
 
Each program serves the neediest individuals that meet DCF’s SAMH target population criteria in the Northeast and North Central region and provides 
for a comprehensive array of outpatient, inpatient and residential services including, but not limited to; therapy, case management, medication 
management, residential, room and board, crisis and emergency support, prevention, intervention, outreach, peer services, supported housing, and 
supported employment.  
 
LSFHS uses the Submission of Information process for the following: 

 Requests for funding from uncontracted service providers; 
 Requests for restoration of funds pulled due to lapse; 
 Requests for changes to programming; 
 Request for shifts between funding areas; 
 Requests for an increase in funding for any reason. 

 
It is the policy for contracted Network Service Providers to provide information and justification for any of the above circumstances.  LSFHS accepts 
submissions from providers at any time and may also initiate this process due to a specific funding concern within the system of care including the 
need to redistribute lapsed funding. 
 
Submissions shall be submitted to the Network Service Provider’s assigned Network Manager via email.  LSFHS Management Team will review all 
submissions, conduct an analysis of the impact of the request, and provide a written response, if chosen for the next step in the selection process.  
Additional information and follow-up questions may be solicited based on this review. 
 
  



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 2 of 7 

Funding Request Form 
 
Please fill out the information below accurately and completely, then submit to procurement@lsfnet.org.  
 

1. Organization Name, Address and Contract Number (if current Network Service Provider): 
 
 
 
 

 
2. Organization Contact Person Name, Email, and Phone Number for this Submission: 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3. Briefly describe the programs, counties and populations served which are impacted by this request. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 3 of 7 

4. Briefly describe your organization’s need for additional funding, for a change in programming and/or for a change in funding as currently 
allocated. Please include the dollar amount(s) you are requesting and whether or not the amount requested is for a full year or partial.   If 
the need for additional funding is due to funding being lapsed in the previous Fiscal Year, please provide an explanation for the lapse and 
describe your organization’s capacity to spend funds if restored. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5. Briefly describe your organization’s plan for the additional funding, change in funding or change in programming.  In the event that a 

service is being discontinued, this plan should outline how the previously served population will be served after the change is made. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 4 of 7 

6. If a license is required for the proposed program, have you obtained it (DCF Substance Abuse license for Outpatient services, AHCA license, 
etc.)? If not, but you have submitted your application, please describe what stage in the process you are in? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7. Briefly describe your organization’s expertise about the delivery of service to the identified population which will be impacted by this 

change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 5 of 7 

8. Are the changes outlined above to be made for this fiscal year only or to be continued beyond year-end into subsequent fiscal years, 
assuming an ongoing contractual relationship between the agency and LSF Health Systems?  Please explain this response.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9. Define and describe the Program Goals. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10. Define and describe the Proposed Outcome Measures for the program in which funding is being requested. 

 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 6 of 7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
11. Outside organizations only: Describe your organization’s data collection capacity and list the name of the data collection system. If you 

utilize an Electronic Health Record (EHR) system, confirm its capacity to export data as an XML file. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12. Outside organizations only: Describe your organization’s business administration capacity specifically related to human resources and 

financial management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



EXHIBIT G 

Revised 11/01/2023    EXHIBIT G, Page 7 of 7 

13. Outside organizations only: Level 2 Background Screening, through the DCF Clearinghouse, is a requirement for staff members from each 
agency who enters into a contract with LSFHS. Does your organization currently conduct Level 2 Background Screenings for staff members 
using this method? If not, are you willing to conduct the required screenings for compliance with the contract? 

 
 
 
 
 
 

14. Please provide, as an attachment, the Exhibit C and D - Projected Operating and Capital Budget, using the most recent template, outlining 
the requested funding including OCAs and associated covered services. Statistics or data regarding utilization to substantiate the request 
may also be supplied. 

 

_________________________________________________       __________________________ 
Signature of Organization’s CEO          Date 
 
 
_________________________________________________       __________________________ 
Signature of  Organization’s Contract Manager         Date 



EXHIBIT C

AGENCY Date

CONTRACT # Fiscal Year

PART I:  PROJECTED FUNDING SOURCES & REVENUES

FUNDING SOURCES & REVENUES DCF/LSFHS
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Total Revenue

IA. STATE SAMH FUNDING
     (1) Management, Oversight and Administration 87,000.00$              $87,000
     (2) Services Revenue $ $0
IB. OTHER GOVT. FUNDING
     (1) Other State Agency Funding $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0
     (2) Medicaid $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0
     (3) Local Government $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0
     (4) Federal Grants and Contracts $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0
     (5) In-kind from local govt. only $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0

TOTAL  GOVERNMENT FUNDING = $87,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $87,000
 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========

IC. ALL OTHER REVENUES
     (1) 1st & 2nd Party Payments -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0
     (2) 3rd Party Payments (except Medicare) -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0
     (3) Medicare -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0
     (4) Contributions and Donations -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0
     (5) Other Grants and Contracts -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0
     (6) In-kind -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $0

TOTAL ALL OTHER REVENUES = $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
TOTAL PROJECTED FUNDING = $87,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $87,000

`

SAMH PROJECTED OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET
                          Meridian Behavioral Health, Inc. 8/20/2024

FYE 24-25                          ME021

Updated 07/01/2018 EXHIBIT C, Page 1 of 2



EXHIBIT C

EXPENSE CATEGORIES DCF
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Other Funding 

Source
Total Expenses

IIA. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
     (1) Salaries 49,875.00$              -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $49,875

     (2) Fringe Benefits 9,975.00$                -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  $9,975

TOTAL PERSONNEL EXPENSES = $59,850 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $59,850
 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========

IIB. OTHER EXPENSES
     (1) Building Occupancy $0 $0

     (2) Professional Services $1,000 $1,000

     (3) Travel $0 $0

     (4) Equipment $0 $0

     (5) Food Services $0 $0

     (6) Medical and Pharmacy $15,000 $15,000

     (7) Subcontracted Services $0 $0

     (8) Insurance $813 $813

     (9) Interest Paid $0 $0

     (10) Operating Supplies & Expenses $2,160 $2,160

     (11) Donated Items $0 $0

     (12) Other Expense $0 $0

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES = $18,973 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $18,973
 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========

TOTAL PERSONNEL & OTHER EXPENSES = $78,823 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $78,823
 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========

IIC. DISTRIBUTED INDIRECT COSTS
     (a) Other Support Costs (Optional) $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0

     (b) Administration $7,882 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $7,882
TOTAL DISTRIBUTED INDIRECT COSTS = $7,882 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $7,882

 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========
TOTAL ALLOWABLE OPERATING EXPENSES = $86,705 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $86,705

 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========
IID. UNALLOWABLE COSTS $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0

 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========
IIE. CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $0

 ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========

TOTAL PROJECTED OPERATING EXPENSES = $86,705 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $86,705

IIG. BUDGET NARRATIVE (attach separate set of workpapers)

PART III:  CERTIFICATION
I certify the above to be an accurate projection and in agreement with this agency's records and with the terms of this agency's contract.

Ashley Tozier, LMHC SVP, Medical Services 8/20/2024
Signature Title Date

Updated 07/01/2018 EXHIBIT C, Page 2 of 2



Page 1 of 1 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 

DATE:  

AGENDA ITEM 

DEPARTMENT: 

PURPOSE: 

ASSOCIATED COST(S): 

September 3, 2024 

Consider Approval of the Purchase of a 2024 Ram 1500 
Tradesman 4X4 Crew Cab from Murray Chrysler Dodge Jeep 
Ram for $47,095.48 for the UF/IFAS Ag Extension Office. 

Agriculture Extension 

Vehicle Purchase 

Quotes Obtained per Purchasing Policy – Quotes Attached. 
Staff Recommendation – Murray - $47,095.48 BCSO Pricing 

BUDGET LINE (G/L #): 



 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 
 

QUOTE DOCUMENTATION FORM 
 
 
Date: August 26, 2024  
 
Department:        Ag Extension Office  
 
Contact Person:  Dr. Cindy Sanders  
 
Item or Project:  Truck Purchase  
 
Justification:  The Agriculture Extension office needs a new vehicle. There are not 

currently any used vehicles from another department available to transfer.  
 
G/L Number:   
  

RECOMMENDED QUOTE 1 
 
Vendor:  Murray Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram – Staff Recommendation  
 
Quote Price: $ 47,095.48   Notes: 2024 Ram 1500 Tradesman 4X4 Crew Cab 
On BCSO Contract _____________________________________________________________  
 

QUOTE 2 
 
Vendor:   Duval Ford  
 
Quote Price: $46,712.47   Notes: 2024 Ford Ranger Crew Cab 4X4 XLT   
   

QUOTE 3 
 
Vendor:                                               
 
Quote Price: $     Notes:        









Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:       Sept. 3, 2024 Board Meeting Item    
  
    
AGENDA ITEM :  UF/IFAS Ag Extension Yearly Presentation  
 
DEPARTMENT:     Ag Extension    
 
PURPOSE:  To update the Commissioners and citizens on the impacts 

and programs at the Bradford County Extension Office 
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S):   N/A  
 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #):   N/A  
  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024  
    
AGENDA ITEM Code Enforcement – Shed/RV Issue 
 
DEPARTMENT:    BCSO 
 
  
  



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024   
    
AGENDA ITEM Community Planning Technical Assistance Grant Award 
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: In May 2024, Bradford County, with the assistance of Amber 

Shepherd with NEFEDC, applied for a CTPA grant with 
Florida Commerce. The grant was awarded to Bradford 
County for $75,000. 

 
  





COMMITTEE ON ENERCY & COMMERCE
SulcoMillrrEE oN C,or{MUMc^ncNr 

^xD 
TrcHJ.procy

SulcoMi,mE oN INNov^ncN. D^TA AND Co^,o{!rcE
SurcoMMrrrEE oN OvF lcltr 

^ND 
lNw.snc^noNs

COMMTTTEE ON AORICULTURE
sulcoMMIrrIE o+{ CoM[rv^TroJ, R,lErrcH 

^]sBIoTEcHNolocY

@onqregg of tUe @nite! btates
Iboust of l&epregentatibeg

@jadbangton, 7D@ 20515-0903

IGT CA]\4^/L]AC K
3Ro DBrscr. FLoETD^

WAsHr.rcIoN OfrIcE
2421 RAyrurN Housr OmcE BuLDorc

WrJlrNcro6( DC 20515
PHcr,!.: l2O2\ 2215744

G^NaiuuE O*rcE
5550 l.{w lllrH Bourv^[D

Sum A
C^NEsv[rE FL 32553
PHoNE:052) 50t0838

F^)c (855) 2991664

Oc^L{ OrrIcE
3301 Sw l4rH Ctr6u

Sum 402
Cx,r-L FL 141'74

PAoNt: OrD 421-9052
F^r (8t5) 299-l5g

SErcr SurcoM rrEE oN THE wE^pofg? noN
of ntE FEDrrrI Co\ENME {r

August 16, 2024

Carolyn Spooner, Chair
Bradford County Board of County Commissioners
945 N. Temple Avenue
Starke. FL 32091

Dear Ms. Spooner,

It is my honor to congratulate you as Bradford County has been selected to receive funding under
the Community Planning Technical Assistance (CPTA) program through Florida Commerce. The
grant was awarded by the Executive Office ofthe Govemor in the amount of$75,000.

Once again, congratulations on this outstanding achievement. It was a pleasure to work alongside
you and your team to support projects in Florida's Third Congressional District.

It is an honor to serve as your representative in Congress. I look forward to working with you and
the Bradford County team again soon.

For the Republic,

Kat Cammack
Member of Congress
Proudly Serving Florida's Third Congressional District

Cc: Scott Kornegay, County Manager

PFINTED ON RICYCLEO PAP€F



Page 1 of 1 
 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION SHEET 
 
 
 
DATE:     September 3, 2024    
    
AGENDA ITEM Aquatic Plant Removal – Sampson Lake  
 
DEPARTMENT:    County Manager 
 
PURPOSE: Quote for Aquatic Plant Removal at the Lake Sampson canal.  
 
ASSOCIATED COST(S): $8,000 (Bradford Soil and Water Conservation District has 

pledged $2,000 toward the project along with assistance 
toward any permitting needed. Cost to Bradford County: 
$6,000) 

 
BUDGET LINE (G/L #): 001-01-511-31000-00 – Professional Services  
  



                                                                                

CJ Catterton                                        

Sign:________________________          

Date:________________________          

Description Unit Price Cost

Cut and shred vegetation blocking 
canal 

1 $	 8,000.00 $	 8,000.00

Subtotal $	 8,000.00

$	 0.00

Total $	 8,000.00

Bradford County Florida Aquatic 
Vegetation Removal Quote

This quote will cover mobilization, demobilization, and the shredding of work site visited today (8/29/24) to restore optimal flow from lake into canal that leads to 

water control pipes.  If DEP, Army Corp, or FWC permits are required we can assist if needed but feel it likely easier and faster for county to get them themselves. 

The Army Corp or DEP permit isn’t likely needed unless the substrate will be disturbed and that isn’t necessary to clear vegetation for desired results. We do feel 

FWC permit will be required. Thanks for considering our company in this matter and we look forward to working with you in the future.

1


	9-3-24 Agenda.pdf
	8-6-24 Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Meeting Minutes
	8-6-2024 BoCC Reg. Meeting Minutes

	8-9-24 Minutes Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Meeting Minutes
	08-09-2024 BoCC Emergency Meeting Minutes

	Law Enforcement Salary Assistance Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS Law Enforcement Salary Assistance Grant
	ME002 - Bradford County - Contract
	Section I: Definitions
	Section II: Project Overview
	Recipient and Recipient’s Sheriff Responsibilities:
	Deliverables:
	Financial Consequences and Other Requirements:

	Section III: Payments and Financial Reports
	Administration
	Award Signatures
	Florida Department of Law Enforcement
	Office of Criminal Justice Grants
	Recipient
	Bradford County Board of County Commissioners
	Appendix B: State Financial Assistance Standard Conditions
	I. PAYMENTS
	Overpayments

	II. PROJECT AND GRANT MANAGEMENT
	Personnel Changes
	Obligation of Grant Funds
	Financial Management
	Travel
	Subcontracts
	Grant Adjustments

	III. MANDATORY DISCLOSURES
	Conflict of Interest
	Violations of Criminal Law
	Reporting Potential Fraud, Waste, Abuse, and Similar Misconduct
	Civil Rights
	E-Verify
	Lobbying Prohibited
	Public Records
	Legal Authorization
	Independent Contractor, Subcontracting and Assignments
	Notice of Legal Actions
	Property
	Background Check

	V. RECORDS, AUDITS AND DATA SECURITY
	Records, Retention
	Audits
	Monitoring
	Property Management
	Financial Penalties for Failure to Take Corrective Action
	Termination
	Disputes and Appeals
	Liability




	LSF PO 24-25 Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - LSF Agreement
	Amendment100 BCBCC-PO035 070124
	POAgreement BCBCC-PO035 070124 .pdf
	This Agreement is entered into between Lutheran Services Florida, Inc., d/b/a LSF Health Systems (a Florida non-profit corporation), hereinafter referred to as the " LSF” and/or the “Managing Entity” and Bradford County Board of County Commissioners, ...
	This document provides direction and guidance for administration, implementation, and management of the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide Response Agreement (Opioid Settlement) in Bradford County.
	Services to be Provided. This scope of work is for the Contractor to continue the Community Paramedicine Program to bridge the gap between emergency medical services and community-based health care, with a specific focus on substance use disorder. The...
	Section 1. Financial Consideration
	Section 2. Program Administration
	Section 3. Documentation
	Section 4. Miscellaneous



	AK Grant App Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - 8 22 24
	AK Maint 8 22 24
	AK Qoute 8-22-24

	Mosquito Control Budget 24-25 Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Mosquito Control 24-25
	Mosquito Control Budget 24-25

	Personnel Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Personnel Policy
	Personnel Final Draft 8-20-24

	1 TDC Billboard Rental.pdf
	2 TDC Billboard Vinyl.pdf
	3 TDC RCD Giveaway.pdf
	HD Core Contract Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy
	Health Dept Core Contract 24-25

	LSE Resolution Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Extend LSE
	LSE RESOLUTION UPDATE
	Proclamation - Extend LSE

	SHIP SOM Mitola Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS  9 3 23 Mitola SOM
	Satifaction of Mortgage Mitola
	Satisfaction of Mortgage


	SHIP Rehab 2021-1 2021-2 Full Packet.pdf
	AGENDA ITEM INFO SHEET  9 24 REhab
	board of cc approval 9 24
	Purchase Assistance Loans
	Deferred Payment Loan in an Amount Not to exceed $30,000


	Meridian MAT Proposal Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Copy.pdf
	Exhibit G - SOI - Fillable - FY 24-25 Bradford.pdf
	Budget Worksheet.pdf

	AG Vehicle Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - AG New Vehicle
	Quote Form
	Bradford Extension_20240826_101740

	AIIS - Ag Extension.pdf
	AIIS - Cox Presentation.pdf
	AIIS - Code Enforcement.pdf
	CTPA Award Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - CTPA Grant
	AWARDED - BRADFORD COUNTY LETTER

	Aquatic Plant Removal Full Packet.pdf
	AIIS - Auatic Plant Quotes
	Email Aquatic Plants Quotes


	1: Meridian Behavioral Healthcare, Inc.1565 SW Williston Road Gainesville, FL 32608ME021
	2: Ashley C. Tozier, LMHCSenior Vice President, Medical ServicesEmail: ashley_tozier@mbhci.org    Phone: 352-672-0916
	3: Adult Substance Abuse Programs - Community Bridge Program.Counties that will be served by this request will include:  Bradford County.Target Population: Adults in need of Substance Use and Co-Occurring Disorders. Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) and other services in community settings.
	describe your organizations capacity to spend funds if restored: Meridian is in need of additional funds to increase access to person-centered and culturally/linguistically appropriate screening, early identification, intervention, and treatment for substance use disorders to clients in various settings to include the jail or court system, and in their Starke Clinic. Opioid Involved Overdose Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalizations increased by 16% in Bradford County from 2020-2023 with a rate of 19 visits/hopsitalizations in 2020 to 22 visits/hospitalzations in 2023, spiking to 41 in 2022. Meridian will partner with jail or court staff, medical/EMS staff (specifically the Community Paramedicine Program) and other community members in Bradford County to provide Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) and other services to individuals affected by Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) or substance use. We will provide outreach in the Bradford County Jail and have staff on site at our Bradford location for assessment, treatment planning, medication and on-going treatment. Processes and procedures have been established to immediately begin services in these areas as soon as additional funding is available.  In order to provide these expanded services, we are requesting $87,000 from Bradford County. At our service level and growth rate, we are confident that we can provide the services and earn all of these funds.
	service is being discontinued this plan should outline how the previously served population will be served after the change is made: The MAT Program in other locations is currently composed of clinicians/counselors, peer support specialists, nurses, substance use technicians and medical providers. With the additional funds and referrals from the Community Paramedicine Program, Meridian will increase its Bradford County locations staffing to include an additional Clinician/Counselor to specifically work with individuals affected by substance use. Meridian will secure fundings through LSF SOR dollars for a Peer Specialist to work in the Bradford County jail and support clients at the local clinic. And Meridian will use existing Medical staff out of our MAT clinic location in Gainesville to provide telemedicine services. All MAT staff will provide individuals with culturally-specific and linguistically appropriate services and maintain follow-up with these individuals. MAT services will be person-centered and long-term.
	etc If not but you have submitted your application please describe what stage in the process you are in: Yes, we currently have a substance abuse license that allows us to provide this level of care.
	change: Meridian has provided treatment services since 1972. Meridian is accredited by the Commission for Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF) and is licensed by the Florida Department of Children and Families, Agency for Healthcare Administration, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administration and Drug Enforcement Agency to provide residential and outpatient substance use and mental health treatment services and crisis stabilization. Meridian offers a comprehensive service array, including psychiatric services; crisis stabilization services; detoxification; Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT); medication management; integrated primary care; residential programs; day treatment/psycho-social rehabilitation; prevention programs; and outpatient services for children, youth and adults. Meridian has been providing substance use disorder services for 50 years. We have been designated as a Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic. We have been providing dedicated MAT services since 1998 for those needing medication and treatment services with opioid dependence. We are serving over 1300 clients through our Methadone, Buprenorphine and Vivitrol clinics. We provide these clients with treatment and medication utilizing experienced Certified Peer Recovery Support staff, licensed and Master’s level staff, Nurses and Physicians/Prescribers with knowledge of addiction, (three of which are Addictionologist). All Physician/Prescribers are Data Waived through the DEA. We have experience working with our local hospitals through our MRT Teams to ensure a smooth transition to our Crisis Stabilization Unit (CSU). We have partnered with EMS, UF Shands Hospital, the Women's Birthing Center, HCA Hospitals in Gainesville and Lake City to provide these Hospital Bridge services. If funded, we will continue to pattern the success of these services.  With this funding added, we will increase capacity to clients in the community in Bradford County.
	assuming an ongoing contractual relationship between the agency and LSF Health Systems Please explain this response: These changes are to be continued beyond the year-end and subsequent fiscal years, assuming an ongoing contractual relationship between Meridian, Bradford County and LSF Health Systems. Meridian is committed to continuing our current services in Bradford and continuing to expand these services to ensure individuals struggling with substance use difficulties receive the needed services.
	9: The program goals of the Community Bridge Program are as follows:1) Reduce the amount of overdoses in Bradford County.2) Increase access to substance use treatment in all Bradford County.3) Ensure ongoing access to substance use treatment/MAT services post discharge from Bradford County hospital settings, EMS/Community Paramedicine or release from jail, etc. 
	10 Define and describe the Proposed Outcome Measures for the program in which funding is being requested: Decrease in overdose deaths for individuals struggling with substance use difficulties and even more specifically Opioid Use Disorder (OUD). 
	EXHIBIT G: Increase services to OUD patients by 10% based on previous year services. Coordinate services with EMS/Community Paramedicine, County Jails or Courts, and Meridian for individuals with OUD and other substance use disorders. 
	utilize an Electronic Health Record EHR system confirm its capacity to export data as an XML file: Meridian has experience in data collection and monitoring projects through our data system. We have an established Electronic Health Record (EHR), Smartcare by Streamline and an internal system, Healthcare Artificial Intelligence (Health AI) where all clinical, outreach, prevention, medical and prescription information is entered and maintained. Each staff is trained on the EHR and is responsible for concurrent documentation as they input information in the system after services have been rendered. We have an experienced IT department that monitors the EHR and the data for Meridian. The staff are fully trained on extracting data from the EHR to ensure consistency with data collection and is responsible for overseeing the collection and compilation of data. All data collected is kept confidential. De-identified data will be shared with LSF and with our community stakeholders. Participants will be notified of data collection and ensured confidentiality through a consent form at admission.  Meridian’s EHR is robust and have the capacity to export data as an XML file.
	financial management: Monthly Financial Statements are used to monitor this at every level in the organization. Each staff working in the fiscal department must pass a Level 2 background screening, a drug test and reference checks before they are hired to work in that department. Meridian has a successful history of managing contracts and grants with state, federal, and local entities. Meridian’s history of successfully working with the Department of Children and Families and the Managing Entity Lutheran Services Florida on numerous grants and contracts is an indicator of our ability to comply with state and federal rules and regulations. Meridian can contribute strong infrastructure resources to manage the proposed project and make effective use of funds provided. Meridian’s administrative departments are structured to provide fiscal oversight (including contract management and insurance); human resources management; advancement of mission through education, advocacy and fundraising; facility management; integrated quality improvement and risk management activities; and information technology. 
	using this method If not are you willing to conduct the required screenings for compliance with the contract: Yes, Meridian currently conducts Level 2 Background Screenings for staff members using the DCF Clearinghouse.
	Date: 
	Date_2: 


